

DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND SYSTEMS BIOLOGY

## EXPLOITING ADVANCED METHODS FOR MEMBRANE PROTEIN STRUCTURE PREDICTION

THESIS SUBMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LIVERPOOL FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR IN PHILOSOPHY

> Author: Shahram Mesdaghi (ID: 962096127) Project Supervisor: Prof Daniel Rigden

> > JUNE 30, 2023

## Declaration

I confirm that I have read and understood the University's Academic Integrity Policy. I confirm that I have acted honestly, ethically and professionally in conduct leading to assessment for the programme of study.

I confirm that I have not copied material from another source nor committed plagiarism nor fabricated, falsified or embellished data when completing the attached piece of work. I confirm that I have not copied material from another source, nor colluded with any other student in the preparation and production of this work.

The material in chapter 3 is published across two papers;

- S. Mesdaghi, D. L. Murphy, F. Sánchez Rodríguez, J. J. Burgos-Mármol, and D. J. Rigden, "In silico prediction of structure and function for a large family of transmembrane proteins that includes human Tmem41b," F1000Research, vol. 9, p. 1395, Mar. 2021.
- F. Sánchez Rodríguez, S. Mesdaghi, D. L. Murphy, J. J. Burgos-Mármol, and D. J. Rigden., "ConPlot: web-based application for the visualization of protein contact maps integrated with other data," Bioinformatics, Jan. 2021.

The following outlines the contributions to each of the studies that constitute the thesis results chapter 3:

- Construction of the metagenomics custom database was carried out by D. L. Murphy;
- Rectifying registry errors in pdb file of 3org was carried out by J. J. Burgos-

Mármol using CROPS. The processed PDB files allowed ConKit and ConPlot parsing;

- Initial conceptualisation of ConPlot and integration into ConKit was carried out by S. Mesdaghi and subsequent the web application was developed by F. Sánchez Rodríguez with S. Mesdaghi writing prediction data parsers and contributing testing;
- All authors read, contributed and approved the final manuscripts.
- Professor D. J. Rigden and S. Mesdaghi were responsible for responses to the referees.

Chapter 4 was the result of a collaboration with The Francis Crick Institute. All the data presented (unless otherwise indicated) was produced by S. Mesdaghi with the Atg9 homology models being constructed by Professor D. J. Rigden and experimental analysis provided by Sharon Tooze.

The material in chapter 6 has been published as a preprint and submitted to Bioscience Reports for peer reviewed publication;

• Mesdaghi S, Murphy DL, Simpkin A, Rigden DJ. Structural Insights into Pinkeyed Dilution Protein (Oca2). bioRxiv. 2022 Dec 12.

Material included in the discussion in relation to the mining of databases for tandem repeat proteins has been included in a manuscript that has been submitted for publication; 'Deep Learning-based structure modelling illuminates structure and function in uncharted regions of  $\beta$ -solenoid fold space' (Shahram Mesdaghi, Rebecca M. Price, Jillian Madine and Daniel J. Rigden).

ChatGPT was used when making corrections (post viva) to amend the grammar, syntax, and semantics of the explanations describing Overhauser enhancement (NOE) restraints and the distinction between convoluted neural networks and deep residual neural networks (both in the introduction). Additionally, ChatGPT was used to obtain the LaTEX code for the formatting of the root mean square deviation (RMSD) equation

in section 2.2.8 (Structural alignments) of the Methods chapter.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the University of Liverpool for their fee waiver scheme as well as the COVID-19 impact bursary; completing this PhD without this funding would have proved very difficult. Further, I would like to thank the other members of the Rigden group, in particular my fellow students David L Murphy and Filo Sánchez Rodríguez for their contributions to our collaborative efforts during this project. Additionally, I would like to thank the Turing Foundation, Professor Pat Eyers, Helen Carlin, Professor Natarajan Kannan and the University of Georgia for the opportunity to exchange ideas and skills during my Turing Fellowship. I would like to thank my family who provided me with the support and space required to deal through the stresses associated with completing this PhD. Finally, I would like to give my biggest thank you to my supervisor, Professor D J Rigden, for supporting my PhD application and giving me chance to join his group; Professor Rigden's dedicated support, guidance, knowledge and encouragement has been invaluable throughout this PhD.

## Abstract

Recent strides in computational structural biology have opened up an opportunity to understand previously uncharacterised proteins. The under-representation of transmembrane proteins in the Protein Data Bank highlights the need to apply new and advanced bioinformatics methods to shed light on their structure and function. A protein's structural information is crucial to understand its function and evolution. Currently, there is only experimental structural data for a tiny fraction of proteins. For instance, membrane proteins are encoded by 30% of the protein-coding genes of the human genome, but they only have a 3.5% representation in the Protein Data Bank (PDB). Membrane protein families are particularly poorly understood due to experimental difficulties, such as over-expression, which can result in toxicity to host cells, as well as difficulty in finding a suitable membrane mimetic to reconstitute the protein. Additionally, membrane proteins are much less conserved across species compared to water-soluble proteins, making sequence-based homologue identification a challenge, and in turn rendering homology modelling of these proteins more difficult.

Until the structure of poorly characterised protein families can be elucidated experimentally, *ab initio* protein modelling can be used to predict a fold allowing for structurebased function inferences. Such methods have made significant strides recently due to the availability of contact predictions, with these methods addressing larger targets than conventional fragment-assembly-based *ab initio* methods.

This study initially focusses on the structure and function transmembrane proteins specifically in the process of autophagosome construction and demonstrates how covariance prediction data have multiple roles in modern structural bioinformatics: not just by acting as restraints for model making and serving for validation of the final models but by predicting domain boundaries and revealing the presence of cryptic internal repeats not evidenced by sequence analysis. Furthermore, we characterised a contact map feature characteristic of a re-entrant helix which may in future allow detection of this feature in other protein families.

The recent innovations in computational structural biology were employed further giving rise to an an opportunity to revise our current understanding of the structure and function of clinically important proteins. Through the modelling of the transmembrane Pfam families and subsequent mining of their structural libraries we identified the human Oca2 protein as a protein of interest. Oca2 is located on mature melanosomal membranes and mutations of Oca2 can result in a form of oculocutanous albinism which is the most prevalent and visually identifiable form of albinism. Sequence analysis predicts Oca2 to be a member of the SLC13 transporter family but it has not been classified into any existing SLC families. The modelling of Oca2 with AlphaFold2 and other advanced methods shows that, like SLC13 members, it consists of a scaffold and transport domain and displays a pseudo inverted repeat topology that includes re-entrant loops. This finding contradicts the prevailing consensus view of its topology. In addition to the scaffold and transport domains the presence of a cryptic GOLD domain is revealed that is likely responsible for its trafficking from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi prior to localisation at the melanosomes and possesses known glycosylation sites. Analysis of the putative ligand binding site of the model shows the presence of highly conserved key asparagine residues that suggest Oca2 may be a Na<sup>+</sup>/dicarboxylate symporter. Known critical pathogenic mutations map to structural features present in the repeat regions that form the transport domain. Exploiting the AlphaFold2 multimeric modelling protocol in combination with conventional homology modelling allowed the building of a plausible homodimer in both an inward- and outward-facing conformation supporting an elevator-type transport mechanism.

# Contents

Declaration					
Ac	Acknowledgements iv				
Al	ostrac	t	v		
Co	onten	ts	viii		
Li	st of ]	Figures	xii		
Li	st of '	Tables x	vii		
1	Intr	oduction	1		
	1.1	Membrane Proteins	1		
	1.2	The Function of Membrane Proteins	3		
	1.3	Challenges of Membrane Protein Structure Determination and Prediction	4		
	1.4	Secondary Structure and Transmembrane Span Prediction	8		
	1.5	Ab initio Membrane Protein Structure Prediction	9		
	1.6	Contact restraints used for Structure Prediction	12		
	1.7	Use of Deep Learning Algorithms for Membrane Protein Structure Pre-			
		diction	16		
	1.8	Exploitation of Advanced Methods	18		
2	Gen	eral Experimental Methods	19		
	2.1	Choice of Methods	19		

	2.2	Softwa	are	21
		2.2.1	Pfam Database Screening	21
		2.2.2	Contact map predictions (Metagenomic)	22
		2.2.3	Model Building	22
		2.2.4	Transmembrane Region Prediction	27
		2.2.5	Secondary Structure Prediction	27
		2.2.6	Conservation Mapping	28
		2.2.7	Visualisation of Models	28
		2.2.8	Structural Alignments	29
		2.2.9	Precision	30
		2.2.10	Other prediction data	31
3	In si	lico nre	ediction of structure and function for a large family of transmem-	
U	hran	e nrote	ins that includes human Tmem41h	32
	3.1	Introd		32
	3.2	DedA	Proteins	33
	3.3	Specifi	ic Methods	35
		3.3.1	Model building: trRosetta	35
		3.3.2	Dataset for custom re-entrant sequence database	36
		3.3.3	Dataset for custom structural re-entrant database	37
	3.4	Seque	nce Analysis	38
	3.5	Initial	Modelling	41
	3.6	Develo	opment of ConPlot	47
	3.7	Advar	ced Modelling	52
	3.8	Cluste	ring of re-entrant loops	57
	3.9	Model	Stability	62
	3.10	Alpha	Fold2 Modelling	64
	3.11	Potent	ial homology between the DedA family and ABC transporters	70
	3.12	Conclu	usions	73

4	Mod	lelling of Atg9	75
	4.1	Background	75
	4.2	Specific Methods	76
		4.2.1 Transmembrane prediction	76
		4.2.2 Homology modelling	76
		4.2.3 Screening PDB for ABC Transporters	77
	4.3	Sequence Analysis	77
	4.4	Homology Modelling	80
	4.5	5 <i>Ab initio</i> Modelling	
	4.6	Contact Map Analysis	84
	4.7	Analysis: Low Resolution CryoEM Model	87
	4.8	ABC Transporter Survey	90
	4.9	Analysis: High Resolution CryoEM Model	93
	4.10	Potential homology between the Atg9 and ABC transporters	99
	4.11	Use of Deep Learning Methods	101
	4.12	Conclusions	103
5	Re-e	ntrant loop search	106
	5.1	Introduction	106
	5.2	Specific Methods	109
		5.2.1 Building the trRosetta Transmembrane Pfam Database	109
	5.3	Re-entrant loop survey	114
	5.4	Pfam Re-entrant Screen	116
		5.4.1 Pfam Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif Screen	122
	5.5	Re-entrant/TM helix motif human AlphaFold database Screen	126
	5.6	Atg9 re-entrant AlphaFold Database Screen	129
	5.7	Conclusions	132
6	Stru	ctural Insights into Pink-eyed Dilution Protein (Oca2)	134
	6.1	Introduction	134

	6.2	Metho	ods	136
	6.3	Result	s and Discussion	137
		6.3.1	Oca2 is a member of the Ion Transporter (IT) Superfamily	137
		6.3.2	SLC13 members have a pseudo inverse repeat topology	138
		6.3.3	Oca2 has a pseudo inverse repeat topology	140
		6.3.4	Oca2 dileucine motifs responsible for melanosome localisation	
			are located on the disordered cytosolic N-terminal region	142
		6.3.5	Oca2 possesses a GOLD-like domain	144
		6.3.6	Mutations in the Oca2 putative pore region results in severe al-	
			binism	145
		6.3.7	Citrate docks at the putative binding site	147
		6.3.8	AlphaFold2 multimeric modelling protocol in combination with	
			traditional homology modelling was able to model Oca2 in al-	
			ternative conformations	150
	6.4	Conclu	usions	155
7	Disc	russion	s and Conclusions	157
-	71	Discus	scion	157
	7.1			157
	7.2	Conclu	usions	159
Re	ferer	ices		161

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Energy landscape	10
1.2	Side-chain conformations.	11
1.3	How residues separate in two-dimensions come together in three-dimension	nal
	space	13
1.4	Contact map and distogram comparison	15
1.5	Comparison of the model function building between classical (a) and	
	machine learning (b) methods	17
2.1	Comparison of contact maps constructed with (right) and without (left)	
	metagenomic sequence data.	20
3.1	6cb2 Models	36
3.2	MSA for query protein selection listed in table 3.1	39
3.3	Mt2055 domain analysis.	40
3.4	Tmem41b Contact map constructed using DeepMetaPSICOV and plot-	
	ted using Conkit.	42
3.5	MSA Sequence coverage profiles	43
3.6	Rosetta Ab initio model with Precision Profile.	44
3.7	Rosetta Membrane model structurally aligned with 5lilA	45
3.8	5lil Contact map analysis	47
3.9	Structural alignment analysis of 5lilA and model.	48
3.10	Precision profile for top RosettaMembrane model	49
3.11	Integration of new parsers into Conkit	49

3.12	Enhanced Mt2055contact map	50
3.13	Re-entrant contact map	51
3.14	DedA predicted topology	52
3.15	trRosetta Models	54
3.16	ConPlot Analysis	55
3.17	Helical wheel diagrams generated using the HELIQUEST server	56
3.18	ConSurf conservation mapping	57
3.19	Re-entrant hydrophobic profiles	58
3.20	Re-entrant angle measurements	59
3.21	3orgA Analysis	61
3.22	6cb2 Contact map	63
3.23	Annotated Yqja model	64
3.24	DeepHomo Results	65
3.25	AlphaFold2 Modelling	66
3.26	Enhanced contact map for Vmp1	68
3.27	Topology of Vmp1 derived from the AF2 model	69
3.28	Vmp1 AF2 model with ConSurf conservation mapping	70
3.29	Vmp1 AF2 model contact map	71
3.30	Comparison of topologies of Tmem41b and 3d31C	72
3.31	Annotated HHpred alignments of Tmem41b and 3d31C	72
4.1	Structural Alignments of ABC Transporter Hits	78
4.2	TMHMM Prediction for TMD of Atg9	79
4.3	Homology model for Atg9 (5w81 template)	80
4.4	Atg9 5w81 Homology Model Quality Determination	81
4.5	Homology model for Atg9 (4q4h template)	81
4.6	Atg9 4q4h homology model quality determination	82
4.7	Atg9 MSA Sequence coverage profiles	84
4.8	Ab initio modelling of Atg9	85
4.9	Atg9 ResPre TMD Contact map analysis	89

4.10	Comparison of Lai et al. low resolution interpretation with our contact
	data
4.11	Analysis of 3wme TMHMM profile. Red box highlighting 'blip' 92
4.12	3wme Predicted contact map analysis
4.13	Analysis of ABC TMHMM profiles by cross-referencing with experi-
	mental structures
4.14	Atg9 High resolution CryoEM model
4.15	Atg9 CryoEM Analysis
4.16	Atg9 CryoEM Analysis
4.17	Atg9 CryoEM Contact Analysis 98
4.18	Atg9 CryoEM comparison to 5w81
4.19	Comparison of Atg9 and 5w81 topology
4.20	Atg9 TMD DMPFold Model 1
4.21	Atg9 DMPFold Model 1 Quality Determination
4.22	Atg9 TMD DMPFold Model 2
4.23	Atg9 DMPFold Model 1 Quality Determination
4.24	Superposition of AF2 model with CryoEM Atg9 (6wqz)
5.1	An inverse pseudo repeat topology showing types of alpha-helical trans-
	membrane structure motifs
5.2	Comparison of smoothed hydrophobicity profiles for protein sequences
	of re-entrant loops and transmembrane helices
5.3	Atg9 Topology
5.4	Pfam transmembrane filtering
5.5	Structural alignment of PF11874 model with model of CL0182 member
	PF06808
5.6	SWORD output for model PF11874
5.7	Transmembrane Pfam structural library construction
5.8	Comparison of Z-score distribution for members of the largest cluster
	for 0.25 and 0.2 attraction values

5.9	Comparison of trRosetta and AlphaFold2
5.10	Comparison of trRosetta and AlphaFold Structural alignment distribu-
	tions
5.11	Z-score distribution visualisations for the 16 largest clusters possessing
	Pfam domains outside of the dominant Pfam clan
5.12	Structural alignment for Cluster 8 members
5.13	Structural alignment between PF10136 and 3DTS
5.14	Re-entrant/TM helix motif
5.15	Structural alignment between PF00654 (CLC) and 3ORG re-entrant/TM
	helix structural motif
5.16	Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif hits for PF09335 and PF06695 $\ldots$ 124
5.17	Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif structural alignments with PF13194
	and PF10852
5.18	False positive hits
5.19	4xrm comparison with 6cb2 re-entrant/TM helix structural motif 127
5.20	Other false positive hits
5.21	Query DedA re-entrant loop/TM helix motif self hits
5.22	Atg9 re-entrant isolated loop from CryoEM model with membrane planes130
5.23	Human SCL44A2 AlphaFold2 model with Magenta highlighting Atg9
	re-entrant alignment region
6.1	NaCT topology
6.2	AlphaFold2 Oca2 model
6.3	Oca2 Possible Salt Bridges
6.4	Oca2 Topology
6.5	Oca2 Mutation Sites
6.6	Oca2 Electrostatics
6.7	Webina Oca2 docking of citrate
6.8	Elevator Mechanism
6.9	Alternative Conformations

6.10	Alternative Dimer Conformations	154
6.11	Homodimer interface Pi-Pi interaction	155

# List of Tables

3.1	HHpred results for Tmem41b and homologues demonstrate homology
	between Pfam families PF09335 and PF06695
3.2	Predicted number of TM regions for PF09335/PF06695 homologs 41
3.3	DALI PDB hits with top model from first round of RosettaMembrane
	modelling
4.1	ECOD ABC Comparison
4.2	ECOD classification comparison of the ABC transporter MapAlign hits . 86
5.1	Cluster composition of the 20 largest clusters (based on Z-score) of the
	model library entries
5.2	Dali hits for 3org re-entrant loop/TM helix structural motif
5.3	Dali results for structural screen of the Atg9 Re-entrant loop (Z-scores
	above 4.0)
6.1	HHpred results for screen of Oca2 sequence against Pfam
6.2	HHpred results for screen of Oca2 sequence against PDB
6.3	Dali results for structural screen of Oca2 against PDB
6.4	Dali results for structural screen of Oca2 against Human AlphaFold
	database
6.5	Dali results for structural screen of beta sandwich region against PDB 145
6.6	Z-scores, angles and quality scores for the Oca2 models

## 1 | Introduction

It is now the fiftieth anniversary since the link between the protein amino acid sequence and its three-dimensional structure was celebrated [1] by the awarding of a Nobel prize to Anfinsen in 1972 for this important observation [2]. Anfinsen showed that if a protein is heated it will unravel and fold back to its original state when cooled, demonstrating that a protein's native structure is determined by the properties of the amino acids that it is composed of, rather than the folding being carried out by intracellular machinery. This insight means that theoretically, a protein's structure can be predicted based on its amino acid sequence. Until the structure of poorly characterised protein families can be elucidated experimentally, *ab initio* protein modelling using sequence only can be used to predict a fold allowing for structure-based function inferences [3, 4, 5, 6]. 1994 began the biannual CASP (Critical Assessment of Structure Prediction) challenge [7] with the objective to advance the computational methods of predicting protein structure from sequence. I have had the fortunate opportunity to be an assessor on the fourteenth and fifteenth CASP competitions [8]. This PhD thesis focuses on the prediction of specific putative membrane transporter proteins utilising computational approaches to build models and predict their function based on the *ab initio* structure.

### **1.1** Membrane Proteins

Lipid membranes form barriers around cells and membrane bound organelles. These barriers have a thickness of around 35Å and are important for the regulation of

molecular traffic across their surface. The cell membrane's major constituents are amphipathic lipids in the form of phospholipids, glycolipids, and sterols. Additionally, biological membranes possess carbohydrates (mostly glycoproteins) and a large content of proteins. The carbohydrates play an important role in intracellular recognition especially in eukaryotes while membrane proteins have a very diverse array of functions.

Membrane proteins are of considerable medical importance as 30% of the human genome encodes for membrane proteins [9] and around 50% of drugs currently on the market target these proteins [10]. Membrane proteins can be grouped according to whether they are a permanent fixture of the cell membrane (integral membrane proteins - IMPs) or whether they transiently interact with the cell membrane (peripheral membrane proteins - PMPs). The temporary association of PMPs with the plasma membrane, either with the lipid bilayer (amphitropic proteins) or an IMP, define this class of membrane proteins. Some proteins such as G-proteins and certain kinases are able interact with both the membrane and a IMP simultaneously [11]. The association of PMPs with the cell membrane components is a result of non-covalent hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions and therefore dissociate from the membrane in the presence polar reagents. This transient association with the membrane is important for a variety of cellular processes including cell signalling regulation [12], protein-protein interactions [13] and protein activation through conformational changes [14].

IMPs on the other hand are permanent fixtures of the cell membrane and are either transmembrane proteins (TMPs) or integral monotopic proteins. TMPs take the form of an  $\alpha$ -helical structure (or sometimes a  $\beta$ -barrel in Gram-negative bacteria, chloroplast and mitochondria [15]) and cross the full length of the lipid bilayer once (bitopic membrane protein) or multiple times (polytopic transmembrane proteins). This is in contrast to integral monotopic membrane proteins (or peripheral membrane proteins) which are fixed to one side of the membrane only [16]. As TMPs are very hydrophobic, the residues that cross the membrane forming the membrane spanning

segments are mostly hydrophobic and therefore these proteins precipitate in water and it is necessary to use nonpolar solvents or detergents in order to carry out their isolation. Transmembrane regions are more likely to possess secondary structure as the polar backbone carbonyls and amide of the residues form intramolecular hydrogen bonds in a hydrophobic environment thus creating secondary structure. The dielectric environment caused by the polar heads of the phospholipids at the membrane interface region is more likely to hold aromatic residues like tyrosine and tryptophan in addition to the presence of amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helices [17].

### **1.2** The Function of Membrane Proteins

Membrane proteins carry out a wide range of essential functions: transport, junctions, enzymes, receptors, signalling (including cell-cell recognition) and anchoring (to the cytoskeleton and extracellular matrix). The largest family of membrane proteins are the G-protein coupled receptors (which are also the largest family of proteins) and membrane transporter proteins [18]. The research described in this thesis focuses on the modelling of three distinct integral membrane proteins that are involved in transport.

Membrane transport proteins control the movements of specific molecules across the cell membrane. Membrane transport proteins are divided into two major groups; channels and transporters. Channels create an aqueous pore through the membrane bilayer that allow substances to cross the membrane passively down an electrochemical or chemical gradient [19]. Sometimes the pore is gated and will only open to allow this diffusional process to occur under certain conditions regulating the traffic through the pore. Transporters on the other hand move specific molecules against their concentration gradients by binding to the substrate and undergoing a series of conformational changes releasing the substrate on the opposite side of the membrane. The movement of the substrate by a transporter is an active process. The conformational cycle a transporter undergoes is coupled with ATP hydrolysis or

tethered to the presence of ion gradients. Both sides of the transporter possess a gate that restricts access to the substrate binding site when closed with the alternate confirmations ensuring that only one gate is open at any particular time. The distinction between channels and transporters is not always clear [20] however. For example, CLC (Chloride Channel) proteins are a family of membrane transport proteins that mediate the chloride conductance across the cell membrane and were once thought to be exclusively channels. It is now known that this family also contain transporters that are driven by a proton current in the opposite direction of the flow of chloride ions (proton antiporter). Indeed, five out of the nine human CLC proteins utilise the antiporter transporter mechanism [21]. Additionally, palytoxin reversibly converts the ATP hydrolysis coupled Na<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase pump into a non-selective cation channel by rendering both gates to the open position [22].

## **1.3 Challenges of Membrane Protein Structure Determi**nation and Prediction

A protein's structural information is crucial to understand its function and evolution. Currently, there is only experimental structural data for a tiny fraction of proteins [23]. For instance, membrane proteins are encoded by 30% of the protein-coding genes of the human genome [24], but they only have a 3.3% [9] representation in the Protein Data Bank (PDB) (5785 membrane proteins out of 174507 PDB entries) [9]. Membrane protein families are particularly poorly understood due to experimental difficulties, such as over-expression, which can result in toxicity to host cells [25], as well as difficulty in finding a suitable membrane mimetic to reconstitute the protein to allow expression of the native structure. Membrane proteins are more structured compared to their soluble counterparts as the membrane imposes restraints on the protein [26] and this leads to experimental difficulties as membrane mimetics have to be used in order to allow the protein to fold properly. Membrane mimetics can take the form detergents of lipid. Detergents possess a single fatty acid chain and form a

micelle around the protein which can result in distortions in the protein structure. Lipids form bicelles around proteins resulting in less chance of protein distortion. Lipids in the form of nanodiscs can also be used where lipid bilayer is contained by amphipathic molecules such as synthetic polymers or peptides [27]. A nanodisc is a nanoscale model system. It is a self-assembled lipid bilayer disc stabilized by a belt of membrane scaffold proteins (MSPs). Nanodiscs provide a more native-like environment for studying membrane proteins compared to traditional detergent micelles or liposomes. The structure of a nanodisc typically consists of a lipid bilayer surrounded by two copies of an amphipathic membrane scaffold protein (MSP) that forms a belt around the rim of the bilayer. The MSPs stabilise the nanodisc by shielding the hydrophobic lipid tails from the surrounding aqueous environment. Nanodiscs can be reconstituted with specific membrane proteins, allowing their study in a more physiologically relevant lipid environment. The lipid composition of the nanodisc can be customised to mimic the native membrane composition or to modulate the properties of the membrane protein being studied. The method of protein structure determination as well as the properties of the protein itself will determine the membrane mimetic to utilise. Often a screening process is required to identify the most suitable mimetic [28].

Crystallisation is difficult and may need extensive protein engineering for example insertion of protein FAB (Fragment Antigen-Binding) fragments to allow crystallisation . The removal of long flexible loops may also be required [29]. Another experimental technique for determining protein structure is NMR (Nuclear Magnetic Resonance). NMR spectroscopy relies on the principles of nuclear magnetic resonance, which involves the interaction between the magnetic properties of atomic nuclei and an external magnetic field. Further to the difficulties of crystallisation, NMR is difficult as there is a size limit due to protein-detergent tumbling time (rate at which the protein moves). Also, compared to soluble proteins, it is difficult to assign the NMR spectrum to obtain the restraints for the structural data of membrane proteins and calculate their structure. NMR relies on nuclear Overhauser

enhancement (NOE) restraints that can only be measured at a 5Å threshold which is satisfactory for intrahelical restraints but makes contacts between two helices problematic and therefore fold determination difficult. NOE restraints are derived from the observation of dipolar interactions between pairs of nuclei in close proximity. These interactions provide valuable distance information that helps in calculating the three-dimensional structure of a protein. However, the efficiency of the NOE effect diminishes as the distance between the interacting nuclei increases. The maximum distance at which NOE interactions can be reliably detected in NMR experiments is typically around 5 Å. When it comes to interhelical contacts, the distance between the nuclei involved in the NOE restraints can be larger than the 5 Å threshold. Helices within a protein often have specific packing arrangements, and determining the precise contacts between them is crucial for accurately determining the protein's overall fold. However, the limited detection range of NOEs makes it challenging to obtain direct distance restraints for interhelical contacts [30]. The problem can be overcome by identifying side chain assignments in the spectra to measure the restraints but this is also very difficult. This is the explanation as to why there are more  $\beta$ -barrel NMR structures compared to  $\alpha$ -helical as it is much easier to determine the restraints between the strands as they are within the 5Å threshold [31].

Additionally, membrane proteins are much less conserved across species compared to water-soluble proteins [32], making sequence-based homologue identification a challenge, and in turn rendering homology modelling of these proteins more difficult. Sequence similarity and how well the sequences are aligned is positively correlated with homology model accuracy where a similarity of 70% yields models with RMSDs (Root Mean Square Deviation) under 3Å and RMSDs typically above 3Å for templates with sequence similarities of 25% [33]. Homology modelling software such as MODELLER [34] takes the alignment and the template to construct a model based of the template by satisfying its spatial constraints obtained from the alignment. It has been demonstrated that given a high quality alignment

and appropriate template MODELLER can construct accurate membrane protein structures [35]. For proteins of sequence similarity of less than 25% threading tools can be used to obtain models. Threading relies on a multiple sequence alignment of templates which is scored against a knowledge based scoring function including residue pairing. iTASSER, in conjunction with contact predictions, has been shown to using threading methods to model G-protein coupled receptor membrane proteins and achieve RMSDs of 3Å [36].

Molecular dynamics simulations have also been used to fold proteins. Molecular dynamics (MD) is a computational simulation method used to study the motion and behavior of atoms and molecules over time. In MD, the positions, velocities, and forces of atoms or particles are numerically integrated to simulate their dynamic behaviour. The simulations are based on classical mechanics and use interatomic or intermolecular potential energy functions to describe the forces and interactions between particles [37]. One of the early successful attempts of protein folding using MD was demonstrated with acylCoA Dehydragenase where a 30ms simulation folded the 80 residue soluble protein [38, 39]. Early endeavours to simulate the folding of membrane proteins in a lipid bilayer were fraught with difficulties. The complex bilayer environment resulted in multi-spanning transmembrane proteins becoming snared in incorrect folds. The molecular dynamic simulations are very computationally expensive with the number of atomic interactions becoming huge with larger membrane proteins.

Finally, *ab initio* computational methods for predicting membrane proteins structure is an alternative route to elucidate the structure and function of uncharacterised membrane proteins. Theoretically, as a result of their smaller conformational search space due to the restraints imposed by the membrane, membrane proteins have an advantage for computational methods of prediction, although the size of membrane proteins are generally larger than their soluble counterparts. Older computational prediction methods such as Rosetta [33] struggled with deriving accurate scoring functions as well as molecular force field parameters

[40].

# 1.4 Secondary Structure and Transmembrane Span Prediction

Transmembrane region prediction is an important process in the structural characterisation of a membrane protein molecule; both experimentally and computationally. The presence of hydrophobic patterns in the transmembrane regions of TMPs is used by transmembrane topology prediction software to anticipate the relative positions of transmembrane regions within a given membrane protein sequence [41]. Early transmembrane span prediction software used hydrophobicity values from a moving window average and were able to achieve 70% accuracy [42]. Various hydrophobicity scales could be utilised which were derived from experimental and predictive methods [42]. The accuracy to above 90% was achieved with the introduction of Hidden Markov Models (HMMs), for example TMHMM [41], and OCTOPUS which used machine learning to make residue level predictions and HMMs to consolidate the predictions into a global model. OCTOPUS is also trained to predict the presence of re-entrant loops and transmembrane hairpins [43]. With different prediction tools utilising individual algorithms there can be disagreements with the topology predictions and this has given rise to some tools using a consensus method in an attempt to overcome this [44].

The above methods are for the exclusive prediction of transmembrane  $\alpha$ -helical bundles and obviously cannot identify the presence of  $\beta$ -barrels. Accurate methods to make  $\beta$ -barrel predictions utilise both HMMs and machine learning algorithms. TMbeta-Net [45] takes the artificial neural network approach while TMBHMM [46] uses HMMs.

Additionally, bioinformatic software is available that predicts the orientation of transmembrane protein models within the membrane bilayer. The predicted

placement of transmembrane protein models within a cell membrane model is not a straightforward task as the membrane possesses uneven polarity gradients as well as a varying molecular organisation. Both PDBTM [47] and OPM [48] utilises an algorithm to place proteins structures within membrane boundaries. Their algorithms minimise the protein's normalised non-polar accessible surface area transfer energy from water to a hydrophobic region acting as an approximation to a cell membrane [47, 48].

In addition to protein transmembrane span prediction, methods were developed to predict protein secondary structure. The first tools to predict protein secondary structure correlated secondary structure states with single residue statistics, however, their accuracy was not much better than random [49]. Subsequently tools were developed that obtained data from larger regions rather than single residues and higher accuracies being obtained when artificial intelligence algorithms (specifically machine learning algorithms) were introduced. PsiPred, being the most accurate and widely used, utilises a multi layered artificial neural network that takes a position specific scoring matrix to make an initial secondary structure prediction with subsequent layers filtering noise [50].

### 1.5 Ab initio Membrane Protein Structure Prediction

Proteins function by folding into a native structure [33]. The native structure of proteins are likely to possess the lowest global energy state for a given protein sequence [33]. For most protein sequence there is an energy landscape determined by the many different possible confirmations a protein can adopt. The native state is the lowest energy state (Figure 1.1).

To model all proteins coded by the human genome would require identifying the lowest energy structure for each of the fixed amino acids sequences for the 20 000 different proteins [51]. The protein folding research problem has been challenging for a number of reasons. Firstly, a polypeptide chain can have a large number of



Figure 1.1: Energy landscape.

different conformations; for each side chain in an amino acid in a protein there are a number of rotatable bonds with each amino acid having three different conformations leading to  $3^{Nres}$  (Nres being the number of residues) possible conformations of every protein (Figure 1.2). Although the omega bond (peptide bond between the carbonyl carbon (C=O) of one amino acid and the nitrogen (N-H) of the adjacent amino acid in the peptide chain) is different as it is not really rotatable and results in the cis and trans forms [52].

Calculating the energy profile of a target protein was traditionally performed by searching through possible polypeptide chain conformations for a fixed sequence in an analogous way to how a protein naturally folds. For example Rosetta [33] simulates the actual process of folding to find the lowest energy structure rather than sampling all possible conformations. The Rosetta folding takes place many times



Figure 1.2: Side-chain conformations.

constructing 'decoys' to build an energy landscape to identify the lowest energy structure and therefore the most native-like structures. The folding algorithm utilises the fact that in some organisms separate genes encode interacting proteins, whereas in other organisms, their orthologues take the form of a single polypeptide chain [53]. Therefore the structure of the protein can be viewed as a number of fragments that interact with specific kinetic and thermodynamic constraints. During the *ab initio* folding process a Monte-Carlo search assembles these fragments with each assembly being scored based on a knowledge-based scoring function derived from the kinetic and thermodynamic constraints. The model needs to capture detailed interactions between atoms therefore terms in the physics-based energy functions use mathematical means of modeling molecular interactions which need to favour:

- close atomic packing (Lennard-Jones Potential [54]);
- implicit solvation penalising buried polar atoms away from water;
- favour the formation of hydrogen bond interactions between polar atoms;
- model electrostatic interactions with the favourability of positive and negative charges to be close;
- model bending/torsional preferences of the polypeptide chain.

The calculation of an energy estimate or scoring function also takes the form of a knowledge-based function where statistical models define the properties of the native-like conformation.

The method described greatly reduces the conformational search space. However, additional strategies have also been employed to further reduce this search space. Specifically for membrane proteins the Rosetta method was modified into a specific flavour, RosettaMembrane, where the energy function was modified to include terms that describe the interaction between target protein and the environment consisting of the anisotropic membrane. The membrane is modelled implicitly with the energy terms including the scoring function that penalises non-helical torsion angles and non-spanning transmembrane helices within the membrane [55].

#### **1.6** Contact restraints used for Structure Prediction

Contact-based modelling methods can address larger targets than conventional fragment-assembly-based *ab initio* methods [56]. Contact-based modelling methods have been proven successful previously in modelling membrane proteins [57]. Contact based restraints are determined by the introduction of co-variance data which supplies the additional restraints for the model building process by inferring residue-residue contacts. The utilisation of contact predictions allows the generation of accurate *ab initio* models by guiding the folding process [58]. This method led to the computational protein structure prediction for larger targets compared to what a

solely fragment-assembly-based *ab initio* methods could construct [56]. Additionally, contact-assisted *ab initio* modelling disposed of the need for membrane specialised folding methods like RosettaMembrane as these modelling methods have been proven successful previously in modelling membrane proteins [57, 59]. *ab initio* methods made significant strides when contact predictions were made available as modelling restraints [60]. The definition of a contact is when the  $C\beta$ 's ( $C\alpha$  in glycine) of two residues in three dimensional space are less than 8Å apart. For modelling purposes these binary contacts can be converted to distances, derived from experimental data, imposing further restraints on the modelling process [61]. Prediction of residue-residue contacts relies on the fact that each pair of contacting residues co-varies during evolution. The process of co-variation occurs as the properties of the two residues complement each other in order to maintain structural integrity of that local region and, consequently, its original functionality (Figure 1.3). Therefore, if one residue from the pair is replaced, the other must also change to compensate the variation and hence preserve the original structure [62].



Figure 1.3: How residues separate in two-dimensions come together in threedimensional space.

Interacting residues in a 3D structure compared to positions in a MSA displaying a co-evolving relationship. Adapted from [63]. Co-evolutionary analysis used to infer contacts between amino acids in a protein by analysing the patterns of correlated mutations across a set of related protein sequences. a) The underlying assumption is that amino acids in close proximity within the protein structure tend to co-evolve due to their functional or structural interactions. b) Sequence Alignment: A multiple sequence alignment (MSA) is generated, which represents the amino acid sequences of related proteins. The MSA provides a basis for identifying patterns of conservation and variation across the protein family. c) based on the identified pairs of co-evolving positions, contact predictions are made, suggesting that these positions are likely in physical proximity within the protein structure. d) The inferred contacts can be visualised as a contact map or used to guide the modeling of the protein's three-dimensional structure.

Initially contact prediction accuracy was limited due to transitive correlations where indirect covariation leads to a false positive contact generating noise in the prediction. However, algorithms were developed where the link between two residues can be then reliably be detected in multiple sequence alignments. Methods included using a maximum entropy approach like direct coupling analysis (DCA) [64] or building a precision matrix (inverse co-variance matrix) like in contact prediction software PSICOV [65]. Early success with contact-assisted ab initio modelling of membrane proteins was made with EVfold and made use of the DCA approach in conjuction with Crystallography and NMR System (CNS) [66]. The use of contacts in this case led to substantial improvements in model accuracy for membrane proteins up to 360 residues in length and achieving RMSDs below 5Å [57]. Additionally, machine learning algorithms were developed to predict contacts [67] which was first observed in CONSIP2 [68] where evolutionary conservation was coupled with a traditional neural network with a sliding window approach. Later more advanced methods like RaptorX [69] utilised a deep learning convoluted neural network (CNN). CNNs are specifically designed to automatically extract hierarchical representations of input data by utilising convolutional layers, pooling layers, and fully connected layers [70]. The latest methods such as TripletRes [71] exploit deep residual neural networks. Deep residual neural networks (ResNets) are a type of deep learning architecture that address the challenges of training very deep neural networks [72]. Traditional deep neural networks suffer from the problem of vanishing gradients (where gradients are the rate of change of a function), where the gradients become very small as they propagate through many layers, leading to difficulties in training. ResNets alleviate this problem by skipping one or more layers, allowing the gradients to flow directly to the earlier layers during the training process [72].

The predicted contacts can also be used for a range of analyses such as the identification of domain boundaries by analysing contact density profiles [63, 73] and as a quality measure for *ab initio* models [74]. Contacts can also be plotted into a

two-dimensional contact map [63] and be supplemented with other data, such as secondary structure prediction, for annotation [75].

Recent advances in contact predictions have meant more information can be extracted from MSAs allowing the prediction of residue distances rather than binary contacts. The resultant distogram reveals more specific information in regard to predicted distances between residues in a target protein (Figure 1.4). The prediction of inter-residue distances has dramatically improved the accuracy of *ab initio* modelling by imposing more restraints for the folding process [76]. Initial attempts to go beyond binary contact prediction and predict residue distances was difficult. Methods were developed that attempted the use of regression to infer residue distances as they are real value features and therefore intuitive. Advances were made in distance predictions when the problem was tackled as a classification problem and rather than inferring distances in Å a set of bins for discrete distance values works much better with accuracy on par with contact predictions [77].



Figure 1.4: Contact map and distogram comparison Contacts are coloured black in the contact map; in a distogram each inter-residue pain is coloured based on a spectrum relating to the predicted distance of each specific pair of residues (in this case white to black)

# 1.7 Use of Deep Learning Algorithms for Membrane Protein Structure Prediction

Classical protein structure prediction aimed, given a sequence, to search for the three-dimensional fold that dominates the partition function (statistical likelihood) and has the lowest free energy, making it the state most observed in nature. The prediction of protein structure therefore possessed the twin core challenges of conformation search, ruled by Levanthal's paradox (identifying a protein's native fold by searching randomly takes an enormous amount of time yet a protein folds in seconds), and the scoring challenge, adhering to Anfinsen's dogma (the three-dimensional fold is determined by the amino acid sequence). The well established fragment assembly *ab initio* approaches described in the previous section build protein models by utilising a function that models the postulates and theory derived from experimental data. The fragment assembly methods, however, consume a high amount of computing resources and have the drawback of requiring native-like fragments being available. These methods, even with the inclusion of contact derived restraints, were only able to output reliable models for a tiny fraction of the protein universe and were especially poor for those with contact dense topologies [26]. Converting the contact information into predicted distance geometry constraints, similar to what is performed in NMR structure determination, is computationally cheaper and has been shown to produce models that are closer to their native state [78]. Recently, methods such as AlphaFold, AlphaFold2 and RosettaFold have developed machine learning algorithms that predict distances which are used to generate accurate models by generating minimised free energy surface along the molecular coordinates (family-specific potentials of mean force). The machine learning methods, or deep learning if the number of neural network layers are greater than six, construct a function to build a model by extracting features from an input data set and linking these to labels of the output data set. Training the program involves it going back and forth in an automated fashion,

taking the outputs and comparing to the inputs until a link between output and input is established. This is similar to the classical approach where experimental data was used to construct functions that make predictions, and if the prediction were not accurate more data is gathered to refine the rules of the function; a very laborious and time consuming process. With machine learning the function is built much more quickly with the experimental data not being used explicitly but inferred through the learning that has taken place by linking the input features of models in the PDB (sequence) to the labels of the output structures (for example inter residue distances, main chain hydrogen bond network and torsion angles)(Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5: Comparison of the model function building between classical (a) and machine learning (b) methods

The deep learning methods such as AlphaFold [79], DMPfold [77] and trRosetta [80] build predicted protein structures by predicting inter residue distances, main chain hydrogen bond network and torsion angles. Benchmarking these methods has demonstrated that they work just as well for membrane proteins as they do for soluble proteins [77, 81]. DMPfold was shown to be able to model 26 of the 28 transmembrane proteins with a TM-score of at least 0.5 to the native structure and a mean TM-score of 0.74 [77]. The accuracy of AlphaFold2 transmembrane protein modeling has been tested by exploring the construction of structures from the ABC protein superfamily. For these transmembrane proteins AlphaFold2 performed exceedingly well when testing template-free structure prediction as well as attempting a new ABC fold, dimer modeling, and stability in molecular dynamics simulations [81].

### **1.8 Exploitation of Advanced Methods**

This thesis details the utilisation of the methods described to build models of three intracellular organelle residing integral membrane proteins. Unusual structural features are predicted during the investigation and subsequently methods for screening membrane proteins possessing these features were implemented. The work carried out during this PhD intersects with the unexpected acceleration in the field of protein structure prediction initiated in CASP13 with the release of AlphaFold [79]. The release of the accurate deep learning protein structural prediction methods half way through the PhD gave the opportunity to modify research plans in order to take advantage of these fast and accurate methods. For example, in Chapter 3, a topology was mapped for the protein Tmem41b using contact map analysis; with the release of DMPfold, an accurate three dimensional model could be constructed which displayed the re-entrant loops that fragment assembly methods could not build. Furthermore, the release of the AlphaFold database [82] enabled a library of trRosetta models to be enriched with the more accurate AlphaFold equivalents; this enabled us to search for specific structural motifs within a library of high quality models that had no experimental structures (Chapter 5). The field of protein structure is currently moving at a very fast pace and I feel privileged to have been in this field, as a researcher utilising these bioinformatic methods as well as my role as a CASP assessor in CASP14, at this very important juncture.
## 2 | General Experimental Methods

## 2.1 Choice of Methods

Initial methods utilised contact assisted (converted to distance restraints) fragment assembly modelling tools, both general and membrane specific protocols, to perform membrane protein structure prediction; Rosetta *ab initio* and RosettaMembrane. As the PhD progressed, deep learning methods became available and these were exploited to generate more accurate predicted structures; first DMPfold then trRosetta followed by AlphaFold2 (prior to the release of AlphaFold2 AlphaFold models from the AlphaFold database were used).

Accurate contact predictions were required to guide the fragment assembly modelling process and distance predictions were required for modelling using the deep learning methods. In order to obtain as accurate contact and distance predictions as possible, multiple sequence alignments were required not only to be as deep as possible but also sequences need to be as diverse as possible with both the magnitude of depth and diversity being related to the length of the query protein sequence [83]. The function relating these three variable is known as the Number of Effective Sequences (Neff) and is the ratio of number of sequence clusters at an 80% sequence identity clustering threshold to the square root of the protein length [83]. Neff has been shown to positively correlate with contact prediction and model accuracy [84]. Attempts were made to increase Neff values of MSAs by generating them using metagenomic sequence databases. When implemented, the Neff does

indeed increase, however, in some cases the contact prediction derived from a metagenomic database contained less detail compared to solely using Uniprot i.e signals for some contacts were completely lost (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Comparison of contact maps constructed with (right) and without (left) metagenomic sequence data.

Contact were derived using DeepMetaPsicov with the representative sequence for the Pfam domain PF07639.

Additionally, the use of a metagenomic database made it difficult to maintain annotations as they lack reliable source organism information therefore making the use of phylogeny to link structure to function more difficult. Therefore any use of metagenomics was considered carefully before implementation.

Results chapters 3 and 4 describe the structure-function investigation into two different autophagy proteins. Chapter 5 describes the search for specific structural motifs from a number of structural databases. Methods utilised that were common to more than one chapter are described here with chapter specific methods detailed in the relevant chapter.

Local installations and runs were made on a Ubuntu 18.04.6 workstation AMD Ryzen Threadripper 2990WX 32 Core CPU (3.0GHz, 80MB CACHE). 64GB Corsair VENGEANCE DDR4 2933MHz (8 x 8GB) was installed. GPU acceleration was not used for the earlier model building and the graphic card installed was a PNY QUADRO P620 - 2GB GDDR5, 512 CUDA Cores - 4 x mDP. The required databases were located over two 4TB SEAGATE BARRACUDA SATA-III 3.5" HDD, 6GB/s, 5400RPM, 256MB CACHE.

Model building for the Oca2 protein utilised a local instalation of ColabFold and exploited GPU acceleration via the ASUS TUF GeForce RTX 3080 OC LHR 12GB GDDR6X Ray-Tracing Graphics Card, 8960 Core, 1815MHz Boost.

## 2.2 Software

## 2.2.1 Pfam Database Screening

In order to screen the Pfam database with query sequences the HMM-HMM comparison tool, HHpred [85] (Homology detection and structure prediction by HMM-HMM comparison) was used. HHpred utilises Hidden Markov Models (HMMs) and compares a query protein sequence against a database of profile Hidden Markov Models. HHpred generates a profile Hidden Markov Model from the query sequence. This profile HMM captures the statistical properties and patterns of the query sequence. HHpred searches a database of profile HMMs, such as the Pfam. It compares the profile HMM of the query sequence against the profile HMMs in the database. HHpred performs a sequence-sequence alignment between the query sequence and the database sequences that show significant similarity based on the profile HMM comparison. HHpred then calculates consensus alignments and generates alignment scores, such as the E-value (expectation value - is a statistical measure that estimates the number of false positives expected to be found by chance in a database search; the lower the more significant) and probability score, to assess the significance of the matches. These scores indicate the likelihood of homology and similarity between the query sequence and the matched protein structures. Typical threshold values for probability in HHpred range from 90% to 95%, meaning that only matches with a probability above the specified threshold are considered

significant. The threshold for the E-value is typically set to a small value, such as 0.01 or 0.05, implying that only matches with E-values below the threshold are considered significant.

Sequence based searches against the PDB and Pfam-A\_v32.0 databases used the locally installed HHPred v3.0 [86] with default parameters and eight iterations for MSA generation in the HHblits [87] stage;

```
hhblits -p 20 -Z 10000 -loc -z 1 -b 1 -B 10000 -ssm 2 -sc 1 -seq 1
    -dbstrlen 10000 -norealign -maxres 32000 -contxt /path/to/
    context\_data.crf
```

## 2.2.2 Contact map predictions (Metagenomic)

The MSAs were generated using Jackhmmer v3.3 [88], default parameters with five iterations against a custom metagenomic database. The metagenomic database was a concatenation of: EupathDB [89], Uniref100 [90], the Marine Eukaryotic Reference Catalogue (MERC) [91], the Soil Reference Catalogue (SRC) [91], MGnify [92]. Local installations of DeepMetapsicov v1.0 [93] and ResPre [94] were used to generate contact predictions with ConKit v0.12 [95] utilised to visualise the contact maps. ConPlot was used to overlay additional prediction data [75].

## 2.2.3 Model Building

#### Model building: Rosetta Ab initio

Rosetta version 3.10 suite [96] was used for the initial Rosetta model building. Rosetta uses the distribution of local structures in related sequences of solved structures to approximate structures of fragments in the query protein. These short structures are then assembled via a Monte Carlo search with a scoring function based on conformational statistics; Rosetta energy function. The Rosetta energy function is derived from statistical analysis of known protein structures and incorporates various terms to estimate the energy associated with different aspects of protein conformation, such as bond lengths, angles, and non-bonded interactions [33].

The Rosetta flag file contains the paths for the fasta sequence, the PsiPred [97] secondary structure prediction, 3mer/9mer fragments, and the restraint files.

Fragments for the Rosseta *ab initio* model building were generated using the local installation of Rosetta Fragment Picker:

```
/path/to/fragment_picker.linuxgccrelease @best-frags.flags -in::
file::vall /path/to/vall.apr24.2008.extended.gz
```

Restraint files were generated using python scripts available with the Rosetta distribution; 'create\_evfold\_contact\_map.py' converts contact data (in EVfold [61]) to a compatible format that is acceptable c to 'extract\_top\_cm\_restraints.py' [61] to create a '.cst' file. The '.cst' file lists predicted distances generated from the contact data that is used by Rosetta to read and implement the restraints.

/path/to/AbinitioRelax.linuxgccrelease @/flags\_tmem41b

#### Model building: RosettaMembrane

The RosettaMembrane protocol [98] uses, in addition to the fasta sequence, PsiPred secondary structure prediction [97], 3er/9er fragments, and the restraint files, a membrane topology prediction file. An OCTOPUS [99] prediction file is processed using the 'octopus2span.pl' Perl script. The output file is then further processed into a format acceptable to RosettaMembrane using the 'run\_lips.pl' script;

```
/path/to/run_lips.pl ../tmem41b.fasta ./tmem41b.span /path/to/
blastpgp /db_blast/nr /path/to/alignblast.pl
```

The script did have to be modified due to it attempting to run a CGI script (lips.txt) that was no longer available remotely; the url is not run as a CGI (Common Gateway Interface) script, it was just where the script could be downloaded from. A CGI script allows interaction between a web server and other software applications, enabling dynamic content generation and processing of user requests. CGI scripts are commonly used to perform tasks such as processing form data and interacting with databases. When a user submits a request to a web server, the server can execute a CGI script to process the request and generate a response. The CGI script can receive input parameters from the user's request, perform necessary computations or operations, and generate an output. In this case as the CGI script was no longer available the script was run locally by downloading

(http://tanto.bioe.uic.edu/lips/lips.txt), made executable and the run\_lips.pl was made to point at the local script rather than the url by modifying line 132 in order to execute the local version of the script;

\$data='curl -s \$url -d sequence='\$sequences' -d num=\$first\_num';

```
to
$data='/rosetta/lips.txt -d sequence='$sequences' -d num=
$first_num';
```

The RosettaMembrane is then executed with the appropriate flag file;

/path/to	/membrane_	_abinitio2	.linuxgccrelease	0	./flags	_membrane.	.txt
----------	------------	------------	------------------	---	---------	------------	------

#### **Clustering of Rosetta Decoys**

SPICKER [100] (SPatial Clustering with Kernels) is a protein structure clustering algorithm used to group similar protein structures based on their three-dimensional coordinates. SPICKER takes a set of protein structures as input, typically represented by their Cartesian coordinates (x, y, z) of atoms. SPICKER then calculates the pairwise root-mean-square deviation (RMSD) distances between all pairs of structures. RMSD measures the structural similarity between two protein structures by quantifying the average distance between corresponding atoms after superimposition. SPICKER employs a kernel density estimation technique to estimate the density of structures in the multi-dimensional RMSD space. It constructs a density function by assigning each structure a probability density value based on its RMSD distance to other structures.v The density-based clustering algorithm DBSCAN (Density-Based Spatial Clustering of Applications with Noise) is applied to identify clusters in the estimated density function. DBSCAN groups structures that have high density and are closely located in the RMSD space. Structures that are not in any cluster are considered as noise. SPICKER selects the most representative structure from each cluster based on the average RMSD distance to other structures in the same cluster. This representative structure is often referred to as a "centroid" or "medoid" and is used to represent the cluster.

SPICKER [100] was used to cluster the output models from Rosetta. SPICKER was executed within the ccp4 suite which auto generates the required input files.

ccp4-python /path/to/spicker.py -e /path/to/spicker -m ./models/ -t 50

## Model building: trRosetta

Ab initio models were built using the trRosetta [56] local installation with default settings utilising an MSA from HHblits in the '.a3m' format. Transform-restrained Rosetta (trRosetta) is a Rosetta protocol that utilises predicted distances and orientations as restraints that are derived from a deep residual-convolutional network. The network takes an MSA as input and the outputs are used as energy minimisation restraints in the Rosetta model building. This differs from Rosetta contact assisted *ab initio* model building as in addition to the C $\beta$ –C $\beta$  distances the orientations (defined by six parameters) are predicted which accurately describe the relative positions of the backbone of two residues.

The predicted distances and side-chain orientations were generated using:

python ./predict.py -m ./model2019 example/T1001.a3m example/T1001 .npz

Models are constructed using trRosetta by:

python trRosetta.py T1008.npz T1008.fasta model.pdb

## Model building: DMPfold

DMPfold [77] utilises deep-learning to predict inter-residue distances, main chain hydrogen bond network and torsion angles. These are then used in the model building process. The *ab initio* models were built using a DMPfold local installation with default settings utilising an MSA built by Jackhmmer. The alignments in '.aln' format is then used by a DMPfold script to generate distance restraints:

```
csh aln2maps.csh example/PF10963.aln
```

The restraints were then used to build the models:

```
/path/to/DMPfold/run_dmpfold.sh /w9dy28.fasta ../output.21c ../
output.map ./w9_1_84_models
```

## **Homology Modelling**

Homology modeling, also known as comparative modeling, is a computational method used to predict the three-dimensional structure of a protein based on its sequence similarity to one or more known protein structures. It relies on the principle that proteins with high sequence similarity share similar structures and functions. A target protein, is selected for which the experimental structure is unknown but a related template structure with known three-dimensional coordinates exists. Suitable template structures are identified by searching sequence databases using algorithms such as HHpred. Templates with high sequence similarity to the target are preferred, ideally with sequence identity above a certain threshold (e.g., 30-40%). The target protein sequence is aligned with the template sequence to identify corresponding positions and regions. Using the sequence alignment as a guide, the three-dimensional coordinates of the target protein are constructed by copying the coordinates from the template structure. The quality and reliability of the homology model are assessed using various validation criteria and scoring functions. This study employed predicted contact satisfaction scores (see below). MODELLER [101] is a software package widely used for homology modeling and comparative protein

structure prediction and was used for the study of Atg9 (Chapter 4).

## 2.2.4 Transmembrane Region Prediction

Unless otherwise stated the transmembrane helical topology predictions were obtained from the TopCons server [44]. TopCons combines multiple sources of information, including predicted transmembrane helices, signal peptides, and homologous proteins, to make accurate predictions. Based on this combined information from signal peptide prediction, transmembrane helix prediction, and homology-based prediction, TopCons generates a consensus prediction for the presence and location of transmembrane regions in the protein sequence.

When confidence scores were required for individual transmembrane region predictions TMHMM (TransMembrane Hidden Markov Model) was employed. TMHMM employs a Hidden Markov Model (HMM) approach. TMHMM is trained using a dataset of known transmembrane proteins with experimentally verified transmembrane helices. The HMM is trained to recognize the statistical patterns and properties associated with transmembrane regions.

Other transmembrane prediction software was utilised for comparison purposes:

- 1. Octopus [102];
- 2. Spoctopus [103];
- 3. Philius [104];
- 4. Polyphobius [105];
- 5. SCAMPI [106];

## 2.2.5 Secondary Structure Prediction

Secondary structure predictions were made employing a local installation of PsiPred v4.0 [97]. (Protein Structure Prediction Server). PsiPred employs a neural network to

make its predictions. PsiPred Generates a position-specific scoring matrix (PSSM). A PSSM is a matrix that encodes the sequence profile, which represents the frequency and propensity of each amino acid at each position in the sequence. The PSSM is generated by performing a sequence database search using tools like PSI-BLAST [107]. The final output of PsiPred is a prediction of the secondary structure for each residue in the protein sequence. This prediction is usually represented as a sequence of letters corresponding to the predicted secondary structure states (H for alpha helix, E for beta strand, and C for coil).

## 2.2.6 Conservation Mapping

Conservation was mapped on to the models using the ConSurf server [108].

To visualise the conservation as a spectrum using ConSurf's conventional spectrum the ConSurf processed PDB file (with updated with ConSurf colours -PDB\_FILE) and the python script, consurf\_new.py, was downloaded from the server; PyMol was then initialised and the processed PDB file was loaded with the subsequent run of the consurf\_new.py script ('run consurf\_new.py' in PyMol terminal);

## 2.2.7 Visualisation of Models

Visualisation of models was achieved using PyMOL v2.3.0 [109]. Membrane planes were visualised by downloading membrane\_planes.py and visualise\_membranes.pml [110] from RosettaCommons. The python script membrane\_planes.py was placed in the same directory as the PyMol executable. A translated version of a PDB file from PDBTM or a translated pdb generated from the from the OPM server was visualised with membrane planes by initialising PyMol from the command line in the following way;

```
/path/to/pymol/executable/ /path/to/translated/pdb/file/ /path/to/
    pml/file
```

## 2.2.8 Structural Alignments

Structural alignment methods aim to compare and align protein structures to identify similarities, infer evolutionary relationships, and gain insights into their functional and structural properties. There are many methods for assessing similarity [111, 112, 113, 114] and commonly rely on comparing the sizes of shared substructures, such as the length of alignment, where longer alignments are considered more favorable. Additionally, a distance measure like RMSD (Root Mean Square Deviation) is commonly used to evaluate the difference between these substructures, with lower values indicating greater similarity. RMSD quantifies the average distance between corresponding atoms in the two sets of coordinates. It is calculated by aligning the structures and measuring the displacement of each atom. The distance between each pair of corresponding atoms in the superposed structures is calculated. The deviation or displacement of each atom is obtained by subtracting the position of the corresponding atom in one structure from the position of the corresponding atom in the other structure. The deviations are squared, and the squared deviations are summed across all atoms in the structure. The summed squared deviations are divided by the number of atoms, and the square root of the result is taken to obtain the RMSD value [115].

$$\text{RMSD} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - y_i)^2}{n}}$$

- *N* is the total number of atoms.
- X<sub>i</sub> and Y<sub>i</sub> denote the coordinates of the corresponding atoms in the two compared structures.
- The summation  $\sum_{i=1}^{N}$  iterates over all the atoms.
- (X<sub>i</sub> Y<sub>i</sub>)<sup>2</sup> calculates the squared differences between the corresponding atom coordinates.

RMSD is expressed in units of length. A lower RMSD value indicates a closer match between the structures, while a higher RMSD value suggests greater differences or structural variation.

Local installation of Dali v4.0 [111] was used to structurally align the output models and to query against the PDBTM [47]. Dali has high sensitivity in detecting structural similarities identifying remote homologues and recognise similarities even when sequence similarity is low. Dali is capable of handling both small and large protein structures and can align multiple structures simultaneously, enabling the detection of structural relationships among a set of proteins. Dali provides Z-scores that assess the significance of the structural similarity. This statistical measure helps evaluate the reliability of the alignments and distinguish true similarities from random matches. Z-scores provide a measure of how well the observed similarity score (DALI Z-score) compares to the scores obtained from random structure alignments. First Dali generates random structural alignments by shuffling and superimposing the secondary structure elements of the two proteins being compared. This generates a distribution of similarity scores for random alignments. The similarity score used in Dali is the Z-score-like score, which is based on the root mean square deviation (RMSD) between aligned residues, the number of aligned residues, and the length of the proteins. The Z-score is then calculated by comparing the similarity score of the observed alignment with the distribution of scores obtained from the random alignments. It represents the number of standard deviations the observed score is away from the mean of the random distribution. A higher Z-score indicates a higher level of significance for the structural similarity.

## 2.2.9 Precision

Precision score evaluation of models in relation to the predicted contacts at various contact cutoff values were calculated and plotted using ConKit. A 70% precision cut off for the top L contacts is suggestive of good quality models [74].

## 2.2.10 Other prediction data

ConKit was also used to predict and visualise potential structural domain boundaries [73][63]. Residue analysis of putative amphipathic regions were performed using HELIQUEST [116] to determine the presence, direction and magnitude of any hydrophobic moment.

# 3 In silico prediction of structure and function for a large family of transmembrane proteins that includes human Tmem41b

## 3.1 Introduction

Recent strides in computational structural biology have opened up an opportunity to understand previously uncharacterised proteins. The under-representation of transmembrane proteins in the Protein Data Bank highlights the need to apply new and advanced bioinformatics methods to shed light on their structure and function.

Membrane proteins can be grouped according to their interaction with various cell membranes: integral membrane proteins (IMPs) are permanently anchored whereas peripheral membrane proteins transiently adhere to cell membranes. IMPs that span the membrane are known as transmembrane proteins (TMEMs) as opposed to integral monotopic membrane proteins that adhere to one side of the membrane [117]. Membrane proteins also include various lipid-modified proteins [118].

Autophagy-related proteins (Atg) are responsible for the formation of autophagosomes that traffic unwanted intracellular components to the lysosomes for

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

degradation. Atg9 (Chapter 4) is the only established transmembrane Atg [119], however, there is a growing body of evidence that two proteins belonging to the Pfam PF09335 family may also be transmembrane Atgs; Tmem41b and Vmp1 [120].

In this chapter, the Pfam PF09335 family is linked to the PF06695 family and a conveniently small archaeal sequence was identified. Subsequently, utilising state of the art methods, structural predictions for not only the archaeal sequence but also for two prominent members of the Pfam family PF09335 (Tmem41b and YqjA) were made. In order to carry out these predictions, data derived from sequence, evolutionary covariance and *Ab initio* modelling was exploited. The result of the modelling indicated that both PF09335 homologues (DedA proteins) and PF06995 homologues contain re-entrant loops (stretches of protein that enter the bilayer but exit on the same side of the membrane). Additionally, the predictions also anticipate that the re-entrant loops form part of a pseudo-inverted repeat topology. The predicted presence of both of these structural features strongly suggests that DedA proteins are secondary active transporters for an uncharacterised substrate.

## 3.2 DedA Proteins

The family Tmem41 has two human representatives, namely Tmem41a and Tmem41b; both share the PF09335 ('SNARE\_ASSOC' / 'VTT' / 'Tvp38' / 'DedA') Pfam [85] domain. The profile of Tmem41b has recently risen due to experimental evidence pointing to its involvement in macroautophagy regulation (making it a possible Atg protein, i.e. an autophagy related protein) and lipid mobilisation [121]. Other studies identify Tmem41b to be involved in motor circuit function, with TMEM41B-knockout *Drosophila melanogaster* showing neuromuscular junction defects and aberrant motor neuron development in SMN1 knockout zebrafish [122]. Also, it has been reported that in TMEM41B-knockout HeLa cells there is an inhibition of Zika virus replication [123]. Tmem41b has also been identified as a host cell factor for SARS-CoV-2 [124]. Tmem41b is the only common host cell factor

identified for flaviviruses and coronaviruses and is the only autophagy-related protein identified as a viral host factor [125].

Additionally, Tmem41b has been shown to be essential for mouse embryonic development: homozygous knockout mice embryos suffer early termination of their development after 7–8 weeks [126]. Tmem41b is a structurally uncharacterised 291-residue protein found in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) localising at the mitochondria-associated ER membranes [121]. Disruption of the PF09335 domain by various residue substitutions [127] or its removal [121] results in inhibition of autophagosome formation and impaired lipid mobilisation in human embryonic kidney (HEK) cells.

Tmem41b homologues, hereafter referred to as DedA proteins [120], are present in all domains of life [128]. The Pfam PF09335 domain was first identified in the Saccharomyces cerevisiae protein Tvp38 [129], and the authors concluded that Tvp38 associates with SNARE proteins (SNAP REceptor). SNARE proteins are responsible for the fusion of vesicles with a target membrane. Specifically, Tvp38 was shown to associate with t-SNARE sub-types in Tlg2-containing compartments, suggesting a role in membrane transport. Investigations into the bacterial and archaeal prevalence of these proteins showed that 90% of bacterial species and 70% of archaeal species encode proteins with the PF09335 domain [130]. Bacterial and archaeal PF09335-containing proteins are collectively known as the DedA family [130, 131]. Detailed studies of the Escherichia coli DedA proteins have indicated that there are eight E. coli representatives of the DedA family (YqjA, YghB, YabI, YohD, DedA, YdjX, YdjZ, and YqaA) with overlapping functions [128, 130], with YdjX and YdjZ being the most closely related to human Tmem41b in terms of sequence similarity [130]. Phenotypically, DedA knock-out E. coli cells display increased temperature sensitivity, cell division defects, activation envelope stress pathways, compromised proton motive force, sensitivity to alkaline pH and increased antibiotic susceptibility [130][132]. As E. coli expresses multiple DedA homologues, lethal effects are not observed as long as at least one DedA is expressed [132][133]. Borrelia burgdorferi

contains only one DedA protein in its genome and knockout cells display the same phenotype as the *E. coli* knockout strains. The *B. burgdorferi* homologue is indeed essential [134]. Interestingly, *E. coli* knockout cells can be rescued with the B. burgdorferi homologue that shows only 19% sequence identity with YqjA. The functions of DedA have also been studied in the pathogen *Burkholderia thailandensis* where one family member was found to be required for resistance to polymyxin [135].

## 3.3 Specific Methods

This PhD coincided with a rapid development in the field of ab initio structure prediction. The most advanced methods at the time were always utilised and as new methods and model databases were released these were employed to gather additional structural information as well as to validate previous modelling attempts.

## 3.3.1 Model building: trRosetta

In order to test whether the modelling software could accurately capture the re-entrant loop-helix structural motif, a model representing the crystal structure of 6cb2 was constructed using both trRosetta and DMPfold [77]. The crystal of 6cb2 is comparable in terms of size (293 residues) and has the common structural features (inverted repeat with two re-entrant/TMhelix structures) to the Tmem41b and its homologous proteins. The output structure was structurally aligned against the crystal structure using DALI (server) and a gave Z-score of 35 for the trRosetta with 27.5 for the DMPfold equivalent. A significant Z-score indicates a higher level of structural similarity between two protein structures than would be expected by chance alone. In Dali, Z-scores greater than a certain threshold (typically around 2.0) are considered statistically significant, indicating a meaningful structural similarity between the compared proteins [111]. Therefore, scores leave no doubt that the

correct fold was modelled (figure 3.1) and therefore added to the confidence of any models constructed for PF09335 and PF06695 family members using trRosetta and DMPfold.



Figure 3.1: 6cb2 Models

The crystal structure in green and the trRosetta model in magenta. The second image highlights the re-entrant structural motif feature that became prominent during the course of this investigation.

## 3.3.2 Dataset for custom re-entrant sequence database

A library of re-entrant loop sequences together with the putative re-entrant loop sequences from the Mt2055, Tmem41b and YqjA models were clustered to establish any visible relationships of the sequences. The library was built by obtaining a non-redundant set of 56 re-entrant helix sequences by first retrieving all 714 TM proteins that contain at least one re-entrant loop from the PDBTM [47] and removing redundancy with a 40% identity threshold. The resulting 127 protein structures were split into their component chains, eliminating any chain lacking a re-entrant loop. The resulting set of 188 unique re-entrant loop sequences were then filtered removing

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

any sequences of less than 10 residues and more than 20, thereby ensuring the collection of sequences conformed to the length of typical [136] re-entrant loops. The remaining 56 sequences were clustered, supplemented by candidate re-entrant sequences from the proteins studied here. Clustering was performed using CLANS v1.0 [137] with the BLAST [138] results used to calculate strengths of similarity.

## 3.3.3 Dataset for custom structural re-entrant database

In addition to the construction of the re-entrant sequence database a structural database was also built for the re-entrant loops in the PDBTM. A library of re-entrant loop PDB structures together with the putative re-entrant loop structures from the Mt2055, Tmem41b and YqjA protein models were clustered on their structural similarity. The library was built by obtaining a non-redundant (removing redundancy with a 40% sequence identity threshold) set of 125 chains from the PDBTM [47] that contain at least one re-entrant loop. 40% sequence identity threshold is considered to be a reasonably stringent criterion for redundancy removal. It ensures that the retained homologues have a significant level of similarity with the query sequence, indicating a high likelihood of shared evolutionary ancestry and potential functional conservation. As this investigation focuses on re-entrant loops that are immediately preceded by a TM helix that is packed against the loop, all re-entrant loops (boundaries defined by PDBTM) in addition to the preceding 30 residues were extracted. The resulting 193 library entries, supplemented with the re-entrant loop features (defined by the OMP server [48] and accompanied by the preceding 30 residues) from the Ab initio modelling underwent an all-against-all structural alignment using a local installation of Dali v4.0 [111]. The Z-scores for these alignments were then used for clustering with CLANS v1.0 [137] with a Z-score of 4.5 used as the cut-off threshold.

				PF09335 'SNARE_AS 'VTT '/'Tvp3	SOC'/ 38'	PF06695 'Sm_multidrug_ex'	
	Species	UniProt Code	Length	Probability	E-Value	Probability	E-Value
Tmem41b	Homo sapiens	Q5BJD5	291	99.4	9E-17	98.3	2E-10
Ydjx	Escherichia coli	P76219	236	99.6	2.1E-17	99.1	9.9E-13
Ydjz	Escherichia coli	P76221	235	99.6	1.1E-17	99.0	4.5E-16
Yqja	Escherichia coli	POAA63	220	99.62	5.6E-15	99.41	1.3E-12
Tvp38	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	P36164	337	99.4	7.9E-15	98.7	2.7E-10
Mt2055	Methanolobus tindarius	W9DY28	168	99.0	2.4E-10	99.8	1.8E-20

Table 3.1: HHpred results for Tmem41b and homologues demonstrate homology between Pfam families PF09335 and PF06695.

## 3.4 Sequence Analysis

HHpred [86] was used to screen a selection of DedA proteins against the Pfam database [85]. Hits were observed in the same region against both PF09335 and the Pfam domain PF06695 ('Sm\_multidrug\_ex') which is strongly indicative of homology: a probability of 99.4% with an E-value of 9E-17 for the PF09335 hit and 98.3% and 2E-10 respectively for PF06695. An HHpred search against the Pfam database using a member of PF06695 - the short archaeal sequence Mt2055 (UniProt code W9DY28) [90] - returned similar results (Table 3.1 ). Figure 3.2 shows the MSA for the same sequences along with the relative positions of the two Pfam domains under investigation. The Mt2055 sequence originates from the unpublished draft genome of the archaebacterium Methanolobus tindarius DSM 2278. For many of the subsequent analyses, the shorter archaeal sequence was used initially but the clear homology among this set of proteins means that inferences can be drawn across the group.

There are no known experimental protein structures representing PF09335 or PF06695, but both Gremlin and DMPfold have constructed *ab initio* models for these

TM41B HUMAN	108	3 T FYV - QVLVAY FATY I FL QT FA I P G S I FL S I L S G FL Y P F P - L A L F L V G	154
W9DY28 METTI	18	S LATMVIGA M PIFELRGAIPI-ALGIYDM SPV - SAFIFAN	L 55
YDJX ECOLI	42	QSGF-FGYSLYILLFIIATLLLLPGS-ILVIAGGIVFGPL-LGTLLS	87
YDJZ_ECOLI	58	S SY GALAAVV S F L LM I LQA I AAP LPA F - L I T FANAS L F GA F - WGG L L SW	T 104
YQJA_ECOLI	25	5 I - GM - LY FVL FVIL FLENGLLPAA FLP GD - SLLVLVGVLIAK GAMGYP - QTILLLT	V 77
TVP38_YEAST	132	EKMS-THFILMVLIFFVAFPPMI <mark>GYS-LLSTTTGLIY</mark> <mark>GVSFEGWVTL</mark> A	L 178
W9DY28 PsiPred SS			
			_
TM41B_HUMAN	155	CSGLGASFCYMLSYLVGRPVVYKYLTEKAVKWSOOVERH-REH I	198
W9DY28_METTI	56	5 GNM I P V V P L L L F L D P V S T Y L R F A I F D K F F SWL F G R T H R N H S E R F - E K Y Q	105
YDJX_ECOLI	88	AAT LASSCSFLLA <mark></mark> RWLGRDLLL <mark></mark> KYVGHS <mark>N</mark> -TFQ <mark></mark> AI EKGI <mark>-</mark> ARNG	130
YDJZ_ECOLI	105	S SMAGAALCFFIA <mark></mark> RVMGREVVE <mark></mark> KLTGK <mark>T</mark> -VLD <mark></mark> SMDGFF <mark>-</mark> TRYG	K 146
YQJA_ECOLI	78		L 123
TVP38_YEAST	179	G	Y 222
W9DY28 PsiPred SS			
			_
TM41B_HUMAN	199	NY I I F L R I T P - F L P NW F I N I T S P V I N V P L K V F F I G T F L G V A P P S F V A I K A G T T L Y	Q 253
W9DY28_METTI	106	IALTLEVAVPLPVTGAWTGCAAAEVEGIKERHAEPAILAGVLIAGIIVSSVTL <mark>GGI</mark>	G 162
YDJX_ECOLI	131	DFLILTRLIP LFPYNIQNYAYGLTTIAFWPYTLISALTTLPGIVIYTVMASDLA	N 185
YDJZ_ECOLI	147	<sup>7</sup> HT I L V C R L L P <mark>– –</mark> F V P F D P I S Y A A G L T S I R F R S F F I A T G L G Q L P A T I <mark>V Y SWA G S</mark> ML T	G 201
YQJA_ECOLI	124	SALLIGRFIA <mark> FVR-</mark> TLLPTIAGLSGLNNARFQFFNWMS <u>G</u> LLWVL <mark>ILTTLGY</mark> MLC	GK 177
TVP38_YEAST	223	WILALLRLCP <mark></mark> FPYSLTNGAIAGVYGISVRNFSIANIIT <mark>-</mark> TPKLF <mark>IYLFIG</mark> SR <mark>V</mark> K	S 276
W9DY28 PsiPred SS			_

Figure 3.2: MSA for query protein selection listed in table 3.1. Magenta highlights the regions matched by HHpred to the PF06695 Pfam domain while purple is used for additional residues included in the PF09335 Pfam domain matches. The black boxed regions represent the locations of the putative re-entrant loops as identified by the modeling of the respective proteins. The secondary structure for the archaeal W9DY29 sequence (Mt2055) is also depicted with the relative positions of alpha helices shown as red blocks.

Pfam domains and have made them available in repositories [77, 84].

Analysis of the HHpred results obtained for the archaeal protein Mt2055 revealed the presence of additional hits for both PF06695 and PF09335 Pfam domains, in which the C-terminal half of the domains aligned with the N-terminal half of the Archaea protein. For example, residues 1-69 of the archaeal protein aligned with residues 52-117 of the Pfam PF09335 profile with a probability of 74.15%.

Interestingly, contact density analysis [73][139] supported the existence of a domain boundary around residue 60, in broad agreement with the HHpred results (Figure 3.3). Both the HHpred and contact density results therefore pointed to a specific domain structure being present.

When the Mt2055 sequence was split at residue 60-61, the resulting N-terminal region of 60 residues and the C-terminal section of 79 residues could be aligned using HHalign [142] with a 78% probability and an E-value of 1.9E-3. Examination of the map of predicted contacts for Mt2055 reveals features that are present in both the N-and C-terminal halves of the protein (Figure 3.3c). Taken together, these data strongly





(a) Contact density profile constructed by ConKit [63] utilising DeepMetaPSICOV contact prediction. Solid black line represents contact density and dotted red lines mark density minima corresponding to possible domain boundaries. (b) HHalign alignments for the N-terminal and C-terminal Mt2055 halves, formatted using Jalview [140] and coloured according to the ClustalX [141] scheme. Red bars represent helical secondary structure. (c) Maps of predicted contacts generated by DeepMetaPSICOV [93] and plotted using ConKit [95]; left is N-terminal half (residues 1-84) and right is C-terminal half (residues 85-168). Black points represent predicted intramolecular contacts.

support the existence of a tandem repeat within the Mt2055 protein and hence across the PF06695 and PF09335 protein families.

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

	TOPCONS	OCTOPUS	PHILIUS	POLYPHOBIUS	SCAMPI	SPOCTOPUS	TMHMM
Mt2055	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
Tmem41b	6	6	6	7	6	5	6
Ydjx	7	7	5	6	6	7	5
Ydjz	6	7	6	6	6	6	5
Tvp38	5	7	5	7	6	6	5

Table 3.2: Predicted number of TM regions for PF09335/PF06695 homologs

Interestingly, an equivalent sequence analysis with HHpred of other PF09335 homologues including Tmem41b itself does not reveal a repeat. However, inspection of their corresponding predicted contact maps does reveal features repeated when Nand C-halves of the protein are compared (Figure 3.4). Apparently, evolutionary divergence has removed all trace of the repeat sequence signal in bacterial and eukaryotic proteins, although the feature remains visible by evolutionary covariance analysis.

In order to assess the composition of the repeat identified, transmembrane helical topology predictions were carried out but gave inconsistent results for most proteins: only for the archaeal protein Mt2055 did all methods agree that four transmembrane helices were predicted to be present in the whole protein, two in each of the repeats (Table 3.2).

Several authors have deposited structures of uncharacterised Pfam families in databases [85]; however, Pfam domain boundaries for PF09335/PF06695, which define the limits of these previous modelling exercises, do not reflect the conserved structural domain that we predict. Given the fact that the available *Ab initio* models were inconsistent with the transmembrane helix topology, secondary structure and contact predictions, new models of Mt2055 as well as Tmem41b and YqjA were built.

## 3.5 Initial Modelling

Initial modelling of DedA proteins centered around constructing DeepContact [143] derived contact restrained Mt2055 models using Rosetta *ab initio*. The output models





The highlighted areas represent repeat units that have been revealed through evolutionary covariance analysis.

were visually of very poor quality and could not possibly be stable within a membrane. Subsequently, in an effort to improve the quality of the contact information a metagenomics [84] sequence database was used to generate the predicted contacts. The MapPred [144] server was used to trial the use of metagnomics; for Mt2055 the Neff of the MSA was raised to 2687 from the 1648 Uniprot-derived MSA; for Tmem41b the Neff of the MSA was raised to 8874 from the 2144 Uniprot derived MSA. The success at raising the Neff values of the MSAs for the query proteins led to the construction of a custom metagenomics sequence database. JackHMMER [88] was used to generate the MSAs and ResPre [94] to make the contact predictions based on the metagenomics enhanced MSAs. With the custom metagenomics database, for Mt2055 the Neff reached 7470 and for Tmem41b the Neff increased to 88573. Figure 3.5 shows how the increase in Neff translated to local sequence regions with the use of series of sequence coverage plots generated using ConKit [95]; for example for Tmem41b, even though the metagenomic improved the global Neff score dramatically, the MSA coverage profile does highlight the fact that the metegenomics has little impact on the first one hundred residues.



Figure 3.5: MSA Sequence coverage profiles.

Column 1: Mt2055, Column 2: Tmem41b, Row 1: Uniprot derived, Row 2: MapPred derived, Row 3: Custom metagenomics database derived.

Again, even with the metagenomic enhanced contact predictions, the poor model quality could be visually identified (short transmembrane helices -less than 5 helical turns- that could not possibly span the lipid bi-layer) and quantitatively measured using a contact satisfaction profile plotted using ConKit (figure 3.6). Running these models as well as the examples from the previous set against the PDB using Dali [111] to identify possible structural homologues did not yield any significant results with the top Z-score being 3.5.



Figure 3.6: Rosetta Ab initio model with Precision Profile. Left: Mt2055 Rosetta ab initio model utilising restraints derived from Respre (Li et al., n.d.) and a metagenomic database for MSA construction; coloured with rainbow; blue C -terminal to red N-terminal; right: precision profile depicting contact satisfaction at various contact cutoff values where L = sequence length (rounded down to the nearest whole number of contacts). The 50% precision cut of is shown (blue line) as a visual marker. A minimum of 70% contact satisfaction for the top L contacts would be suggestive of good quality models [145].

Building on the premise of utilising the contacts as restraints in the model making, it was decided to switch to the Rosetta Ab initio Membrane protocol [146]. This version of Rosetta *ab initio*, in addition to the contact derived restraints, uses membrane topology predictions as further restraints and are more heavily weighted than the contact information. TopCons [44] was used to generate the membrane topology predictions for the query proteins which were subsequently converted into the Rosetta Membrane compatible OCTOPUS [99] format.

One thousand models were constructed. The output models from the RosettaMembrane flavour were visually superior to the outputs from Rosetta *ab initio;* these models possessed helices packed together in such a way that they could conceivably sit in a membrane bi-layer. Screening the highest ranking model (centroid of the largest cluster determined by SPICKER [100]) against the PDB using DALI and filtering out globular proteins and all hits with a Z-score less than 5 resulted in a list of strong hits with Type VII ABC transporters (Table 3.3) with the strongest hit against 5lilA (Figure 3.7).

Hit	Z-Score	RMSD	lali	Nres	%ID	Hit Name
5lil-A	8.8	3.8	131	615	12	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
5lj6-A	8.3	5	132	600	8	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
5lj7-B	8	4.9	132	599	8	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
5lil-B	7.1	4.9	132	604	8	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
5mal-A	7	3.9	104	234	14	LIPASE;
5lj7-A	6.7	4	125	592	11	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
5mal-B	6.6	3.5	103	234	15	LIPASE;
5ws4-B	6.4	4	129	650	8	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
6fpf-A	6.3	3.9	125	257	6	CHROMOSOME 16, WHOLE GENOME SHOTGUN SEQUENCE;
5ws4-A	6.3	4	129	650	8	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
5gtm-B	6.2	6.2	92	522	12	INTERFERON-INDUCED GTP-BINDING PROTEIN MX1;
5nil-J	6.1	4.2	131	629	13	OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEIN TOLC;
5nik-J	6.1	4.2	131	629	13	OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEIN TOLC;
5gko-B	6.1	3.8	126	650	8	MACROLIDE EXPORT ATP-BINDING/PERMEASE PROTEIN MAC
5nik-K	5.9	4.4	133	629	12	OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEIN TOLC;
5nil-K	5.9	4.4	133	629	12	OUTER MEMBRANE PROTEIN TOLC;
5do7-C	5.8	5.3	129	579	7	ATP-BINDING CASSETTE SUB-FAMILY G MEMBER 5;

Table 3.3: DALI PDB hits with top model from first round of RosettaMembrane modelling

In an effort to identify a potentially stronger hit from the one thousand models, the set of models were processed into a local DALI database and 5lilA was used to query the library. However, the same model with a Z-score of 8.8 was picked out. Consequently a further ten thousand RosettaMembrane models were constructed and 5lil was screened against this new model set. A model with a Z-score of 9.9 was identified.



Figure 3.7: Rosetta Membrane model structurally aligned with 5lilA. Rosetta Ab initio Membrane model (magenta) structurally aligned with 5lil (green).

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

Next the idea of refining the model based on use of contact restraints was experimented with; the contacts from the model with the highest alignment Z-score with 5lil were used as restraints to construct a further ten thousand new models. The output models were again converted to a DALI database and 5lil was screened against the new library. This additional refinement step did not produce models with any higher alignment scores with 5lil. A comparison of the 5lil contact map and the model contact map 3.8 clearly showed that they certainly shared the transmembrane helical topology. Study of the structural alignment (figure 3.9) also confirmed this. Additionally, both the model and 5lil possessed an amphipathic helix, albeit in the opposite direction (although this would not have contributed to the DALI Z-score calculation as only the aligned regions are used for this calculation).

5lil was an interesting structural hit. The fold and topology of the MacB transmembrane and periplasmic domain is different from the six other ABC transporter superfamilies and has an independent evolutionary origin from other ABC transporters. 5lil has a four-transmembrane helix topology, periplasmic domain, and stalk. 5lil forms a pump with TolC, this complex uses cytoplasmic ATP hydrolysis to move substrates from the periplasm to the outside of the cell. 5lil is not considered a transporter as the ATP hydrolysis is used to transmit a conformational changes from cytoplasmic side of the membrane to the periplasmic side; TolC is responsible for the movement of substrate from the periplasm to the outside of the cell. It is the transmembrane domain of 5lil that is responsible for this mechanotransmission [147].

In spite of the fact that the resultant RosettaMembrane models appeared visually more promising; being more in line with transmembrane proteins and having good structural alignments with crystal structures of Type VI ABC transporters; once again when performing quantitative analysis of the *ab initio* models it resulted in poor precision scores (Figure 3.10). The unsuccessful modelling attempts lead to the detailed review of all sequence-based prediction data using custom visualisation plots.



Figure 3.8: 5lil Contact map analysis a) Blue box is periplasmic domain (residues 306-503) and red box is nucleotide binding domain (residues 1-240). b) 5lilA contact map with periplasmic and nucleotide biding domains removed. c) Rosetta membrane top model contact map.

## 3.6 Development of ConPlot

The poor precision scores of models built by Rosetta *ab initio* and RosettaMembrane, along with evidence that the transmembrane topology predictions may contain false positives (Table 3.2) led to the desire to visually cross-reference all available prediction data for both Mt2055 and Tmem41b. ConKit [95], a python interface to contact predictions, was chosen as a suitable platform to integrate various prediction data. ConKit was already able to output contact predictions in the form of a contact map where the contact predictions are visualised as a two-dimensional binary matrices [148]. The contact maps traditionally have a blank space on and near the diagonal axis as they exclude contacts between sequential near neighbours. The ConKit software was adapted to parse other prediction data and output the data in a visual format with the contact map (figure 3.11). The void in the diagonal of the contact map has been used previously to hold a visualisation of secondary structure information [149]. Various properties can be predicted by other sequence-based methods such as membrane and disorder predictions as well as residue conservation scores. By integrating this multitude of data a more complete and integrated two-dimensional visual representation of the protein.

New scripts were integrated into the command line, IO, core and plot modules of



Figure 3.9: Structural alignment analysis of 5lilA and model. Cartoon: structurally aligned regions; Wire: non aligned regions. cyan: structural aligned region of 5lil; Red: regions of model that are predicted to be transmembrane helices by transmembrane topology prediction tools 3.2; Orange: regions of model where there is a lack on consensus between transmembrane topology prediction tools; White: Regions of model that are not predicted to to be transmembrane helices. a)5lilA schematic (adapted from [147]). b)Highlighted with a black stick is the alignment of model transmembrane 1 with transmembrane 1 of 5lilA (involved in dimer formation) along with the presence of the amphipathic helix. c) highlighted with a black stick is the alignment of model transmembrane 2 with transmembrane 2 of 5lilA (involved in dimer formation) Coupling helix 1 (CH1) (involved in NBD interaction). d)Highlighted with a black stick is the alignment of model transmembrane 3 with transmembrane 4 of 5lilA and Coupling helix 1 (CH2) (involved in NBD interaction).

ConKit. The modifications to ConKit produced the desired output where all available prediction data for a given protein was displayed visually (figure 3.11). (This visual cross referencing functionality was later developed into the web based application ConPlot [75]).

With the visualisation of membrane predictions (TopCons) and secondary structure (PsiPred) for Mt2055, inspection of the enhanced ConKit output revealed the possible presence of a re-entrant loop structure between residues 16–42 (Figure

## Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)



Figure 3.10: Precision profile for top RosettaMembrane model. Precision score evaluation of the RosettaMembrane model in relation to the predicted contacts at various contact cutoff values where L = sequence length (rounded down to the nearest whole number of contacts). The 50% precision cut of is shown (blue line) as a visual marker. A minimum of 70% contact satisfaction for the top L contacts would be suggestive of good quality models [145].



Figure 3.11: Integration of new parsers into Conkit.

ConKit flow diagram showing prediction data types (left). Both the sequence data and contact information are mandatory sets of data required to build the data visualisation map; secondary structure (PsiPred format), membrane prediction (Topcons format), disorder prediction (Iupred2a format) and individual residue conservation scores (ConSurf format are optional data sets to be processed. New ConKit module scripts (middle) were constructed and integrated into the ConKit software. New output with prediction data visualised on diagonal (right) in the form of an interactive plot.

3.12); a predicted transmembrane region (red) with a break in the centre that separates two distinct predicted helices (blue; from residues 16–25 and 28–42) in contact with each other). The predicted contact map also highlights a second re-entrant loop from residues 105–131, in accordance with the evidence that the protein family resulted from a tandem duplication.



## Figure 3.12: Enhanced Mt2055contact map.

Mt2055 Contact map constructed using DeepMetaPSICOV predictions with TopCons membrane prediction and PsiPred secondary structure predictions overlaid. The outer diagonals show the TopCons membrane prediction (red regions being predicted TM helices, green; inside cell, yellow; outside). The thin central diagonal is the secondary structure prediction (orange, helix; blue, coil).

Such a prediction would more obviously be treated as indicative of some kind of kink in the helix [150] but the explanation here is that these regions form re-entrant helices. A similar contact map feature can be easily generated from three transmembrane helices, however, this would result in a box feature of around 20x20 residues (and obviously reflected in the diagonal). Since the re-entrant loop is making contact with itself this can only result in an approximately 10 residue antiparallel feature on the contact map. Only approximately half of the transmembrane helix that is packed with the re-entrant helix will be making contact with the re-entrant loop, therefore, this would result in an additional 10 residue antiparallel feature in

addition to a 10-residue parallel feature. Together with the diagonal these will display an approximately 10x10 box feature (also reflected in the diagonal) on the contact map rather than the 20x20 box feature that three transmembrane helices (1 parallel pair and two anti-parallel ones) would produce (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.13: Re-entrant contact map.

Top: Three transmembrane helix bundle (right) with its respective contact map (left); bottom: Re-entrant loop packed with a transmembrane helix (right) with its respective contact map (left).

Similar contact map features, indicative of re-entrant loops packing against TM

helices, can be seen clearly on the contact maps of other DedA proteins (data not shown). The MSA in Figure 3.2 shows the relative positions of the re-entrant loops in their respective sequences.

Examination of the equivalent data for Tmem41b as well as the yeast homologue Tvp38 and two bacterial homologs YdjX and YdjZ revealed that all homologues contain a core consisting of an amphipathic helix, re-entrant loop and transmembrane helix in that order and inversely repeated (Figure 5.1).



(a) Predicted topology for Mt2055

Figure 3.14: DedA predicted topology

a) Predicted topology for Mt2055 based on contact, secondary structure, membrane amphipathic predictions; A1 – amphipathic helix 1; R1a (N-terminal half of re-entrant helix 1); R1a (C-terminal half of re-entrant helix 1; TM1- transmembrane helix 1; A2 – amphipathic helix 2; R1a (N-terminal half of re-entrant helix 2; R2a (C-terminal half of re-entrant helix 2; TM2- transmembrane helix 2. b) Proposed topology for Tmem41b; A1 – amphipathic helix 1; R1a (N-terminal half of re-entrant helix 1; R1a (C-terminal half of re-entrant helix 1; TM1transmembrane helix 1; A2 – amphipathic helix 2; R1a (N-terminal half of re-entrant helix 2; R2a (C-terminal half of re-entrant helix 2; TM2- transmembrane helix 2; with the presence of two-additional TM helices compared to Mt2055; Grey TM helices are additional helices to the core present in Tmem41b.

#### **Advanced Modelling** 3.7

Alternative modelling software was identified that was not bound to membrane predictions and utilised a distance matrix approach rather than the use of the simpler quantal contact matrix restraints. The modelling of Mt2055, Tmem41b and Yqja was executed using a locally installed version of trRosetta [56] with default settings (figure 3.15).

The Mt2055, Tmem41b and YqjA models had estimated TM scores of 0.633, 0.624 and 0.635 respectively, suggesting that they were likely to have captured the native

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

fold of the family as a 0.5 cut off assumes generally the same fold [151]. An all-against-all pairwise structural superposition of the models with DALI gave a mean Z-score of 11.9 confirming their strong similarity. The satisfaction of predicted contacts to validate the models (Figure 3.15) [63] was also used to assess model quality. This showed that 80% of the top L predicted contacts (where L is the length of the protein) were satisfied by the model contacts for both Mt2055 and YqjA and a value of 60% was achieved for Tmem41b. The high contact satisfaction scores are suggestive of good quality models [74].

Additionally, using ConPlot the superposition of the model contact map with the predicted contact map visually highlights the how close in alignment the two sets of contacts are (figure 3.16).

The models (Figure 3.15) confirmed the presence the predicted features: two inversely symmetrical repeated units each possessing a re-entrant loop (orange) packed with a TM helix (red). In addition to this, the models also revealed that each repeating unit had a helix lying parallel to the membrane surface (green).

Further verification of local structures of the models was carried out. In order to test for whether the membrane-parallel helices (green in Figure 3.15) were amphipathic, an analysis of helical wheel diagrams for the fifteen residues preceding the putative re-entrant loops was performed with HELIQUEST [116]. The quantitative measures of the hydrophobic moment for the regions being analysed (Figure 3.17) support that they are indeed amphipathic helices. The hydrophobic moments ranged from 0.298 to 0.546 on a scale of 0-1.

The predicted presence of the amphipathic-re-entrant loop-TM helix features in DedA domain proteins prompted a desire to map sequence conservation on to the *ab initio* models. Using the ConSurf server to perform the mapping of sequence conservation onto the query models, it revealed that the re-entrant loop sequences are highly conserved. The high sequence conservation of re-entrant loops indicate that they are likely to be functionally and/or structurally important (Figure 3.18).

Re-entrant loops were initially reported in the early 1990s in the cardiac  $Na^+/Ca^{2+}$ 



## Figure 3.15: trRosetta Models

(a) trRosetta model of MT2055 - amphipathic helix (green) and a re-entrant loop (orange) packed with a TM helix (red) (b) Superposition of DMP predicted contact map for Mt2055 and contacts from the Mt2055 model. Black points are matching contacts, red are mismatches and grey are contacts predicted but not present in the model. Diagonal is a visual representation of transmembrane helix and secondary structure prediction – central diagonal is the visualisation of the TopCons transmembrane prediction (orange being a TM helix) and the outer diagonals are the visual representation of the PsiPred secondary structure prediction (pink – alpha helix and yellow – coil). Red boxes highlight the re-entrant loop and TM helix packing contact map signature. c) trRosetta model of Tmem41b only showing the conserved structural domain (residues 39-217) d) trRosetta model of YqjA only showing the conserved structural domain (residues 14-176). e) Proposed topology

exchanger [152]. Since then re-entrant loops have been detected in other membrane transporters and channels such as aquaporins [153], potassium channels [154] and chloride channels [155]. The sequence-structure relationships of re-entrant loops have been studied before [136] revealing that while TM helices have an even


#### Figure 3.16: ConPlot Analysis

Superposition of DeepMetaPSICOV predicted contact map with contacts present in the structure modelled with DMPfold. Black points indicate matches between the two maps, red points indicate contacts present in the model but not predicted and grey points are contacts predicted but not present in the model. Central track 0 in the diagonal is used for the TopCons transmembrane prediction (blue—outside cell, yellow—inside cell, light red—predicted transmembrane helix). PsiPred secondary structure prediction is visualized by the tracks +1 and -1 adjacent to the centre of the diagonal (red—helix, green—coil). Tracks +2 and -2 represent ConSurf sequence conservation prediction (blue gradient, darker blue—more conserved, lighter blue—less conserved). Outermost tracks +3, -3, +4 and -4 were added using a custom file in which the location of the suspected re-entrant loops is highlighted in purple: between residues 16–42 and residues 105–131.

distribution of hydrophobic residues, re-entrant loops show an uneven distribution. Indeed, examination of the putative re-entrant loop sequences identified an inconsistent hydrophobicity distribution in both putative re-entrant loops of the homologues studied here (Figure 3.19) with the C-terminal side being more hydrophilic. Interestingly it is the residues around the turning points of the re-entrant loops that more conserved (Figure 3.18).

Assessing the conservation across the sequence of PF09335/PF06695 homologues, ConSurf highlights regions of strong conservation. The strongly conserved regions are located in at the turning points of the re-entrant loops and the mid-points of the tranmembrane helices that are packed against the re-entrant loops. These regions



Figure 3.17: Helical wheel diagrams generated using the HELIQUEST server Hydrophobic residues are shown in yellow, serine and threonine in purple, basic residues in dark blue, acidic residues in red, asparagine and glutamine in pink, alanine and glycine in grey, histidine in light blue and proline in green circles. Arrows represent direction and magnitude of the hydrophobic moment and residue marked with 'N' is the N-terminal end of the putative amphipathic helix with the residue marked 'C' being the C-terminal end. (a) Mt2055 putative amphipathic helix 1 (hydrophobic moment of 0.298). (b) Mt2055 putative amphipathic helix 2 (hydrophobic moment of 0.546). (c) Tmem41b putative amphipathic helix 1 (hydrophobic moment of 0.471). (d) Tmem41b putative amphipathic helix 2 (hydrophobic moment of 0.420). (e). YqjA putative amphipathic helix 1 (hydrophobic moment of 0.295). (f) YqjA putative amphipathic helix 2 (hydrophobic moment of 0.396).



Figure 3.18: ConSurf conservation mapping trRosetta models with ConSurf conservation mapping for (a) Mt2055 (b) Tmem41b (c) YqjA. Conservation is shown as a spectrum from purple (highly conserved) to blue (not conserved).

come together in three-dimensional space.

In an effort to locate the presence of any functional residues the ConSurf data at the regions of highest conservation were examined. As expected from the sequence analysis, the conservation data identified the presence of proline residues at the 'turning point' of all putative re-entrant loops in the MSAs. Thus, the conserved proline identified above is suggested by the models to have a structural role providing the tight turn required for the approximate 20° (figure 3.20) angle making up the re-entrant loop.

# 3.8 Clustering of re-entrant loops

The presence of re-entrant loops and the high density of conserved residues within them prompted an examination of experimentally characterised re-entrant loops in the PDBTM database. A total of 56 non-redundant re-entrant helices were identified (see Methods). All 56 were clustered with the putative re-entrant loops from Mt2055 and four PF09335 homologues (Tmem41b, Tvp38, YdjX and YdjZ) using relative





E-values derived from an all-against-all BLAST run in CLANS [137] with a 0.1 p-value cut-off. The largest cluster contained 14 sequences, of which four were putative re-entrant sequences from the query proteins (Mt2055 C-terminal re-entrant, YdjX C-terminal re-entrant, Ydjz N-terminal re-entrant and YdjZ C-terminal re-entrant), seven (30rg, 5tqq, 3nd0, 3det and 6coy) were re-entrant loop sequences from Cl<sup>-</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporters, one was from a boron exchanger (5l25), one from an electron transporter (2n4x) [albeit classified as a member of the lysine exporter superfamily [157]] and one from a mechanogated channel (5z10).

Analysis of the Cl<sup>-</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter structures show that they contain a similar



Figure 3.20: Re-entrant angle measurements Tight re-entrant turn of around 160° a) Mt2055 R1 b) Mt2055 R2 c) Tmem41b R1 d) Tmem41b R2. Blue is C-terminal side of re-entrant loop, pink is N-terminal side of re-entrant loop, yellow is position of the proline. It can be seen that the proline residue is slightly off set from the turning point in some re-entrant loops possibly as a result of inaccuracy in the modelling.

inverted repeat as we infer for the DedA homologues, resulting in pseudo-2-fold axis of symmetry running along the membrane [158]. Again similarly, the Cl<sup>-</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter 3orgA also contains the amphipathic helices on the N-terminal side of the re-entrant loops. The fact that the presence of the amphipathic helices is restricted only to 3orgA and not found in all homologues suggest that these features are not essential for function. A similar distribution of conservation is observed between the putative pore region of Tmem41b and the Cl<sup>-</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter 3orgA (Figure 3.21(d)).

Analysing the sequence of all re-entrant loops of the top cluster (comprising members of the Tmem41b family and the transporters) revealed that they all contain a proline at the turning-point.

A second clustering exercise was implemented where all re-entrant loops in addition to the proceeding 30 residues were extracted from a non-redundant re-entrant loop containing subset of the PDB. The resulting 193 library entries, supplemented with the re-entrant loop features from the *ab initio* models, underwent an all-against-all structural alignment utilising Dali. The Z-scores for these alignments were then used to cluster all the structures. This screen resulted in the Mt2055, Tmem41b and YqjA re-entrant loop feature structures clustering with the re-entrant loop features of Cl<sup>-</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporters; this was a similar result to the original sequence-based clustering; as expected all six re-entrant structures from the query models clustered together. The CLC transporter re-entrant structures of 3orgA (re-entrant 1 and re-entrant 2), 7bxu and 5tqq also clustered with the queries. Additionally, the re-entrant structure from an Undecaprenyl pyrophosphate phosphatase (UppP) (6cb2) also clustered with the queries. UppP is an integral membrane protein that recycles lipid and has structural similarities to CLC transporters [159]. Contact maps derived from the PDB files of CLC and UppP structures show the contact map signature corresponding to the re-entrant/TM helix structural feature (data not shown). Interestingly, the UppP is more similar to the PF09335 family being only 271 residues in length and having only 6 TM helices with UppP being involved in phospholipid trafficking; a function possibly related to autophagosome construction which Tmem41b has been shown to be involved with.

In order to test whether 6cb2 predictions would generate the same contact map features as PF09335 and PF06695 homologues, a TopCons [44] topology prediction was used to compare the predicted membrane topology of 6cb2 to its actual topology. This exercise resulted in TopCons predicting false positive transmembrane helices at the positions of the re-entrant loops, as what was proposed for Tmem41b and



#### Figure 3.21: 3orgA Analysis

(a) Left - Predicted Contact map with repeating units highlighted in yellow boxes, contact map signature of re-entrant loop packed with TM helix in red boxes.; Right - The Experimental Contact map obtained from the PDB structure with repeating units highlighted in yellow boxes, contact map signature of re-entrant loop packed with TM helix in red boxes.
(b) Actual 3orgA topology; grey: TM Helices that are additional to the core; red: TM helices contributing to the formation of the core; orange; re-entrant loops contributing to the formation of the core; green: amphipathic helices contributing to the formation of the core. (c) The 2-fold pseudo symmetry of the amphipathic/re-entrant loop/TM helix core inverted repeat structure of 3orgA with membrane positions shown as grey planes obtained from PDBTM.(d) ConSurf conservation mapping on to the core inverted repeat structure of 3orgA.

homologues. To investigate further, visual representations of the membrane topology from TopCons and the PsiPred secondary structure prediction were plotted along the diagonal of the contact prediction for 6cb2 (Figure 3.22). This clearly highlights that the N- and C- halves of the TopCons false positive predicted transmembrane helices in question were making contact with each other (by a length of around 10 residues). Additionally, the secondary structure plot shows an interruption at the halfway point of the predicted transmembrane helices which would account for the abrupt change in direction of helix in the membrane.

A recent study has identified key residues (Figure 3.23) in the E. coli DedA protein YqjA that, when replaced in site directed mutagenesis experiments, resulted in properly folded (membrane localized) but non-functional proteins unable to complement alkaline pH sensitivity of E. coli YqjA mutant and antibiotic sensitivity of YqjA/YghB double mutant [135]. Highlighting the essential residues (E39, D51, R130 and R136) on the YqjA model is striking as they come together in three-dimensional space with the N-terminal side of the first re-entrant possessing E39 and the C-terminal side possessing D51. R130 and R136 are similarly positioned on the second re-entrant loop (Figure 3.23). Re-entrant loops are known to form pores and here we have two proton-titratable residues (E39, D51) in close proximity to essential basic residues (R130 and R136) within a putative pore. This three-dimensional arrangement of key residues could serve a role in the coupling of the protonation status with the binding of a yet to be characterised substrate as is postulated for the multi-drug H<sup>+</sup> antiporter MdfA [160] where these same residues are located inside a central cavity.

# 3.9 Model Stability

As it can be seen on Figure 3.21(c) that 3org contains additional helices that surround the interfacial helix - re-entrant loop - transmembrane motif. Indeed 3org forms a dimer, where the dimer interfaces are formed by the re-entrant loops and the



#### Figure 3.22: 6cb2 Contact map

Contacts for 6cb2 (black points) and a visual representation of the TopCons topology prediction (green -outside, red – TM helix, yellow-inside, yellow boxes are the re-entrant loop-TM-helix 'signature'). Cross-referencing the first re-entrant contact map feature with the TopCons topology prediction it is clear that the TopCons topology must be wrong; the first TopCons predicted TM helix cannot be making contact with a region out-side of the membrane. Indeed, examination of the crystal structure reveals that the contact feature highlighted does in fact result from a re-entrant loop packed with a TMhelix .

additional transmembrane helices that surround this core. This arrangement ensure the lipid embedded structure is energetically stable [134]. In the proposed model for the PF09335 and PF06695 homologues, the re-entrant loops are not wrapped by other helices thus lipids may interact them; this could be energetically unfavorable. However, the shielding of the re-entrant loops produced by this wrapping could be achieved in Tmem41b and other family members by a similar dimerisation as seen in



Figure 3.23: Annotated Yqja model Essential residues determined by SDM experiments highlighted in pink on a truncated YqjA model

3org. Indeed, homodimers and higher oligomers have been detected experimentally in *E. coli* YqjA [161, 162]. Furthermore, submission of all three of the final models to the DeepHomo server [80] reveals the clustering of moderately strong contact predictions (with a reliability > 0.5) that are not satisfied by the 3D monomeric structure and hence are consistent with homomeric intermolecular interactions being conserved across the family (figure 3.24).

# 3.10 AlphaFold2 Modelling

The recent release of AlphaFold2 (AF2) [79] provided another opportunity to model Tmem41b and related proteins. AF2 constructed models that support the trRosetta monomer predictions (Figure 3.25d); aligning each of the trRossetta models for Mt2055, Tmem41b and YqjA with their respective AF2 counterparts yielded Z-scores of 18.4, 21 and 19.4 respectively. Figure 3.25 provides a visual insight of how the DedA domain modeling evolved during the period of this PhD; displaying the output models from the three incarnations of Rosetta to an AF2 model.





(b) DeepHomo results for Tmem41b

Figure 3.24: DeepHomo Results

The figure depicts two identical monomers displayed side-by-side, highlighting two corresponding residues involved in a contact. Summary of rankings and residue pairs for the top 10 contacts are displayed. The predicted scores range from 0.0 to 1.0, where higher scores indicate a higher likelihood of contact between the residue pairs.

Attempts to model homodimers of Mt2055 utilising the multimer mode of AF2 proved unsuccessful; chains of the output models did not come together to form an interface.

AF2 also gave rise to the opportunity to make structural predictions for another prominent member of the PF09335 family; Vmp1. Attempts to model Vmp1 with Rosetta methods did not result in sensible models, even the DedA domain could not be modeled within the context of Vmp1. Vmp1 is a 406 residue protein and Tmem41b forms complexes *in vitro* and *in vivo* with this other possible Atg protein [163]. Molecular interaction of Tmem41b is not detected with other Atg proteins. Tmem41b knockout cells exhibit inhibition of autophagosome formation and accumulation of lipid droplets [121] [164] Phenotypically Vmp1 knockout cells (KO) resemble Tmem41b KO cells indicating functional redundancy. Exogenous expression of the respective protein in the knockout cells restores function and the overexpression of Vmp1 in Tmem41b knockout cells restores autophagic flux with the reverse not being true [121].

Examination of the Respre predicted contact map for Vmp1 (figure 3.26) predicts there is a bundle of three transmembrane helices on both the N-terminal and



(a) Rosetta ab initio Mt2055 model



(b) RosettaMembrane<sup>mo</sup> Mt2055 model



(d) AF2 Mt2055 model

Figure 3.25: AlphaFold2 Modelling Rainbow spectrum: N-terminal blue to C-terminal red.

C-terminal sides of the conserved DedA structural domain. Analysing the contact features of the DedA domain indicates an atypical pattern when comparing the equivalent region of the contact maps to other PF09335 homologues; the internal symmetry is broken. In the case of the C-terminal side of the DedA domains of Vmp1 the contact map can be interpreted in line with other PF09335 homologues displaying the common features as expected. However, the contact map features for the N-terminal symmetric half show a thirty-residue insertion between the first re-entrant loop and the proceeding transmembrane helix. Here it can be seen that the TM helix simultaneously makes contact with the insertion and the C-terminal half of the re-entrant loop. The insertion is highly conserved; this can be seen by the

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

ConSurf conservation mapping on the diagonal of the Vmp1 contact map. The existence of this insertion could explain why Vmp1 is able carry out its function in the absence of Tmem41b while the reverse is not possible; the insertion may be a structurally essential feature not present in Tmem41b. The experimental evidence suggests that Vmp1 and Tmem41b oligomerise. It is possible that both homo-oligomers and hetero-oligomers form but only those where Vmp1 is present result in a functional protein.

Modelling of Vmp1 using AF2 produced a model where most regions have a high pLDDT scores (Figure 3.28). The model reveals three transmembrane helices upstream not in contact with each other and one downstream from the DedA domain. This is in contrast to the predicted contact map where three transmembrane bundles are expected on both sides of the DedA domain. The familiar DedA domain features are clearly visible but with some differences. Firstly, the N-terminal side amphipathic helix of the DedA domain is missing and an additional amphipathic helix is present on the C-terminal side of the DedA structural domain. Secondly there is a loop region between the first re-entrant loop and the proceeding transmembrane helix, placing this region at the entrance of a putative channel. The loop region corresponds to the insertion highlighted in the examination of the contact map, however, as opposed to the interpretation of the predicted contact map, in the AF2 model the loop insertion is not in contact with the proceeding transmembrane helix as the contact map suggested (Figure 3.27).

The discrepancy between the model and the interpretation of the ResPre predicted contact map can be explained by the fact that if the protein exists in multiple conformations, the contact map would be a superposition of all the alternative conformations; the AF2 would be a representation of one of these conformations. Additionally comparing predicated contact maps derived from alternative methods show that there is a lack of consistency between the various algorithms being used to generating co-variance data for Vmp1.



#### Figure 3.26: Enhanced contact map for Vmp1

Vmp-1 contact map constructed using DeepMetaPSICOV with additional information overlaid on the diagonal. The outer diagonals show the TopCons membrane prediction (red regions being predicted TM helices, green; inside cell, yellow; outside). The thin central diagonal is the secondary structure prediction (orange, helix; blue, coil). Additionally, there is a blue spectrum diagonal which indicates levels of conservation from ConSurf [108] (the darker the blue the higher the level of conservation). Also, the grey (ordered) and lime green (disordered) diagonal utilises disorder predictions from IUPRED2a [165]. R1 is the N-terminal re-entrant loop; R1b is the C-terminal half of the N-terminal re-entrant loop.

Further structural examination of the loop insertion modelled by AF2 was limited as unfortunately the local quality pLDDT scoring for this region is low. ConSurf



Figure 3.27: Topology of Vmp1 derived from the AF2 model Grey: Helices that are additional to the established DedA core; red: TM helices belonging to the established DedA domain; orange; re-entrant loops belonging to the established DedA domain; green: amphipathic helices belonging to the established DedA domain; Blue: Highly conserved DedA domain loop insert. a) Vmp predicted topology derived from predicted contact map analysis. The presence of the amphipathic helix cannot be extrapolated from the predicted contact map, it's presence here is assumed based on helical secondary structure prediction and reference to the DedA domain topology to homologues. The absence, compared other members of the DedA superfamily, of the N-terminal side amphipathic helix is assumed to to the lack of helix secondary structure allocation in this region. b) Vmp predicted topology derived from predicted AF2 structure analysis.

mapping of residue conservation for the insertion loop shows highly conserved regions along this structure. HHpred was used to query the PDB with the sequence making up the length of the mysterious loop, however, no hits were reported.

Examination of the N-terminal half contact map features of the AF2 Vmp1 model does show poor correlation with the predicted contact of the same region (Figure 3.29). This indicates the N-terminal half may not be a valid structural prediction. Vmp1 is part of the DedA family but with an atypical N-terminal domain. AF2 uses the MSA to aid the modelling; any deep MSA will contain other members of the DedA family thereby maybe introducing noise into the N-terminal domain. The



Figure 3.28: Vmp1 AF2 model with ConSurf conservation mapping Arrow indication to conserved loop region.

introduction of this noise could impact on modelling in this region. The introduction of noise through generation of deep MSAs built using a metagenomic database (during a separate piece of research - data not shown) has been shown result in contact signal loss and consequent decrease in model accuracy.

# 3.11 Potential homology between the DedA family and ABC transporters

Performing a HHpred search with the Tmem41b sequence against the full PDB results in a strong hit against the Type I ABC transporter 3d31C. The hit has a 90%



Figure 3.29: Vmp1 AF2 model contact map Red boxes highlight missing three-helical bundles present on predicted contact map. Green box highlights N-terminal half of DedA domain where the AF2 model contact features do not correlate with the predictions.

probability and is across the whole length of the sequence. This finding along with the ABC transporter structural hit with models where the re-entrant loop is forced into a transmembrane conformation points to the possibility that DedA proteins maybe related to ABC transporters. A similar link has been suggested for the transmembrane autophagy protein Atg9 where the N- and C- terminal domains share membrane and tertiary topology (i.e. have a repeat) with sequence similarity identified locally around proline residues in the re-entrant loops and sequence similarity to N- terminal region of the transmembrane domains of T1 ABC exporters [166].

A comparison of the proposed topology of Tmem41b with the topology of 3d31C (figure 3.30) does indeed support an evolutionary link between the two where one side of the re-entrant loop has flipped forming a straight transmembrane helix or alternatively one half of the transmembrane helix has flipped forming a V-shaped re-entrant loop. This 'flipping' has been shown previously in CPA/AT transporters





Figure 3.30: Comparison of topologies of Tmem41b and 3d31C

However, analysis of the HHpred alignment (figure 3.31) does reveal that the structural features do not correspond with each other in sequence indicating that the HHpred hit was a chance hit.



Figure 3.31: Annotated HHpred alignments of Tmem41b and 3d31C

# 3.12 Conclusions

Sequence, co-variance and ab initio modelling analyses show that the Pfam PF09335 and PF06695 domains are distantly homologous. These domains contain a structural core composed of a pseudo-inverse repeat of an amphipathic helix, a re-entrant loop and a TM helix. All PF09335 homologues contain this central core with additional TM- helices flanking either side.

Since the publication of this material [9], the predictions made during this investigation in regard to the presence of re-entrant loops have been experimentally verified by cysteine accessibility method (SCAM) analysis for both Tmem41b [168] and Yqja [162]. The presence of re-entrant loops in a transmembrane protein strongly indicates a transporter or pore functionality since this structural feature has, hitherto, only been found in proteins of this kind [136]. The structural similarities between the DedA proteins and the Cl<sup>-</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporters raise the possibility that the families studied here are, in fact, unsuspected distant homologues having several structural features in common. In that regard it is relevant to recall a hypothesis that DedA proteins are H<sup>+</sup> antiporters as concluded from site-directed mutagenesis (SDM) experiments [169] [170].

Querying the models against the PDB using DALI did not yield any significant hits. However, analysis of the prediction data revealed two features of DedA proteins that independently suggest that they are secondary transporters: both an inverted repeat architecture and the presence of a re-entrant loop, which are both independently and strongly associated with transporter function [158] [136]. Additionally, the fact that DedA proteins show structural similarities with H<sup>+</sup> antiporters indicate that these proteins may also couple substrate transport with an opposing H<sup>+</sup> current. Indeed, the YqjA homologue also contains strategically placed residues known to be involved in H<sup>+</sup> antiporter activity. The *ab initio* models show that the essential residues come together in the region that would be buried in the

membrane potentially forming a substrate chamber consistent with the transport of a specific substrate. Further research needs to be carried out to determine what this substrate is and confirm the mechanism of transport.

The investigation into Tmem41b demonstrates how covariance prediction data have multiple roles in modern structural bioinformatics: not just by acting as restraints for model making and serving for validation of the final models but by predicting domain boundaries and revealing the presence of cryptic internal repeats not evidenced by sequence analysis. Furthermore, contact map features were characterised and proven to be a re-entrant helix signal. This ability to characterise contact map features in relation to re-entrant loops, was very exciting at the time as it gave the possibility to allow detection of this feature in other protein families by contact map analysis. However, the acceleration in the advancement of *ab initio* modelling techniques such as AF2 has to some extent superseded the idea of using contact map features to predict the presence of structural features in uncharacterised proteins from contact maps; AF2 model databases can now be mined with query structures using methods like DALI, making the search for the contact map features obsolete.

# 4 | Modelling of Atg9

# 4.1 Background

The use of covariance methods to successfully predict key structural features that are possessed by the autophagy transmembrane protein Tmem41b and its DedA homologues led to the identification of another transmembrane autophagy protein to potentially structurally characterise; Atg9. Like Tmem41b and Vmp1, Atg9 has been shown to function in the initiation stage of autophagasome formation at the endoplasmic reticulum [171] and its structure and molecular physiological role was a mystery.

In autophagy, Atgs are proteins involved in autophagosome construction. Atg9 is the only transmembrane Atg protein and is the first protein of the core autophagy machinery to arrive at the site of autophagosome construction. Atg2 receives lipids from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and relays them to Atg9 which moves lipids between outer and inner layers of liposomes resulting in growth of the phagophore which develops into an autophagosome [172, 173]. Atg9 deficiency results in phenotypical features including abnormal ER expansion [174], cellular growth defects and impaired phagocytosis [175]. One copy of Atg9 is possessed by most organisms, however, there are examples of species where Atg9 has not been identified at all for example in Alveolata species [176, 177]. There are two human Atg9 homologues; Atg9a and Atg9b. Atg9b is restricted to fetal tissues as well as being present in placental tissues and tissues of the testes [178]. Atg9b has also be

identified in certain cancer cell lines [179, 180]. Atg9a is the predominant form and was the subject of the attempted structural characterisation described in this chapter. Atg9 also functions as a regulator of the innate immune system where it attenuates the actions of STING thereby depressing the immune PRR/TBK1/IRF3 axis pathway [181].

Previous studies have shown that Atg9 is a multi-spanning transmembrane protein and have indicated that both the N- and C-termini are cytosolic with predictions that Atg9 possesses six transmembrane helices [182].

# 4.2 Specific Methods

#### 4.2.1 Transmembrane prediction

TMHMM [41] was used to predict transmembrane helix regions of Atg9. Although other methods such as TopCons are known to be more accurate [44], TMHMM reports the probability that a region is in fact transmembrane rather than outputting a binary 'yes/no' designation. The probability reporting feature of TMHMM was important here as there was the possibility of the presence of an unsuspected transmembrane helix within the accepted topology of Atg9. TMHMM uses algorithms for parameter estimation and transmembrane helix region prediction by utilising hidden Markov models (HMMs) describing hydrophobicity, charge bias, helix lengths, and grammatical constraints.

#### 4.2.2 Homology modelling

The potential homology between Atg9 and the transmembrane domain of Type I ABC transporters was used to construct homology models which provided potentially useful 3-D structures. The software Modeller [101] was used to predict the structure for Atg9 based on its sequence alignment with the transmembrane domain of two HHpred hits of Type I ABC transporters. Modeller used the sequence

alignments as an input in addition to the atomic coordinates of the transmembrane domain of Type I ABC transporters, and a script file. The script file loaded the 'AutoModel' class, created an 'AutoModel' object, and set the parameters to guide the model building procedure. The script also named the 'alnfile' that contained the Atg9-ABC alignment (in the PIR format) as well as defining the known ABC structure in the alignment file. The last line of the script file called the make method and constructed the models. The output of Modeller was a calculated model containing all non-hydrogen atoms. The validity of the models were evaluated by calculating the ResPre [183] predicted contact satisfaction for the top L contacts.

#### 4.2.3 Screening PDB for ABC Transporters

A python script was written that search for and identified the key words 'ABC' or 'CASSETTE' in the title line of each of the PDB files of the PDB. This resulted in 51 ABC structures being detected and being the approximate number of ABC transporters present in the PDB reported in the literature [81, 184].

# 4.3 Sequence Analysis

Initial HHpred screening of the Atg9 sequence against the PDB [185] using HHpred [86] reveals strong hits for the transmembrane domain (TMD) region with a number of several ABC transporters with the alignments covering the putative transmembrane domain of Atg9. The HHpred probabilities ranged from 50-20%. Additionally, all the ABC hits clustered at the top of the probability ranked results.

ABC transporters are a large superfamily [186] of integral membrane proteins that can be subdivided into a number of classes that show a high level of conservation in their nucleotide binding domains (NBDs). The conservation of the NBD is in contrast to the transmembrane domain regions where great diversity is present in terms of both sequence and structure [186].

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

Table 4.1: ECOD ABC Comparison

Domain ID	X Group Name	H Group Name	T Group Name	F Group Name	Protein Name
e5w81A4	Type II ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	ABC_membrane	Cystic fibrosis TM conductance regulator
e4q4hA1	Type II ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	ABC_membrane	ABC transporter
e4f4cA3	Type II ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	ABC_membrane	Multidrug Resistance Protein PGP-1
e3b5xA3	Type II ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	ABC_membrane	LIPID A Export ATP-binding/Permease Protein MSBA
e5ko2A4	Type II ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	ABC_membrane	Multidrug resistance protein 1A
e5u1dA3	Type II ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	ABC_membrane	Antigen peptide transporter 1
e6bl6A2	Type II ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	Type I ABC exporter TMD fold	ABC_membrane	Lipid A export ATP-binding/permease protein MsbA

In order to assess the similarity of the transmembrane domains from the cluster of HHpred Atg9 ABC transporter hits, a Dali [111] all-against-all comparison for these structures was performed. The resulting Z-scores ranged from 19.5-31.3, showing clear structural similarity between these hits (figure 4.1) supporting the idea that the Atg9 ABC transporter hits are probably not chance occurrences.



Figure 4.1: Structural Alignments of ABC Transporter Hits

Querying the ABC transporters identified by HHpred against the Evolutionary Classification of Domain Boundaries (ECOD) database [187] indicated that all the ABC transporter hits were of Type 1 (Table 4.1).

Type 1 ABC transporters have transmembrane domains that are MetI-like. The transmembrane domains of some of this group of ABC transporters are separate proteins [188] from the nucleotide binding domain: this is exemplified by the methionine MetNI ABC transporter. This is in contrast to other type 1 ABC transporters such as ModBC and MalFGK where the NBD and TMD are one complete protein; these are generally larger and their subunits contain six transmemrane

helices. The homologous link between the two types of type 1 ABCs is recognised as the six helices correspond to the MetNI transporter where each MetI subunit is organised around a core of five transmembrane helices. Utilising TMHMM, the Atg9 sequence was used to predict the number of TM helices (figure 4.11b). TMHMM predicted six transmembrane helices, in line with type 1 ABC TMDs. It should be noted that in addition to the strong predictions for the six TM helices, there was a low probability transmembrane prediction signal around residue 250.



Figure 4.2: TMHMM Prediction for TMD of Atg9

The combination of the HHpred probability scores and a lack of other good transmembrane protein matches in addition to the transmembrane topology prediction indicates that the Atg9 transmembrane region could very well have a Type 1 ABC transporter transmembrane domain - like fold.

To validate an ABC transporter-like fold for the putative transmembrane region of Atg9, the identification of any conserved key residues would be useful. Most ABC are transporters (importers or exporters) and all possess a nucleotide binding domain (NBD), at which hydrolysis of ATP provides the energy to drive the active transport. Atg9 does not contain the NBD sequence motifs and therefore obviously lacks NBD so unless it interacts non-covalently with an ATPase, Atg9 is not at least a conventional ABC transporter. Conservation across the transmembrane domains of ABC transporters whose presence could be cross-referenced against Atg9 to validate the TMD ABC matches is not possible as the TMDs of the ABC superfamily are very diverse. Relating the observation of Atg9 having an ABC-like fold to its possible function is therefore not straightforward and cannot be accomplished by sequence

analysis alone. Therefore, it was determined that three-dimensional modelling of Atg9 would be performed. If modelled accurately, an ABC-like fold may be revealed, validating the ABC transporter link.

# 4.4 Homology Modelling

Modeller was used to construct a homology model of the putative transmembrane domain of Atg9. The transmembrane domain of the top two HHpred hits were used as templates; 5w81 and 4q4h; with sequence similarities of 23% and 24% respectively. The sequence alignment was generated using ClustalW [189].

5w81 is the anion channel cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator CFTR. As with standard ABC transporters, CFTR is an active pump powered by ATP hydrolysis and possesses two transmembrane domains and two nucleotide-binding domains. CFTR is, however, atypical in that the channel gating in addition to ATP hydrolysis also requires the phosphorylation of a cytosolic regulatory domain. CFTR has two transmembrane and nucleotide-binding domains and is a single protein with each transmembrane domain containing six transmembrane helices [190]. Figure 4.3 is the output 5w81 template homology model.



Figure 4.3: Homology model for Atg9 (5w81 template)

A second homology model was constructed utilising 4q4h as a template. 4q4h is the crystal structure of TM287/288 ABC exporter and, like 5w81, possesses six transmembrane helices in each TMD [191]. Figure 4.5 shows this output homology





(a) Atg9-5w81 Homology Model Contact Map

(b) Superposition of Atg9 ResPre predicted contacts with the Atg9-5w81 homology model



(c) Precision profile of the Atg9 5w81 homology model

Figure 4.4: Atg9 5w81 Homology Model Quality Determination



Figure 4.5: Homology model for Atg9 (4q4h template)

model.

Performing the predicted contact satisfaction analysis [63] for both homology



(c) Precision profile of the Atg9 4q4h homology model

Figure 4.6: Atg9 4q4h homology model quality determination

models revealed a poor contact satisfaction profile indicating that the correct fold of Atg9 was not achieved through the homology modelling exercise (figures 4.4c and 4.6c). In an effort to determine whether there were any local regions where the modelling had captured the correct fold, the contact maps derived from the ResPre [183] predictions and the homology models were superposed (figures 4.4b and 4.6b). The superpositions did hint at common features (Figures 4.4b and 4.6b). The figures use the homology model as the reference structure; grey points are homology model contacts not present in the predicted contact map while black points are contacts present in the prediction; red points are contacts present in the prediction but not in the model. Analysis proved difficult; it was problematic to

ascertain whether the contact map features were by virtue of alpha helical contacts and therefore not indicative of homology or whether local structural features had actually been actually correctly folded.

# 4.5 Ab initio Modelling

The unsuccessful Atg9 homology modelling trial led to an attempt to construct *ab initio* models for Atg9 in an effort to test the hypothesis that Atg9 possesses an ABC-like fold. A metagenomics-enriched database was employed to obtain as accurate as possible covariance-based contact predictions. The use of the metagenomics database to build the MSA for Atg9 was successful in raising the Neff from 438 (using Uniprot) to 843 for the whole protein. The sequence coverage profile showed that the number of sequences in the MSA covering the C-terminal side after position remain low (Figure 4.7). The boundary at position 500 represents the end of the first domain; indeed, HHpred alignments of Atg9 show the Type I ABC transporters transmembrane domains matching with this first putative domain. Calculating the Neff values for this first domain gave values of 554 when using Uniprot and 1024 when utilising the metagenomics database. JackHMMER [88] was then used to generate the MSAs and ResPre [94] to make the contact predictions based on the metagenomics enhanced MSAs for the putative transmembrane domain of Atg9. The predicted contact information was then used as restraints to construct models using both Rosetta Ab initio and RosettaMembrane protocols. TopCons transmembrane predictions were also used as restraints for RosettaMembrane model building. One thousand models of each were constructed and each of the thousand were clustered using Spicker; the centroid of the largest cluster was selected as the top model. RosettaMembrane models contained a number of larger clusters with the maximum cluster size being 200 and the smallest cluster being 68. This is in contrast to the clustering of the Rosetta Ab initio models where cluster sizes were much smaller with the maximum cluster size being five and the smallest clusters being only



two, indicating that the output models did not converge on a consensus energetic minimum.

The output models from the RosettaMembrane flavour appeared more plausible compared to the outputs from Rosetta *Ab initio*; these models possessed helices packed together in such a way that they could conceivably sit in a membrane bi-layer. Indeed running the top model against the PDB using DALI did result in three ABC transporter hits albeit of the Type II class; 6quz-D (z=3.9), 2lw1-A (z=5.4), and 4MRN-B (z=6). Despite the fact that the resultant RosettaMembrane models appeared visually promising and good PDB structural hits with ABC transporters, quantitative analysis of both the Rosetta *Ab initio* and the RosettaMembrane structural predictions resulted in poor precision scores (Figure 4.8) indicating that the correct fold had not been predicted [74].

### 4.6 Contact Map Analysis

Efforts to obtain evidence of Atg9 and Type I ABC tranporter transmembrane domain homology independent of the HHpred results using homology and *Ab initio* modelling did not yield convincing data. In the case of *Ab initio* modeling this was to be expected as trying to make accurate structural prediction for a 500 residue protein was, at the time, uncommon as large complex proteins present a convergence challenge for *Ab initio* structure prediction (Figure 4.18). The idea of successful *Ab initio* modelling was relying heavily on the contact predictions acting as restraints. Knowing that the contact predictions are very reliable an alternative tool was



(a) Rosetta Ab initio model of Atg9 TMD

(c) RosettaMembrane model of Atg9 TMD

#### Figure 4.8: Ab initio modelling of Atg9

Precision score evaluation of the Rosetta *Ab initio* and RosettaMembrane model in relation to the predicted contacts at various contact cutoff values are shown where L = sequence length (rounded down to the nearest whole number of contacts). The 50% precision cut off is shown (blue line) as a visual marker. A minimum of 70% contact satisfaction for the top L contacts would be suggestive of good quality models [74].

identified that could screen the PDBTM utilising the contact information by passing the need to structurally predict the structure of Atg9; MapAlign [84].

MapAlign was developed in 2017 by the Baker group as a tool to refine the structures of *Ab initio* models. MapAlign was used to identify contact map feature matches to known structures and aid the modelling of large and complex proteins that otherwise would be a challenge for *Ab initio* structure prediction. MapAlign exploits the fact that structural matches can be detected by covariance analysis in the absence of detectable sequence similarity since structural similarity is retained over larger evolutionary distances. MapAlign was used to screen predicted contacts against of the PDB; performing contact-based structure matching by comparing contact maps of the query and target and attempting to align predicted contacts with the contact patterns of experimental structures then highlighting any structural matches. In its original implementation, the matches were then used to refine the *Ab initio* models. MapAlign compares two contact maps and returns an alignment that attempts to maximize the number of overlapping contacts at the same time as attempting to minimise the number of gaps.

MapAlign was employed to screen the predicted contacts of the putative transmembrane domain of Atg9 against a library of non-redundant PDBTM

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

Table 4.2: ECOD classification comparison of the ABC transporter MapAlign hits

 Domain ID
 X Group Name
 H Group Name
 F Group Name
 F Group Name
 F Group Name
 Protein Name

 65/24.2
 Type II ABC exporter TMD fold
 Type I ABC exporter TMD fold
 ABC transporter (HIJPs subfamily)

 esglA2.4
 Type II ABC exporter TMD fold
 Type I ABC exporter TMD fold
 Type I ABC exporter TMD fold
 Machine
 ABC transporter ATP-binding Agreemess protein MqD

 esglA2.4
 Type II ABC exporter TMD fold
 Type I ABC exporte

structures. The input contact predictions for Atg9 were filtered to leave only the medium (above six residues apart) and long range (above twelve residues apart) contacts; this step was taken as the successful usage of MapAlign by the GREMLIN group only utilised these sets of predicted contacts when employing this contact map alignment tool [84] and therefore may have been optimised for these contact categories.

MapAlign provided a list of the 25 top hits ranked by the MapAlign score (a combination of contact satisfaction and gap penalties). The top 25 results listed PDBTM hits that seemed not to be related in any way and there was no clustering of related proteins at the top of the list. Within the top 25 hits there were, however, six ABC transporter hits (Figure 4.2) that, according to the Evolutionary Classification of Protein Domains (ECOD), were all of the Type II class.

The use of the contact map alignment method MapAlign again did not provide definitive hits that would indicate a common co-evolutionary profile between Atg9 and Type I ABC transporter transmembrane domains.

A major issue with both the *Ab initio* modelling and attempted contact map alignment methods is that even with good co-variance information the biologically important contacts it reveals will be a superposition of contacts from different conformational states and if it is an oligomer, intra- and inter-molecular contacts would also be present; if Atg9 is indeed an oligomeric transporter then both of these would result in noise when attempting to model or align contact maps.

# 4.7 Analysis: Low Resolution CryoEM Model

During the investigation into Atg9 a low resolution (7.8Å) CryoEM structure of Arabidopsis Atg9 was published [192]. The group combined contact prediction using co-evolutionary data to construct a model and claim insight into the Atg9 architecture. The group concludes that Atg9 has six transmembrane  $\alpha$ -helices and forms a homotrimer where at the center, the protomers interact via their membrane-embedded and C-terminal cytoplasmic regions.

The published material gave another possible avenue to determine the molecular function of Atg9 and whether it is related to Type I ABC transporters. The conclusion that Atg9 forms a homo-trimer is in conflict with the possibility of the ABC transporter link as there are no ABC transporters that function by forming a trimer; although this could still be possible if Atg9 is only distantly related to ABCs and not explicitly a member of the ABC transporter super family. Careful examination of the data presented in the paper indicate that the authors' conclusions are speculative as the experimental interpretation is dependent on the bioinformatics at this resolution. The team utilised RaptorX [193] to generate the covariance-derived contact predictions, again, the paper does not show the predicted contact map to demonstrate the strength of the inter-helical predictions that are the key information that allowed them to tentatively trace the transmembrane helices. Analysing the data further presented in the paper the authors state that "the final model places  $C\alpha$  of the pairwise residues are within 15 Å of each other in 43 out of the top 46 identified pairs, with an average distance of 10.2 Å. The 7% violated C $\alpha$ - C $\alpha$  distance constraints is in agreement with the observed false-positive rate in previous structure prediction studies of known protein structures using evolutionary covariance."; 15Å was a very generous threshold as contact prediction methods are usually bench-marked with  $C\beta$ (not  $C\alpha$ ) within 8Å. This analysis leads to the possibility that the resolution of the EM-map coupled with information gained from the model of Atg9 was insufficient to dock predicted model in the map as they based their speculation from only small

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

amounts of data. For example, in the section titled the cytoplasmic region:

'Consequently, we ascribe the remaining density in our reconstruction to largely represent the structured domains of the C-terminal regions. The estimated volume of this region is 20% of the density of the entire protomer, which approximately corresponds to the size of a 20 kDa polypeptide and is consistent with the calculated mass of the structured domain (16 kDa). The C-terminal region forms three distinct petal-shaped features around the three-fold axis where the middle loop is tucked behind.'

The structure and the proceeding docking should have been verified; this could have been achieved by using domain (N- or C- terminal) specific antibodies to label these regions in the single particle reconstruction or alternatively use the tagging before going onto structure prediction and docking; this may have improved the particle alignments and resolution. Consequently the experimental data does not offer much constrain to the structure prediction and docking therefore it is only as good as the bioinformatic predictions that were applied.

In order to evaluate the bioinformatic predictions provided in the paper a metagenomic enhanced ResPre contact map with the visualisation of embedded prediction data was constructed and used to compare with the helical contacts described in the Lai et al (2020) paper 4.9. The authors interpretation of their low-resolution map use predicted contacts between transmembrane 1 and 2, 4 and 5, 3 and 6, and 1 and 4, all antiparallel. However, interpretation of the enhanced ResPre contact map strongly supports an orientation between TM1 and 4 as parallel. Also, the ResPre contact data shows a parallel signal between transmembrane 2 and 3. Both the parallel assignments 2-3 and 1-4 are inconsistent with the straightforward topology presented in the paper and suggests that the C- and N- termini are on opposing sides of the membrane rather than the same side (Figure 4.10). This finding prompted a further investigation into the experimental origins of the accepted topology of Atg9 [182]. During the research by Young (2006) they obtained



Figure 4.9: Atg9 ResPre TMD Contact map analysis The Purple box groups predicted transmembrane helical contacts that are accounted for in the Lai et al (2020) paper. Outside of the purple box are predicted transmembrane contacts that the Lai et al (2020) model does not account for. The coloured outlines of the boxes correspond to the positions of the contacts as annotated in the contact map.

experimental data for the topology of the N- and C-terminal domains using in vitro translocation into microsomes, followed by protease protection. This was possible because they had specific antibodies to the N- and C-terminus. The experimental data supported a model of 6 transmembrane helices, with both termini in the cytosol. However, the paper does highlight some property of the putative transmembrane between TM2 and 3 which was determined not to be a transmembrane: Lai et al (2020) also highlight this in their paper from the homology of the plant protein with myosin proteins (Figure S6). This region is also of interest as it contains a large number of conserved residues. Additionally, the data in Young (2006) is more equivocal regarding the orientation of the C-terminus and not as robust as for the N-terminus. This all gives a basis for a possible alternative topology for Atg9.



Figure 4.10: Comparison of Lai et al. low resolution interpretation with our contact data.

a) Comparison of helical contacts with ResPre predicted helical contact features; blue boxes are helical contacts that are consistent with the proposed CryoEM model and green boxes are helical contacts that are inconsistent with the CryoEM model. The coloured outlines of the boxes correspond to the positions of the contacts as annotated in 4.9 contact map. 'A' - parallel, 'AP' - Anti-parallel. b) Established Atg9 topology.

# 4.8 ABC Transporter Survey

The strong co-variance data supports an alternative to the accepted topology for Atg9. The possible existence of an additional transmembrane helix between TM 2 and transmembrane 3 would satisfy the predicted contact map features. Submitting the putative transmembrane domain sequence of Atg9 to the transmembrane helix prediction tool TMHMM, does indeed show a weak signal for a predicted helix between transmembrane 2 and transmembrane 3 (Figure 4.11b). The presence of the weak TMHMM signal between predicted helices transmembrane 2 and 3 prompted an investigation into the possible structural features that are responsible for these
#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

'blips'. As HHpred predicted a evolutionary link between Atg9 and ABC transporters, the sequences for experimentally solved ABC transporter structures were screened for the presence of these weak signals using TMHMM. The transmembrane domains of ABC transporters show low sequence conservation and are structurally divergent, with this diversity being related to their distinct functions. Screening the PDB (see specific methods) for ABC transporters resulted in 51 entries which can be classified into eight ABC transmembrane domain folds; Pgp, ABCG2, MalFG, BtuC, EcfT, LptFG, MacB, and MlaE [194]. The sequences for each of the 51 entries were submitted to a local installation of TMHMM. The TMHMM output results for each sequence were visually inspected. The screening identified ten ABC transporters with at least one weak transmembrane prediction TMHMM signal; 2ONK-C, 3WME-A, 4MRN-B, 4RYZ-A, 4TQV-A, 4TMS-C, 5DO7-A, 5MKK-B, 5NIK-J and 6AN7-D. For each of these the TMHMM profile, predicted contact map and the crystal structure were visually cross referenced in order to identify any structural features that were the origin of the 'blip' being reported by TMHMM (Figure 4.11 shows one example - 3wme). At the same time, contact features for the transmembrane domain of the predicted contact map were annotated to identify their representation on the actual crystal structure with the aim of cross referencing these with any common contact map features present in the Atg9 predicted contact map.

The ABC transporter screen identified three features in ABC transporters that are responsible for a weak TMHMM transmembrane prediction signals; the nucleotide domain binding Q-loop, the extra-cellular domain and certain periplasmic helices (Figure 4.13); none of these structural features would be expected to be present in Atg9 due to the absence of the nucleotide binding domain. Also, such as in 4tqu (Figure 4.13b), a weak TMHMM was produced for a helix that has no specific function stated in the paper [195]. Additionally, there are cases such as in 4yms (Figure 4.13a) where the TMHMM prediction does not match the actual topology; five transmembrane helices are present in the crystal structure but only three were

91



(a) 3wme Experimental Structure. Colour spectrum, blue is N-terminal to red C-terminal. Q-loop highlighted which corresponds to the position of TMHMM 'blip'.

Figure 4.11: Analysis of 3wme TMHMM profile. Red box highlighting 'blip'.

600

predicted.

Analysing the predicted contact map features of the transmembrane domain of the ABC transporters in order to predict the structural feature representing the TMHMM 'blip' for Atg9 revealed that most of these features can be satisfied by the interhelical interfaces in the three dimensional structure when comparing to the contact map of the crystal. There are examples, however, where the features are not satisfied by the structure; contacts responsible for dimer formation being present as well as small contact features that cannot be satisfied by looking at the crystal structure and are possibly as a result of an alternative conformation (Figure 4.12). In conclusion, the ABC transporter survey did not provide a firm indication as to what structural feature Atg9 possesses that would produce the TMHMM 'blip'.



Figure 4.12: 3wme Predicted contact map analysis.

Transmembrane contact map features highlighted with red boxes. Red font indicates contacts that are not present in the contact map of the experimental structure; black font indicates that features are shared by the contact map of the experimental structure. P-parallel, AP-antiparallel, I-inside, O-outside, M-membrane.

# 4.9 Analysis: High Resolution CryoEM Model

A second CryEM model of Atg9 was published (Figure 4.14) [119] and in contrast to the previous published CryEM model it was high resolution at 2.9 Å. The model revealed that Atg9 has a novel fold and is a domain-swapped homotrimer with the N- and C-terminal halves of the transmembrane domain being pseudo repeats; consisting of two transmembrane helices and one re-entrant loop with sequence similarity identified locally around proline residues in the re-entrant loops. The domain swapping involves a domain of one of the subunits that extends into another subunit and interacts with the main domain of this subunit with this interaction being synonymic to that of the same domain in the monomer. In Atg9 two transmembrane helices from one monomer cross over and stack in parallel with two



(d) 6an7

Figure 4.13: Analysis of ABC TMHMM profiles by cross-referencing with experimental structures.

transmembrane helices from the neighboring monomer. The model also reveals an intricate system of cavities that are consistent with its putative role lipid in lipid transport. Also molecular dynamics simulations predict that Atg9 has membrane-bending properties.

Comparing this high resolution accurate model to the bioinformatic work conducted for Atg9, the model did not support a six transmembrane helix topology for the transmembrane domain of Atg9. The CryoEM model shows four transmembrane helices and two re-entrant loops. Transmembrane 1, 2, 4 and 5 (helices 2, 6, 14 and 15) were predicted correctly and transmembrane 3 and 6 (helices 11 and 19) were mis-classified and were actually revealed to be re-entrant loops. The re-entrant loops present are atypical with the cytosolic N-terminal side extending out of the membrane by approximately 6 helical turns and a proline present at the membrane interface causing the helix to turn and run parallel before forming a loop and leaving the membrane on the same cytosolic side (Figure 4.15).

In an effort to identify the mysterious 'blip' on the TMHMM prediction and the contact map features making contact with the 'blip', the relevant regions of the model were examined. The TMHMM 'blip' was triggered by a short alpha helix (helix 9) on



Figure 4.14: Atg9 High resolution CryoEM model Atg9 monomer topology adapted from [119]. Spectrum: Blue-N-terminal to red C-terminal.

the cytosolic side of the membrane between transmembrane helix 1 and the first re-entrant loop. The helix in question makes contact with the alpha helix that extends out of the membrane from the first N-terminal side of the first re-entrant loop (Figure 4.16). Cross referencing transmembrane helical contacts in the cryoEM structure with





Left: Atg9 monomer topology adapted from [119]. Red helices are from and adjacent Atg9 forming the interface. Right: Atg9 trimer (blue are cytosolic regions, yellow are membrane embedded regions, pink are luminal regions and green are interfacial helical regions (boundaries for colouring and membrane planes obtained from the PDBTM [47]).

the predicted contact map features of the transmembrane domain confirms that they are in agreement.





Left: Atg9 monomer topology adapted from [119]. Right: Respre predicted contact map for Atg9. Red boxes are regions of predicted transmembrane helices; green box is the region that contained the TMHMM 'blip'; blue boxes are regions of high sequence conservation.

The successful CryoEM structure determination of Atg9 resulted in two models in alternate conformations. An attempt to utilise contact predictions to indicate the plausibility of a third conformational state was carried out. The two contact maps from the alternate PDB conformation structures were compared to the predicted contact map in an effort to identify features that are present in the predicted map but not in the PDB files. The presence of additional features might indicate that there is another conformational state as the predicted contact map will show superimposed contacts that are important from all conformational states. By subtracting away contacts explained by the known structures and getting any leftover plausible, consistent sets of strongly-predicted contacts would indicate further a biologically important conformation or, of course, contacts relating to oligomeric interfaces. Utilising ConKit the structural contacts sets of the two experimentally determined PDB structures were combined and mapped against the Atg9 predicted contact two-dimensional coordinates (Figure 4.17). The Figure 4.17a contact map on the left shows grey points representing the predicted contacts for Atg9, black points are the predicted contacts satisfied by structural contacts and red points are contacts present in the structure but not present in the predictions. Three predicted contact features (pink, yellow and blue boxes) in the same area of the contact map (green) not present in the structures were identified. The corresponding regions were mapped on to Atg9 (right). In the monomer these contacts could not be explained. Figure 4.17b shows unsatisfied contacting regions from the predicted contacts mapped on to the trimer; the trimeric state accounts for the three sets of contacts not satisfied by the monomer.

Unfortunately, the evolutionary co-variance data did not provide any evidence for a third conformation. The predicted contact map of Atg9 is a superposition of interand intra-chain contacts. The PDB files contain the actual inter- and intra-chain contacts. The contact predictions for Atg9 were all satisfied by the actual contacts from the two Atg9 CryEM structures. Therefore, based on co-variance analysis there were no additional contacts that would be required to suggest an additional

97



(a) Superposition of CryoEM contacts for both conformations with predicted contact maps comparison. Green shaded area indicates transmembrane region where unaccounted contacts are present. Corresponding colours of boxes on the contact map (left) are mapped on to the Atg9 monomer (right) (these shaded regions mirrored across the diagonal). In the monomer these contacts cannot be explained.



(b) Inter-chain contacts. Corresponding colours of boxes on contact map (left Figure 4.17a) are mapped on to the Atg9 trimer.The trimeric state accounts for the three sets of contacts not satisfied by the monomer

Figure 4.17: Atg9 CryoEM Contact Analysis

conformation. However, examining the contact prediction map it can be seen that there are very few contact predictions for the residues after position 600. Visualising the actual contacts for 6wr4 it is true that there are few contacts for residues 600 onward, however, for the 6wqz conformation there are obviously contacts present that were never predicted. Indeed examining the sequence coverage for both the Uniprot and metagenomic MSAs used for the co-variance analysis to construct the contact predictions for Atg9, figure 4.7 reveals that after residue 600 there is poor sequence coverage. The poor sequence coverage for residues after 600 indicates that there is not enough data to perform co-variance analysis here and to make contact predictions for the C-terminal end of Atg9. Therefore, the limitations in data quality mean that a third conformation cannot be ruled out.

In terms of a predicted function or a predicted characterisation of a substrate for this putative transporter further analysis was unable to determine any plausible possibilities. Conservation was mapped on to the PDB structures and regions of high conservation were visualised. The region between helix 7 and 9 along with helix 13 and 12 is highly conserved and therefore critical to structure or function (Figure 4.16).

# 4.10 Potential homology between the Atg9 and ABC transporters

The availability of a high resolution model gave rise to the opportunity to further examine the possibility of obtaining structural evidence to support the HHpred determined sequence similarity to Type I ABC transporters. An attempted DALI pairwise structural alignment could not align the top HHpred PDB hit Type I ABC transporter 5w81 with Atg9. Subsequently both structures were visualised in PyMol and the regions corresponding to HHpred alignment on both structures were highlighted (Figure 4.18).

Assuming that Atg9 and Type 1 ABC transporters are distant homologues, comparing the topologies of the highlighted regions on both models show that the internal repeat unit of Atg9 is similar to the to the region between transmembrane 1 to transmembrane 3 in the ABC transporter; transmembrane 3 of the ABC transporter is not a re-entrant loop (Figure 4.19) and the re-entrant loop has straightened forming a transmembrane helix or alternatively one half of the transmembrane helix has developed a major kink forming forming the unusual Atg9 re-entrant loop. A similar observation of evolutionary modification of transporter helices has been shown previously in CPA/AT transporters [167].

99



Figure 4.18: Atg9 CryoEM comparison to 5w81 Cyan (on left image): regions of alignment of 5w81 with Atg9 (ribbon, non-aligned regions shown as wire); Pink (on right image):regions of alignment of Atg9 with 5w81; Green: non-aligned regions; Blue are highly conserved non aligned regions.



Figure 4.19: Comparison of Atg9 and 5w81 topology Top: Transmembrane domain topology of Atg9; Bottom: Transmembrane domain topology of typical Type 1 ABC transporter.

This structural observation is reinforced by performing a PDB search using HHpred for the first repeat unit of Atg9 (residues 1-300). HHpred reported top scores of 20%-45% probability matches with the N- terminal region of the transmembrane domains of various Type I ABC exporters. The first two N-terminal transmembrane helices of the ABC transporters aligned with the two N-terminal transmembrane helices of Atg9. The third transmembrane helix of the ABC transporter, however, did not align with the N-terminal re-entrant loop; this could be because of a difficulty to broaden the alignment due to the long insertion between transmembrane helix 2 and the first re-entrant loop in Atg9.

The sequence and structural evidence supporting an evolutionary link between Atg9 and Type I ABC transporters has recently been reported by another group [196] who additionally superimposed the Type I ABC transporter, MsbA, bound to its substrate LPS with the C-terminal half of Atg9; interestingly this places LPS in a similar position to lipids bound to Atg9 [197].

## 4.11 Use of Deep Learning Methods

Modelling of Atg9 using traditional fragment based assembly methods, even with meatagenomic derived contact information, was always going to be difficult due to the immense conformational space resulting from Atg9 being a large protein. The release of newer modelling methods utilising distances and side-chain orientations such as DMPfold (Figure 4.20 and Figure 4.22) also struggled with Atg9 modelling where contact satisfaction profiles were poor when compared against the high resolution Atg9 CryoEM model (Figure 4.21 and Figure 4.23). This difficulty in modelling could be related to the fact that Atg9 possesses a novel fold therefore the trained neural networks would have difficulty in constructing a model for a new fold.

The recent release of AlphaFold2 (AF2) [79] provided another opportunity to model Atg9. AF2 was able to construct a highly accurate model (Figure 4.24); aligning the model with the high resolution CryoEM structure 6wqz yielded a Z-score of 50. This is a remarkable feet given that Atg9 has a new fold and AF2 was trained on the PDB in April 2018 when Atg9 was not present. The ability to model proteins where the fold has not been seen before has also been reported previously [81].



Figure 4.20: Atg9 TMD DMPFold Model 1



(a) Contact Map for DMPFold Model 1



(b) Superposition of Atg9 DMPFold Model 1 Contact Map with the High Resolution Atg9 CryoEM contact map



(c) Precision profile of the Atg9 DMPFold model 1 against High Resolution Atg9 CryoEM Contacts

Figure 4.21: Atg9 DMPFold Model 1 Quality Determination



Figure 4.22: Atg9 TMD DMPFold Model 2



(a) Contact Map for DMPFold Model 2



(b) Superposition of Atg9 DMPFold Model 2 Contact Map with the High Resolution Atg9 CryoEM contact map



(c) Precision profile of the Atg9 DMPFold model 2 against High Resolution Atg9 CryoEM Contacts

Figure 4.23: Atg9 DMPFold Model 1 Quality Determination



Figure 4.24: Superposition of AF2 model with CryoEM Atg9 (6wqz) AF2 model shown as rainbow (Blue: N-terminal to Red: C-terminal). CryoEM structure shown as grey.

## 4.12 Conclusions

The aim of the investigation into Atg9 was to build on the success of the Tmem41b study (Chapter 3) of using contact information to build plausible models and relate features of the models to function. The attempt to structurally characterise Atg9 utilised contact information in three ways; comparing the crude homology models obtained by assuming an ABC-like fold with the predicted contact map directly, comparing the predicted contact map of Atg9 with actual contact maps of folds in the PDB (in addition to recently released CryEM models) and in making models. Unlike Tmem41b, Atg9 is a large complex protein and successfully exploiting the methods

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

utilised for Tmem41b proved difficult. The eventual release of a high resolution model for Atg9 showed structural parallels with Tmem41b; the presence of re-entrant loops and a pseudo repeat. However, unlike Tmem41b these features could not be deciphered through contact map analysis as Atg9 is much larger and complex in comparison to the DedA domain of Tmem41b. A repeating set of contact map features could not be identified in the contact map of Atg9 as opposed to Tmem41b where a repeat in the form of contact map features is clearly visible. The re-entrant loops present in Atg9 are very unusual and have not been reported in any other solved structure. Like Tmem41b these re-entrant loops have a conserved proline at their turning point and the residues on either side of this proline are highly conserved. However, in contrast to Tmem41b where the angle between the N-terminal and C-terminal halves of the re-entrant loops in Atg9 are much wider apart and are not in contact therefore would not produce any contact map features.

An evolutionary relationship between the transmembrane region of Atg9 and the transmembrane region of Type I ABC transporters is a possibility given the sequence and structural similarities. Failure of the homology modelling is explainable knowing that two of the six ABC homologous transmembrane helices possess a large kink resulting in the formation of re-entrant loops in place of the equivalent transmembrane helices in Type I ABC transporters. It would be plausible to hypothesise that Atg9 evolved from Type 1 ABC transporters given the much broader species distribution of ABCs with Atg9 evolving much later.

Currently most phylogenies of ABC transporters rely on the most conserved part of the protein which is the nucleotide binding domain and further investigation into the similarity between Type I ABC transporters and Atg9 is required to fully understand the evolutionary relationship between them.

Although a high resolution model now exists for Atg9, the availability of new

104

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

highly accurate protein structure prediction methods such as AlphaFold2 will allow the opportunity to model Atg9 protein-protein complexes to aid the understanding of Atg9 behaviour. Atg9 is known to interact with a variety of proteins in the process of autophagasome construction such as ULK1 and Atg2 [198]. Atg9 has also been shown to modulate elements of the primary immune response through its interaction with STING [198]. Attempted Alphafold modelling of these complexes may help to provide evidence of whether these interactions are indeed direct or whether other proteins mediate the interaction.

# 5 | *Re-entrant loop search*

### 5.1 Introduction

The identification of re-entrant loop structures present in both the Tmem41b and Atg9 targets prompted an investigation into how prevalent these specific structural features are.

Historically it was thought that alpha helical transmembrane proteins form helical bundles of parallel/antiparallel helices that cross the membrane in perpendicular orientations. However, as more and more alpha helical membrane proteins were solved, their structures revealed more complex structural topologies. One such structural feature possessed by some alpha helical transmembrane proteins is the re-entrant loop. Rather than entering the membrane orthogonally and leaving the opposite side, the re-entrant loop enters the membrane on one side and then turns back to the same side from which it originated and leaves (Figure 5.1). Re-entrant loops were initially reported in the early 1990s in the cardiac Na<sup>+</sup>/Ca<sup>2+</sup> exchanger [152]. Since then re-entrant loops have been detected in other membrane transporters and channels such as aquaporins [153], potassium channels [154] and chloride channels [155].

Previous studies [136] have grouped re-entrant loops into three categories. The classification was based on secondary structure distribution along the length of the re-entrant loop. The re-entrant loops were classed as a helix–coil–helix, helix–coil, coil–helix motifs or regions of entirely of irregular secondary structure [136]. It has



Figure 5.1: An inverse pseudo repeat topology showing types of alpha-helical transmembrane structure motifs

Green: amphipathic helix, red: transmembrane helix, orange: re-entrant loop.

been demonstrated that smaller residues are over represented in re-entrant loops and that the hydrophobicity distribution for re-entrant loops is not symmetric when comparing to transmembrane helices [136].



Figure 5.2: Comparison of smoothed hydrophobicity profiles for protein sequences of re-entrant loops and transmembrane helices.

Position 0 is the deepest residue embedded in the membrane (adapted from [136]).

Sequence methods have been developed which attempted to predict the presence of re-entrant loops utilising hidden Markov models [43, 136]. These methods have been used to predict that more than 10% of transmembrane proteins contain re-entrant loops and that the their presence increases linearly with the number of transmembrane regions. These studies also indicate that re-entrant loops are most commonly found in channel proteins and least commonly in signal receptors [43].

The research into DedA proteins described in chapter 3 predicted that the re-entrant loops present in these proteins form part of an inverse pseudo repeat (Figure 5.2) where they face one another in the membrane with each re-entrant loop in contact with a transmembrane helix. This architecture has also been highlighted other proteins such as aquaporins [199], ion-coupled transporters (where the re-entrant loops are responsible for recognising ions such as Cl<sup>-</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) [200], and undecaprenyl-diphosphatase (UppP) (where they recognise head groups of phospholipids) [201]. Face-to-face re-entrant loops are also known to recognise small hydrophilic molecules such as uridine and glutamate [200]. It is common for the re-entrant loops within these structures to possess a highly conserved proline at the turning point (the residue embedded deepest in the membrane) [9] and display an inconsistent hydrophobicity distribution where C-terminal side is more hydrophilic in contrast with transmembrane helices where hydrophobicity distribution is more consistent [136].

The subsequent research into Atg9 revealed the presence of two re-entrant loops with topologies not reported previously. The high resolution CryoEM structure of human Atg9 was shown to possess four transmembrane helices, and two re-entrant loops (Figure 4.15). One re-entrant loop is seen to penetrate far into the membrane with its C-terminal half being parallel to bilayer. The other re-entrant loop is atypically long and the helix extends from the membrane far into the cytosol; this forms a structural scaffold that makes contact with different parts of the oligomer. The turning points of both re-entrant loops are formed by highly conserved proline residues (Figure 5.3) [119].

The identification of the DedA re-entrant structural motif (re-entrant loop in contact with its proceeding tranmembrane helix) as well as the unusual Atg9

108



Figure 5.3: Atg9 Topology Atg9 monomer topology adapted from [119]. Red helices are from and adjacent Atg9 forming the interface.

re-entrant loops prompted an investigation into the prevalence of these structures within Pfam [85] and the human proteome.

# 5.2 Specific Methods

## 5.2.1 Building the trRosetta Transmembrane Pfam Database

#### Phase 1

The following Pfam-A\_v34.0 files were downloaded from Pfam server for local use: other\_reg.txt, pfamA.txt and pfamA\_reg\_seed.txt.

A 'transmembrane protein list' was constructed by filtering the 'other\_reg.txt' file to provide a list of 'pfamseq\_acc' numbers for all sequences with at least one transmembrane region predicted by Phobius [202]. Each 'pfamseq\_acc' in the list was cross-referenced with the 'pfamA\_reg\_seed' table to obtain the Pfam accession numbers of all seed sequences possessing at least one Phobius predicted transmembrane region. The resulting list was then filtered leaving one (random) seed sequence for each Pfam domain. A final round of filtering was performed to remove any sequences that had less than two predicted transmembrane regions within the Pfam domain boundaries (Figure 5.4).



Using 'other\_reg' table the 'pfamA\_reg\_seed' table was filtered leaving all seed sequences with 'transmembrane' regions (pfamseq\_acc used as key)



Filtered further leaving one (random) seed sequence for each pfam\_acc (18259 sequences)



Final filtering removing pfam\_acc where <2 transmembrane regions within Pfam boundaries (1377 sequences)

Figure 5.4: Pfam transmembrane filtering.

From a total of 18259 Pfam members, 14538 had no predicted Phobius transmembrane regions; 1401 had at least one transmembrane region outside of the Pfam domain; 944 had one transmembrane region within the Pfam boundaries; 1377 had a minimum of two transmembrane regions with the Pfam boundaries. The 1337 seed representatives were then modelled using a local installation of trRosetta.

The models then underwent a local Dali [111] all against all and the Z-scores were used to cluster the models using CLANS [137] with the expectation that clusters resembling Pfam Clans would form. A 0.1 attraction value was used and singletons removed. Examination of the largest cluster revealed not only multiple members of Pfam Clan CL0182 (Ion Transporter Superfamily) but additional Pfam members that were not recorded members of the CL0182 Clan. Investigation into these potentially new members of CL0182 revealed these proteins had multiple Pfam domains resulting in strong structural alignments outside of the Pfam boundaries for the



representative Pfam model (Figure 5.5).

Figure 5.5: Structural alignment of PF11874 model with model of CL0182 member PF06808

Top: Contact density profile for trRosetta model PF11874 with estimated positions of structural domain boundaries. Green represents CL0182 region. Orange represents PF11874

region. Bottom: Structural alignment of PF11874 trRosetta model with PF06808. Green represents CL0182 region. Orange represents PF11874 region. Magenta is the additional Pfam domain.

In order to overcome this issue the clustering of the models was

re-implemented.

#### Phase 2

Models that had only one Pfam domain annotation formed an initial library of 1076 entries. Each of the 261 models that possessed more than one Pfam label were were partitioned into their structural domains using SWORD (Swift and Optimized Recognition of Domains) [203] rather than relying on Pfam domain boundaries as these have been shown sometimes not to reflect the actual structural boundaries [9]. The SWORD output lists a number of partitioning solutions; the highest ranking solution that possessed the whole Pfam domain in one partition was chosen. This partition was then added to the library. SWORD was unable to partition 25 of the 261 proteins that possessed more than one Pfam domain, in which case the Pfam domain boundaries were used to truncate the model (Figure 5.6).

PDB: PF11874.pdb ASSIGNMENT #D Min  4  103 1-222;460-562 223-369;429-459;563-680 370-428;681-739;843-874 740-842  3.922695  *:	***
7  59  1-222:530-562 223-369:429-459 370-428 460-529 563-680 681-739:843-874 740-842  3,708218	**
6 70 1-222;530-562 223-369;429-459 370-428;681-739;843-874 460-529 563-680 740-842 3.769062	**
5  103 1-222;460-562 223-369;429-459 370-428;681-739;843-874 563-680 740-842  3.853326	**
4  103 1-222;460-562 223-369;429-459;563-680 370-428;681-739;843-874 740-842  3.922695  *	***
3  253  1-222;460-562 223-369;429-459;563-680 370-428;681-874  4.015877  ****	
2 325 1-222;460-562 223-459;563-874 4.065507 ****	
1  874  1-874  0.000000  n/a	

Figure 5.6: SWORD output for model PF11874

Next, in order to provide validity to the trRosetta modelling of the Pfam domains, available experimental structures were also added to the library. Of the 1337 transmembrane Pfam domains modelled, 306 had at least one experimental structure (5215 structures in total). 2385 of these structures possessed only one Pfam domain which represents 187 out of the 306 Pfam domains with an experimental structure. These 2385 experimental structures were filtered to leave one representative for an individual Pfam domain (highest resolution selected - if there were equal resolutions both were selected, giving opportunity to include alternative conformations); 222 (for 187 transmembrane Pfam domains) experimental structures representing transmembrane Pfam domains were added to the library.

The sequences of the trRosetta models from the library were then used to mine the EBI AlphaFold database for homologues utilising MrParse [204]. For a query sequence MrParse identifies and ranks homologues in the EBI AlphaFold database. Models with the highest H-score (measure of structural quality; percentage of residues with a given pLDDT score) were selected. MrParse provided 865 models that were truncated removing either side of the aligned region. The 865 AlphaFold2 models identified were used to supplement the library of trRosetta and experimental models. 165 of the AlphaFold2 models had an experimental representative in the library (Figure 5.7).



Figure 5.7: Transmembrane Pfam structural library construction

The library then underwent an all-against-all structural alignment using a local installation of Dali. The Z-scores were then used to cluster the models in CLANS. Initially the default 0.1 attraction value setting with a minimum of one link and singletons were removed. Examination of the largest cluster revealed multiple members of Pfam Clan CL0192 (Rhodopsin Superfamily). In order to determine the optimal attraction value to use in the clustering process, members of the largest cluster were surveyed when clustered using different attraction values. An attraction value of 0.25 was deemed optimal; values above this resulted in loss of Pfam CL0192 members; values below this resulted in additional members of the cluster outside of Pfam CL0192 membership that possessed Z-scores under 5 when aligned with experimental representatives of CL0192. Also, lowering the attraction value resulted in distribution of Z-scores to ebb towards the lower end (Figure 5.8). Utilising the

attraction value of 0.25 resulted in the median Z-scores being greater than the mean indicating that the distribution is negatively skewed i.e. the cluster is favouring higher Z-scores.



(a) Z-score distribution for members of the largest cluster at 0.25 attraction value



(b) Z-score distribution for members of the largest cluster at 0.2 attraction value

Figure 5.8: Comparison of Z-score distribution for members of the largest cluster for 0.25 and 0.2 attraction values.

Violin plots visualising Z-score distribution for the largest cluster. Superimposed box-plot indicates the range and interquartile range as well median for the Z-scores of the cluster. The superimposed Swarm plot visualised the position within the distribution of Pfam model self-hits (AlphaFold2 with trRosetta/AlphaFold2 with experimental/trRosetta with experimental)

## 5.3 Re-entrant loop survey

A library of re-entrant loop sequences was built by obtaining a non-redundant set of 56 re-entrant helix sequences by first retrieving all 714 TM proteins that contain at least one re-entrant loop from the PDBTM [47] and removing redundancy with a 40% identity threshold. The resulting 127 protein structures were split into their component chains, eliminating any chain lacking a re-entrant loop. As some chains possessed more than one re-entrant loop it resulted in a set of 193 unique re-entrant loop sequences.

The previous chapters highlighted the presence of proline at the turning points of the re-rentrant loops possessed by the query proteins. The observation of the presence of proline at this key region of re-entrant loops prompted a survey of the

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)

proline content of re-entrant loops. The survey analysed the sequences from the 193 re-entrant loop sequence library and revealed that 44% (85/193) of structures in the library contained at least one proline residue. This proportion jumps to 76% (29/38) when a filter of a minimum re-entant loop length of 18 is applied. This is in contrast to transmembrane helices and interfacial helices (whose sequences were extracted from the PDBTM) where only 39% (2386/6056) and 30% (215/712) respectively contain at least one proline residue. Proline is an atypical amino acid as its side chain is connected to the protein backbone twice which results in a five-membered nitrogen-containing ring making it unable to form many of the main chain conformations that can be adopted by the other amino acids [205]; consequently proline is often located in tight turns where there is sharp change in direction. The presence of proline can also cause kinks in alpha helices as it cannot form a normal helical conformation. Furthermore, there is evidence that even for non-proline kinks, it is proline that first introduced this conformation but subsequently became redundant as tertiary contacts consolidated the structure [206]. Functionally, prolines also prevent membrane protein misfolding [207]. Interestingly, there are examples where the presence of proline in a re-entrant loop allows it to act as a pivot, enabling the two segments of the loop to switch between states through a conformational change [208, 209]. Even though the importance of prolines is well understood and transmembrane sequences from the Human Gene Mutation Database [210] have one of the highest phenotypic incidences for proline substitutions, their evolution is poorly understood as proline substitutions are difficult establish resulting from the dramatic structural changes that would occur [211]. Additionally it has been shown that proline contributes to structural and thermodynamic transmembrane complex stabilization [212].

115

## 5.4 Pfam Re-entrant Screen

To screen Pfam for structures that possess the re-entrant/TM helix structural motif, a library of transmembrane Pfam models was constructed (see 5.2.1). The library contained a trRosetta representative model for each of the 1377 transmembrane Pfam families in addition to being supplemented by 222 experimental structures and 865 AlphaFold2 models. The library underwent an all-against-all structural alignment using a local installation of Dali. 164 of the transmembrane Pfam entries in addition to the trRosetta model had a AlphaFold2 and experimental representative. As expected, the comparison of the structural alignments of the AlphaFold2 and trRosetta models with their corresponding experimental structure yielded mean Z-scores of 19.5 with a range of 0.1-60 and 15 with a range of 0.1-40 respectively (Figure 5.9).



Figure 5.9: Comparison of trRosetta and AlphaFold2. Comparison of the trRosetta and AlphaFold2 structural alignments with their corresponding experimental structure. Red: AlphaFold2; Blue: trRosetta.

Next the distribution of the Dali Z-scores with their corresponding experimental structure was examined (Figure 5.10). For both AlphaFold2 and trRosetta the modal class Z-score was 10-15 with AlphaFold2 being able to achieve Z-scores beyond 45,



#### outperforming trRosetta.

Figure 5.10: Comparison of trRosetta and AlphaFold Structural alignment distributions Comparison of the distribution of the trRosetta and AlphaFold2 structural alignment Dali Z-scores with their corresponding experimental structure. Red: AlphaFold2; Blue: trRosetta.

The Z-scores were then used to cluster the models using CLANS with the expectation that clusters resembling Pfam Clans would form. A 0.25 attraction value was used with a minimum of one link and singletons removed.

Examination of the largest cluster revealed not only multiple members of Pfam Clan CL0192 (Rhodopsin Superfamily) but additional Pfam members that were not recorded members of the CL0192 Clan. The cluster consisted of a total of 100 members, capturing 39 out of the 45 Pfam representatives of CL0192 members (78 structures in total - trRosetta/AlphaFold2/experimental) as well as one out of the CL0347 (Tetraspannin-like) members. Additionally 11 Pfam representatives (totalling 21) were present that did not belong to a Pfam Clan. Table 5.1 gives a breakdown for the 20 largest clusters. Distributions of Z-scores for the 17 largest clusters that possess Pfam domains outside of the dominant Pfam clan are shown in Figure 5.11

Cluster 9 was made up of experimental structures spanning 6 different Pfam families. Visual inspection of the structural alignments showed that the structurally diverse transmembrane regions possessed beta sheet architecture in common. Analysis with HHpred against these beta sheet regions to detect homologous

Table 5.1: Cluster composition of the 20 largest clusters (based on Z-score) of the model library entries

Cluster	Size	Dominant Clan	Other Clans	Possible New Members
1	100	CL0192 (39/45)	CL0347 (1/6)	11
2	47	CL0015 (20/23)	N/A	3
3	37	CL0062 (15/20)	N/A	1
4	32	CL0182 (19/19)	N/A	3
5	30	CL0111 (16/19)	N/A	5
6	27	CL0064 (12/13)	CL0142 (1/7)	1
7	25	CL0184 (13/22)	N/A	0
8	19	CL0375 (8/13)	CL0396 (1/2)	2
9	14	All exp struct from 6 Pfam clans	N/A	N/A
10	13	CL0222 (5/7)	N/A	1
11	12	CL0181 (8/17)	N/A	1
12	12	CL0308 (3/3)	CL0340 (2/4)	3
13	11	CL0062 (5/20)	N/A	1
14	11	CL0176 (4/4)	N/A	1
15	11	CL0315 (10/11)	N/A	0
16	10	CL0322 (5/5)	N/A	0
17	8	CL0307 (6/9)	N/A	0
18	8	N/A	N/A	5
19	8	CL0425 (2/3)	N/A	2
20	7	N/A	N/A	3

Values in the size column represent the total number of models in the cluster. Values in parenthesis indicate the number of unique Pfam model accessions out of total established members present in the cluster. Values in the possible new members column are the number of unique Pfam model accessions present in the cluster that do not belong to the dominant clan.

#### Shahram Mesdaghi (962096127)



(p) Cluster 20

Figure 5.11: Z-score distribution visualisations for the 16 largest clusters possessing Pfam domains outside of the dominant Pfam clan Violin plots: Z-score distribution. Box-plots: range/interquartile range/median. Swarm plot: position within the distribution of Pfam model self-hits (AlphaFold2 with trRosetta/AlphaFold2 with experimental/trRosetta with experimental)

domains showed that they were Ig-like domains.

Surveying the members of cluster 1, 6, 8, and 12 revealed that members of two Pfam clans were present in addition to Pfam representatives not belonging to any clan. For example, cluster 8 consisted of 19 members; 16 (8 unique Pfam members) belonged to CL0375 (Transporter superfamily, four TM region of clan 13 members); 1 member (PF01284) belonged to CL0396 (The MAL and related proteins for vesicle trafficking and membrane link (MARVEL) domain of 2 clan members); 2 (PF15108 and PF14985) did not belong to any Pfam clan. Visual inspection of the structural alignments between the crystal representative of CL0375 (PF00822 - pdb code: 4P79), the CL0396 members and the Pfam models not belonging to a clan show strong similarity that is indicative of homology (Figure 5.12).



Figure 5.12: Structural alignment for Cluster 8 members Dali structural alignment for CL0375 member PF00822 - pdb code: 4P79 (green); CL0396 member, PF01284 (AF2 model) (magenta); PF15108 (AF2 model) (Orange); PF14985 (AF2 model)(cyan).

Both PF15108 and PF14985 do not currently belong to any Pfam clan. PF14985 (TMEM140) has been shown to suppress the viability, migration, and invasion of cancer cells [213]. A HHpred screen of a PF14985 representative against Pfam show a 100% probability hit with PF15108 (as well as itself). PF15108, also known as TMEM37, is a voltage-dependent calcium channel gamma-like subunit protein. The  $\gamma$  subunits are a family of 8 protein subunits; type 1,6 are regulators for trafficking

activation of muscle voltage dependent calcium channel (VDCC); types 2,3,4,8 are involved in the AMPA glutamate receptor localisation in the brain; type 5 and 7 have an unknown function [214].

Two of the clusters (18 and 20) contained Pfam families that were not labelled as Pfam clans. Cluster 18 was composed of 5 bacterial DUFs (PF06790, PF04854, PF06161,PF07264, PF09955). Cluster 20 was made up of 3 unique Pfam representatives (PF00230, PF10136, PF01226) across 7 models. PF01226 (Major intrinsic protein\_MIP) and PF01226 (Formate/nitrite transporter) are both transporters, however, PF10136 is labelled as 'Site-specific recombinase'. The structural alignment of the trRosetta model of PF10136 from cluster 20 with an experimental structure representative (PF01226, 3TDS) from the cluster (Figure 5.13) shows obvious structural homology. This structural match contradicted its Pfam annotated functions. Indeed, during this investigation Pfam was updated and the new version included a new Clan linking PF00230, PF10136 and PF01226 together (CL0716 - Aquaporin-like). Additionally further annotation for the PF10136 entry states that there is no evidence that PF10136 is a recombinase and this may be a misannotation.



Figure 5.13: Structural alignment between PF10136 and 3DTS Dali structural alignment for PF10136 (magenta) and 3DTS (green)

In summary, the clustering of the transmembrane Pfam model library identified homology beyond what sequence analysis can accomplish. The clustering was successful in identifying new homology connections between Pfam members such as the PF15108 and PF14985 being structural neighbours to members of the CL0375 Pfam clan. The exercise also showed links between Pfam members that did not currently belong to a Pfam clan; PF00230, PF10136 and PF01226. Furthermore, the clustering exercise identified links between clans that were not previously known; CL0375 and CL0396.

### 5.4.1 Pfam Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif Screen

Figure 5.14 shows the Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif motif (re-entrant loop in contact with its proceeding trasmembrane helix) that was identified during the investigation into the structure and function of the DedA protein family. These motifs have only been reported in tranporter proteins. The identification of the DedA re-entrant structural motif prompted an investigation into the prevalence of these structures within Pfam [85] as well as to being able to infer transporter function for Pfam families that have an unknown function.



Figure 5.14: Re-entrant/TM helix motif Left: Re-entrant/TM helix motif contact map. Right: strutural model of Re-entrant/TM helix motif (red: transmembrane helix, orange: re-entrant loop).

The re-entrant/TM helix structural motif library of 192 members (see Chapter 3 methods) underwent a pairwise screen against the Pfam transmembrane library using a local installation of Dali.

An initial check looked at the hits for the N-terminal re-entrant/TM helix structural motif from the eukaryotic CLC transporter 3ORG [134]. As expected the

Hit Name	CLAN	z	Pfam Name	Pfam Description
PF13194	NULL	5.2	Domain of unknown function (DUF4010)	This is a family of putative membrane proteins found in archaea and bacteria. It is sometimes found C terminal to Pfam:PF02308.
PF10852	NULL	4.6	Protein of unknown function (DUF2651)	This family of proteins with unknown function appears to be restricted to Bacillus spp.
PF06450	CL0182	4.4	Bacterial Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter B (NhaB)	This family consists of several bacterial Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter B (NhaB) proteins. The exact function of this family is unknown.
PF03606	CL0182	4.2	C4-dicarboxylate anaerobic carrier	NULL
PF03806	CL0182	4	AbgT putative transporter family	NULL
PF06450 PF03606 PF03806	CL0182 CL0182 CL0182	4.4 4.2 4	Bacterial Na <sup>+</sup> /H <sup>+</sup> antiporter B (NhaB)   C4-dicarboxylate anaerobic carrier   AbgT putative transporter family	(NhaB) proteins. The exact function of this family is unknown. NULL NULL

Table 5.2: Dali hits for 3org re-entrant loop/TM helix structural motif

top hit with a Z-score of 6.1 was with the PF00654 (CLC transporter family) (Figure 5.15).



Figure 5.15: Structural alignment between PF00654 (CLC) and 3ORG re-entrant/TM helix structural motif Dali structural alignment for PF00654 (CLC) (magenta) and 3ORG N-terminal re-entrant/TM helix structural motif (green).

Additionally, as expected, inspection of the re-entrant/TM helix structural motif hits for PF09335 (SNARE\_assoc - DedA domain) (Figure 5.16a) and PF06695 (Sm\_multidrug\_ex - member of the DedA superfamily) (Figure 5.16b) brought together the re-entrant/TM helix structural motif of 3ORG, 5TQQ, 3ND0, 3DET, 6COY (all Cl<sup>-</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporters), 5l25 (boron exchanger), 2n4x (electron transporter albeit classified as a member of the lysine exporter superfamily [157]) and 5z10 (mechanogated channel), all with Z-scores between 4 and 6.1.

Next the Pfam model hits for the re-entrant loop/TM helix structural motif that had a Z-score greater than 4 were examined (Table 5.2).

Three of the hits with the Chloride channel re-entrant loop/TM helix structural



(a) Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif hits for PF09335 (SNARE\_assoc -DedA domain)



(b) Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif hitsPF06695 (Sm\_multidrug\_exmember of the DedA super family)

Figure 5.16: Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif hits for PF09335 and PF06695 Magenta - Pfam representative model; Green are the Re-entrant/TM helix structural hits.

motif belong to the Pfam clan CL0182 (Ion Transporter (IT) Superfamily). Members of this family are known to possess re-entrant loops and have an pseudo inverse repeat topology. A more detailed examination of this clan is detailed in Chapter 6. Additionally two other significant hits were recorded; both being bacterial domains of unknown function (PF13194 - DUF4010 and PF10852 - DUF2651). It can be seen from visual inspection of the structural alignment of the PF10852 model and the 3ORG query motif that DUF2651 does not possess the re-entrant/TM helix motif and was a false positive hit (Figure 5.17b). Inspection of the PF13194 structural alignment (Figure 5.17a) verifies that DUF4010 does indeed possess the query motif.

A detailed inspection of the representative model of DUF4010 shows two transmembrane domains where the N-terminal domain represents PF02308 and the C-terminal domain represents PF10852. The PF10852 domain possess two re-entrant/TM helix motifs facing each other in the membrane and contributes to a pseudo inverse repeat architecture that is only known to be found in transporters. An investigation into common domain organisation structures involving DUF4010 identified that DUF4010 is commonly found with MgtC (PF02308) which also has an unknown function. MgtC is, however, known to be found in an operon with the



(a) Structural alignment of re-entrant/TM helix structural motif of 3ORG with the PF13194 model



(b) Structural alignment of re-entrant/TM helix structural motif of 3org with the PF10852 model

Figure 5.17: Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif structural alignments with PF13194 and PF10852

Green - Pfam representative model; Magenta are the Re-entrant/TM helix structural motif from 3 org.

 ${\rm Mg}^{2+}$  transporter ATPase protein MgtB [215]. The observation that PF10852 possesses re-entrant/TM helix motifs facing each other in the membrane and part of a pseudo inverse repeat architecture suggests it is a transporter; the fact that PF10852 is commonly found in proteins with the Pfam domain MgtC which is transcribed along side MgtB suggests that PF10852 is transporting a substrate relating to the transport of Mg<sup>2+</sup>.

# 5.5 Re-entrant/TM helix motif human AlphaFold database Screen

The availability of the new highly accurate AlphaFold2 models gave the opportunity to identify the presence of re-entrant/TM helix motifs in other proteins within the human proteome. The human AlphaFold database [82] was screened with the both the N- and C-terminal re-entrant/TM helix motif from a human, bacterial and archaeal DedA representative; Tmem41b, YqjA and Mt2055, respectively. The screen resulted in a list of 559 non redundant hits with a Z-score of more than 4. This list was further filtered removing hits that were predicted not to possess a minimum of one transmembrane helix. The structural alignments of the resulting 217 hits were visually inspected for the presence of re-entrant loops (Figure 5.18).



(a) Mt2055 C-terminal re-entrant/TM helix motif (magenta) structural alignments with the AlphaFold2 Solute Carrier Family 2 Facilitated Glucose Transporter (green)



(b) Self-hit of Tmem41b C-terminal re-entrant motif (magenta) structural alignments with the Tmem41b C-terminal re-entrant motif (green)

#### Figure 5.18: False positive hits.

False positive hits were mainly due to the re-entrant loop of the query structure aligning with two transmembrane helices in contact with one another (a) as opposed to a true positive hit where the query clearly has aligned with a corresponding re-entrant/TM helix structural motif (b)
Thirty proteins were determined to exhibit a re-entrant loop/TM helix motif within the structurally aligned region. The OMP server was then used to place the structures into a plasma membrane in order to determine whether the re-entrant motif actually sits within the membrane bi-layer boundaries rather than being part of a globular domain. Indeed, performing a re-entrant/TM helix motif screen against the full PDB using PDBeFold [114] it can be seen that these structural motifs are also found in globular proteins e.g. 4xrm (Figure 5.19a). Furthermore examination of the hydrophobicity profile of the globular equivalent re-entrant/TM helix motif reveals the same inconsistent hydrophobicity distribution as seen in transmembrane re-entrant loops where C terminal side is more hydrophilic (figure 5.19b).



Figure 5.19: 4xrm comparison with 6cb2 re-entrant/TM helix structural motif

Subsequently, 27 of the 30 models were confirmed to possess the re-entrant loop/TM helix motif within the membrane boundaries after visual inspection (see example Figure 5.20a). Furthermore, the detailed visual inspection revealed that in 16 of the models although the re-entrant loop/TM helix motif was positioned within the membrane bi-layer, the helices of the re-entrant loop were atypically long with 5-6 helical turns on the N- and C- terminal halves; helical re-entrant loops typically display around three helical turns on both the N- and C- terminal halves with the turning point at the membrane mid-point. This indicated that the structural

alignments of those 16 models in question did not actually possess re-entrant loops and were in fact membrane spanning transmembrane helices. Indeed, all of the 16 models were hits generated with the bacterial Yqja re-entrant loop/TM helix motifs; the re-entrant loop boundaries determined by the OMP server for the Yqja motifs were possibly inaccurate resulting in excessively long helical regions being included in the re-entrant loop part of the re-entrant loop/TM helix motif (Figure 5.20b).



(a) Aminopeptidase Q (Q6Q4G3)



(b) Respirasome complex assembly factor 1 (Q9BUV8)

#### Figure 5.20: Other false positive hits

a) Presence of Aminopeptidase Q (Q6Q4G3) (green) false positive re-entrant loop/TM helix motif in relation to membrane bi-layer. The query (Yqja N-terminal re-entrant loop/TM helix motif) is shown in magenta. b) Presence of Respirasome complex assembly factor 1 (Q9BUV8) (green) re-entrant loop/TM helix motif in relation to membrane bilayer. The query (Yqja N-terminal re-entrant loop/TM helix motif) is shown in magenta.

The remaining nine models possessing the re-entrant loop/TM helix motif within the membrane bi-layer included three self hits with the human DedA homologues (Figure 5.21) as well as hits with transmembrane membrane proteins already known to possess the query structural motifs; Na<sup>+</sup> transporters, Cl<sup>-</sup> transporters and members of the Solute carrier family 13 (see Chapter 6).

In summary the screening of the DedA re-entrant loop/TM helix motif against the human AlphaFold database was able to identify known proteins that possess this structural motif. Additionally, the screen also identified a hit that (Oca2) that is not known to have this structural feature. Chapter 6 describes a detailed analysis of the



Figure 5.21: Query DedA re-entrant loop/TM helix motif self hits Query C-terminal re-entrant loop/TM helix motif from Tmem41b structurally alignments with (from left to right): Tmem41b, Tmem41a, Vmp1.

predicted structure for Oca2 which contradicts the prevailing consensus topology of this physiological important protein.

# 5.6 Atg9 re-entrant AlphaFold Database Screen

Atg9 possesses two re-entrant loops that have a structural role forming a kinked surface that contributes to the formation of a triangular wedge that acts as the inter-chain interface between each member of the trimer. The kinks of these re-entrant loops are formed by highly conserved proline residues, Pro302 in the N-terminal and Pro483 in C-terminal re-entrant loops [119]. These unusual re-entrant loops have not been recorded previously. In an effort to identify other proteins that potentially possess these atypical structural features; the N-terminal re-entrant loop (residues 274-322) was extracted (Figure 5.22) and screened using the Dali server against the Human AlphaFold database.

The hits from the Dali results (Table 5.3) showed little consistency in terms of the classes and functions of the proteins. The hits did not include the expected self-hit for Atg9. In order to investigate the lack of self hits from the human AlphaFold database screen a pairwise Dali structural alignment was performed between the re-entrant loop in question and the Atg9 protein from which it was extracted. Surprisingly Dali could not structurally align the two. The inability of Dali being able to align the two



Figure 5.22: Atg9 re-entrant isolated loop from CryoEM model with membrane planes structures possibly indicates some kind of limitation in the Dali software itself.

Screening the hits generated by the Atg9 re-entrant loop screen by visually inspecting the structural alignments relative to the positioning of the membrane bilayer provided by the OMP server showed that even though accurate structural hits were obtained, they were not re-entrant loop structures.

A more detailed inspection of the membrane channel hits was conducted as the re-entrant loop query originated from a putative channel protein. Slc44a2 controls platelet activation and thrombosis mediating choline conductance across the mitochodrial membrane thereby regulating mitochondrial energetics [216]. It can be seen in Figure 5.23 that the aligned region of the target does possess the correct fold but is not positioned in the membrane bi-layer.

The simplicity of the re-entrant loop structure is probably responsible for the absence of any positive structural hits for these unusual structural features. A search involving the alignment of the Atg9 re-entrant loop with additional structural

Table 5.3: Dali results for structural screen of the Atg9 Re-entrant loop (Z-scores above 4.0)

Z-Score	Hit Name
4.8	HUMAN:AF-Q15051-F1 IQ CALMODULIN-BINDING MOTIF-CONTAINING PROTEIN 1;
4.7	HUMAN: AF-P55081-F1 MICROFIBRILLAR-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 1;
4.7	HUMAN:AF-Q03135-F1 CAVEOLIN-1;
4.7	HUMAN: AF-Q7Z7H8-F1 39S RIBOSOMAL PROTEIN L10, MITOCHONDRIAL;
4.6	HUMAN:AF-Q9H307-F1 PININ;
4.6	HUMAN: AF-Q8IWA5-F1 CHOLINE TRANSPORTER-LIKE PROTEIN 2;
4.6	HUMAN:AF-H3BTG2-F1 TESTIS-EXPRESSED PROTEIN 46;
4.6	HUMAN:AF-Q96FZ7-F1 CHARGED MULTIVESICULAR BODY PROTEIN 6;
4.6	HUMAN:AF-Q9NST1-F1 1-ACYLGLYCEROL-3-PHOSPHATE O-ACYLTRANSFERASE PNPL
4.6	HUMAN: AF-Q9NS69-F1 MITOCHONDRIAL IMPORT RECEPTOR SUBUNIT TOM22 HOMOL
4.6	HUMAN:AF-Q8IVF4-F14 DYNEIN HEAVY CHAIN 10, AXONEMAL;
4.6	HUMAN: AF-Q8NCM8-F11 CYTOPLASMIC DYNEIN 2 HEAVY CHAIN 1;
4.5	HUMAN: AF-P04233-F1 HLA CLASS II HISTOCOMPATIBILITY ANTIGEN GAMMA CHANNEL
4.5	HUMAN: AF-Q8IZT6-F11 ABNORMAL SPINDLE-LIKE MICROCEPHALY-ASSOCIATED PRO
4.5	HUMAN:AF-Q9UNK0-F1 SYNTAXIN-8;
4.4	HUMAN:AF-000471-F1 EXOCYST COMPLEX COMPONENT 5;
4.4	HUMAN:AF-Q8TE73-F13 DYNEIN HEAVY CHAIN 5, AXONEMAL;
4.4	HUMAN:AF-O75154-F1 RAB11 FAMILY-INTERACTING PROTEIN 3;
4.4	HUMAN:AF-P55268-F1 LAMININ SUBUNIT BETA-2;
4.4	HUMAN:AF-Q96T54-F1 POTASSIUM CHANNEL SUBFAMILY K MEMBER 17;
4.3	HUMAN:AF-Q9H3R5-F1 CENTROMERE PROTEIN H;
4.3	HUMAN:AF-P56817-F1 BETA-SECRETASE 1;
4.3	HUMAN:AF-Q7Z419-F1 E3 UBIQUITIN-PROTEIN LIGASE RNF144B;
4.3	HUMAN:AF-P24043-F6 LAMININ SUBUNIT ALPHA-2;
4.2	HUMAN:AF-Q8TC41-F1 PROBABLE E3 UBIQUITIN-PROTEIN LIGASE RNF217;
4.2	HUMAN: AF-Q9BZF9-F1 UVEAL AUTOANTIGEN WITH COILED-COIL DOMAINS
4.2	HUMAN: AF-Q9UIF8-F1 BROMODOMAIN ADJACENT TO ZINC FINGER DOMAIN PROTEI
4.2	HUMAN: AF-Q5VIR6-F1 VACUOLAR PROTEIN SORTING-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 53 HO
4.2	HUMAN:AF-Q8WXX0-F8 DYNEIN HEAVY CHAIN 7, AXONEMAL;
4.2	HUMAN:AF-Q0VDD8-F7 DYNEIN HEAVY CHAIN 14, AXONEMAL;
4.1	HUMAN:AF-P06127-F1 T-CELL SURFACE GLYCOPROTEIN CD5;
4.1	HUMAN:AF-Q9Y6N6-F1 LAMININ SUBUNIT GAMMA-3;
4.1	HUMAN: AF-Q93074-F1 MEDIATOR OF RNA POLYMERASE II TRANSCRIPTION SUBUN
4.1	HUMAN:AF-Q9NQ34-F1 TRANSMEMBRANE PROTEIN 9B;
4.1	HUMAN:AF-Q14207-F1 PROTEIN NPAT;
4.1	HUMAN: AF-Q6TFL3-F1 COILED-COIL DOMAIN-CONTAINING PROTEIN 171;
4.1	HUMAN:AF-P02679-F1 FIBRINOGEN GAMMA CHAIN;
4.1	HUMAN: AF-O9UI33-F1 SODIUM CHANNEL PROTEIN TYPE 11 SUBUNIT ALPHA:



Figure 5.23: Human SCL44A2 AlphaFold2 model with Magenta highlighting Atg9 reentrant alignment region.

features (upstream and/or downstream from the re-entrant loop) could possibly yield structural hits when this kind of mining exercise with simple structural regions is performed. Structural information coupled with, for example, hydrophobic distribution would provided additional mining criteria to identify equivalent structural regions from a large database. In terms of the specific Atg9 re-entrant loop; it could also be that this feature is unique to Atg9.

# 5.7 Conclusions

Large complex transmembrane proteins can be successfully be modelled with AlphaFold2. The models can be used to infer homology in the absence of any detectable sequence similarity. This can be seen, for example, the strong structural alignments between representative models of PF00230, PF10136 and PF01226. Additionally, these highly accurate structural predictions made by AlphaFold2 can be mined to identify proteins possessing sub-structures of interest. The presence of specific sub-structures can infer function of these proteins. Screening for simple

sub-structures such as the Atg9 re-entrant loop proved difficult. However, screening both a transmembrane Pfam model library as well as the human AlphaFold database for a more complex sub-structure such as the re-entrant loop/transmembrane helix motif proved more successful resulting in identifying proteins possessing the re-entrant loop/transmembrane helix motif; as a result, the function of these proteins were inferred confidently (see chapter 6 for the in depth analysis of Oca2).

# 6 | Structural Insights into Pink-eyed Dilution Protein (Oca2)

## 6.1 Introduction

Albinism is a hereditary condition affecting the synthesis of melanin. The most prevalent and visually identifiable form of albinism is oculocutanous albinism. Oculocutanous albinism is a recessive disorder where individuals have a phenotype exhibiting melanin deficiency in the skin, hair, and eyes. Oculocutanous albinism results from mutations in genes that code for proteins that are involved in melanin production. The gene affected is used to classify the type of oculocutanous albinism into one of the 7 subtypes (oculocutanous albinism 1-7); oculocutanous albinism type 1:TYR, oculocutanous albinism type 2:OCA2, oculocutanous albinism type 3:TYRP1, oculocutanous albinism type 4:SLC45A2, oculocutanous albinism type 6:SLC24A5, oculocutanous albinism type 7:LRMDA and oculocutanous albinism type 5 gene is located on chromosome 4q24 [183]. Accurate diagnosis of the sub-type can only be achieved by a genetic screen [217]. The most prevalent form of oculocutanous albinism is oculocutanous albinism type 2 in which mutations in the OCA2 gene cause changes in the transmembrane protein 'p-protein' (Oca2) thereby impacting melanin production. Polymorphisms of the OCA2 gene have been shown to be major contributor to skin colour [218] and are thought to underlie blue eye colour in humans [219]. Oca2 is expressed in melanocytes and retinal pigment epithelium

(RPE) where it is restricted to melanosomes.

Melanosomes are "lysosome-related organelles" but are functionally and morphologically distinct from lysosomes as they have an acidic luminal pH [220] and possess cell-type-specific cargo proteins [221]. Trafficking pathways deliver these cargo proteins to immature melanosomes which contributes to their maturation [222]. Oca2 is located in the mature melanosomal membrane where it has been shown to control chloride conductance across the lipid bilayer [223]. This chloride conductance is coupled to proton motive force, and is related to maintenance of the optimal luminal pH for the tyrosinase function involved in the production of melanin [223]. The currently accepted model of Oca2, based on hydrophobicity profiles, describes Oca2 as a 12 transmembrane helix protein with two luminal loops and an N-terminal disordered cytoplasmic loop [224]. Oca2 is glycosylated in the N-terminal luminal loop and the N-terminal cytoplasmic loop of Oca2 possesses dileucine motifs; both of these features are important for the trafficking of Oca2 from the ER to the melanosomes through a series of intracellular compartments [225].

This study employs deep learning modelling methods to argue for a revised topology for Oca2. Deep learning methods such as DMPfold [77], trRosetta [56] and AlphaFold2 [79] build predicted protein structures by predicting inter residue distances, main chain hydrogen bond network and torsion angles and utilizing these as restraints in the model building process. Benchmarking these methods have demonstrated that they work just as well for membrane proteins as they do for soluble proteins [77, 81]. DMPfold was shown to be able to model transmembrane proteins with a TM-score of at least 0.5 to the native structure and obtain a mean TM-score of 0.74 [77]. The accuracy of AlphaFold2 transmembrane protein modelling has been tested by exploring the construction of structures from the ABC protein superfamily. For these transmembrane proteins AlphaFold2 performed exceedingly well when testing template-free structure prediction as well as attempting a new ABC fold, dimer modelling, and stability in molecular dynamics simulations [?].

The modelling of Oca2 using AlphaFold2 predicts the presence of a pseudo inverted repeat that forms a pore region flanked with two highly conserved re-entrant loops. Additionally, a luminal loop proceeding the first transmembrane helix is predicted to be GOLD-like domain that allows trafficking through the Golgi from the endoplasmic reticulum to finally localise at the melanosomal membrane. The newly proposed topology shares features with sodium-carboxylate transporters (NaCT) which is supported by the obvious sequence homology.

### 6.2 Methods

#### Pfam database screening

Searches using the sequence of Oca2 were made against the PfamA\_v35.0 [85] database using the HHPred v3.0 server [86] with default parameters (-p 20 -Z 10000 -loc -z 1 -b 1 -B 10000 -ssm 2 -sc 1 -seq 1 -dbstrlen 10000 -norealign -maxres 32000 -contxt /path/to/context\_data.crf) and eight iterations for MSA generation in the HHblits [86] stage.

#### Structural database screening

Dali v5.0 server [111] was used to screen the PDB [185] and the AF human proteome database [82] for structural homologues of Oca2. Pairwise alignments were also performed by the Dali server.

#### Model building

An initial Oca2 model was obtained from the AFDB [82]. The construction of the inward-facing homodimeric form and attempted alternate conformations was performed by a local installation of ColabFold [?].

The outward-facing monomers were constructed by first building a homology model of Oca2 using an outward facing structure of a homologue. The HHpred server was used to identify 6wtw as a close homologue (99.97% probability).

Modeller [101] functionality of the MPI bioinformatics toolkit server was used to build the homology model. The homology model as a template along with custom MSAs of varying depths were used as inputs in a local installation of ColabFold. Five models at each MSA depth were constructed and the model with the highest mean pLDDT score was selected for examination.

The outward facing homodimer was constructed using a local installation of ColabFold with the Modeller homology structure used as a template and an MSA with depth of 15 sequences.

#### MSAs

MSAs were build using the HHblits server [86] using default settings. The reduction in MSA depth, as a strategy to assist exploration of conformational diversity in AF outputs, was achieved by randomly selecting sequences from the HHblits output.

#### Docking

The Webina server [226] utilizing Autodock [227] was used to dock citrate into the putative binding pocket of Oca2. A docking box size of 35x35x35 was used with the default coordinates for the box center. Prodigy [228] was used to perform docking re-scoring.

## 6.3 **Results and Discussion**

#### 6.3.1 Oca2 is a member of the Ion Transporter (IT) Superfamily

Oca2 is an 838-residue transmembrane protein annotated in UniProt with the Pfam domain CitMHS (PF03600). An HHpred search of the Pfam database reveals that Oca2 also possesses strong sequence similarity to other members of the Ion Transporter (IT) Superfamily with HHpred probability scores above 99.9% (Table

Pfam Accession	Pfam Name	Probability	E-Value	Query HMM	Template HMM
PF02040.18	ArsB	100	1.90E-26	334-831	2-422
PF00939.22	Na_sulph_symp	100	3.50E-25	324-837	23-473
PF06450.15	NhaB	100	1.20E-24	328-831	42-503
PF16980.8	CitMHS_1	99.9	2.30E-23	332-829	11-442
PF07399.14	Na_H_antiport_2	99.9	1.50E-22	328-826	1-413
PF06808.15	DctM	99.9	6.00E-20	339-830	1-410
PF02447.19	GntP_permease	99.9	9.70E-19	329-834	1-443
PF03600.19	CitMHS	99.9	8.00E-19	342-773	1-348

Table 6.1: HHpred results for screen of Oca2 sequence against Pfam

6.1).

ArsB protein is established as a bacterial arsenite efflux pump [229]. Although it is common for ArsB to complex with the ATPase ArsA to form an ATP-driven pump that expels arsenite [230] it has been shown that ArsB can function independently as an arsenite efflux pump by coupling with proton motive force [231]. Although Oca2 shows no sequence similarity with Cl<sup>-</sup> transporters it has been demonstrated experimentally that Oca2 is required for melanosomal anion efflux contributing to the mediation of chloride-selective anion conductance which in turn modulates melanosome pH thereby regulating melanin synthesis [223].

#### 6.3.2 SLC13 members have a pseudo inverse repeat topology

The IT Superfamily is made up of both symporters and antiporters [232]. Experimental structures are available for some members, but no experimental structures are available for Oca2. To identify experimental structures of close evolutionary relatives to Oca2, the sequence was screened against the PDB using HHpred. There were three hits above 99.9% probability comprising members of Pfam families DASS (divalent anion sodium symporter) family sodium-coupled anion symporter, Solute carrier family 13 member 5 and NaDC (Table 6.1). Additionally, the AlphaFold2 model of Oca2 was screened against the full PDB using Dali. All hits above a Z-score of 35 were Na<sup>+</sup> symporters in the inward conformation with the top hit being 7jsj, the Solute carrier family 13 member 5 and NadC (Table 6.3). Furthermore, the AlphaFold2 model of Oca2 was screened against the

Pfam Accession	Pfam Name	Probability	E-Value	Query HMM	Template HMM
6WTW_B	DASS family sodium-coup	100	5.00E-24	323-837	32-490
7JSK_B	Solute carrier fam 13 mem 5	99.99	8.20E-24	327-836	31-552
5UL9_D	Transporter, NadC famil	99.9	3.70E-23	326-832	23-444

Table 6.2: HHpred results for screen of Oca2 sequence against PDB

Alphafold database of the human proteome using Dali; there were five hits above a Z-score of 30 for the conserved Pfam domain (PF16980); Solute Carrier Family 13 Members 1,2,3,4 and 5 (Table 6.2). Thus, the results of HHpred sequence analysis and Dali structural similarity searches both suggest that Oca2 is a close evolutionary relative to members of Solute Carrier Family 13, sharing structural and potentially functional features.

PDB code	Z-Score	Name
7jsj-A	39.1	Solute Carrier Family 13 Member 5;
6011-D	37.7	Solute Carrier Family 13 Member 5;
5u17-A	37.5	Transporter, Nadc Family;
60kz-C	36.3	Transporter, Nadc Family;
5uld-D	36.0	Transporter, Nadc Family;
6010-D	36.0	Transporter, Nadc Family;
6wtx-D	35.3	Dass Family Sodium-Coupled Anion Symporter;

Table 6.3: Dali results for structural screen of Oca2 against PDB

Name	Z-Score
Human:Af-Q86YT5-F1 Solute Carrier Family 13 Member 5;	36
Human:Af-Q9UKG4-F1 Solute Carrier Family 13 Member 4;	34.6
Human:Af-Q8WWT9-F1 Solute Carrier Family 13 Member 3;	34.1
Human:Af-Q13183-F1 Solute Carrier Family 13 Member 2;	33.4
Human:Af-Q9BZW2-F1 Solute Carrier Family 13 Member 1;	29.7
Human:Af-O00337-F1 Sodium/Nucleoside Cotransporter 1;	10.6
Human:Af-Q9hAS3-F1 Solute Carrier Family 28 Member 3;	10.2
Human:Af-O43868-F1 Sodium/Nucleoside Cotransporter 2;	10.3
Human:Af-A6NH21-F1 Serine Incorporator 4;	9.1

Table 6.4: Dali results for structural screen of Oca2 against Human AlphaFold database

Solute carrier (SLC) proteins are integral membrane transport proteins that are classified into 66 families [233, 234]. Members within each family have greater than 20% sequence identity. However, the homology between solute carrier families

maybe non-existent [235] as the basis for the introduction of a family as a solute carrier protein is related to functionality rather than an evolutionary link. Currently there is one structure available for a mammalian SLC13 protein; 562 residue long sodium- dependent citrate transporter (NaCT), SLC13 member 5. NaCT displays inverted repeat pseudo-symmetry relating the N-terminal half to the C-terminal half [236] with each repeat containing a re-entrant loop packing against a broken transmembrane helix, followed by a cytosolic amphipathic helix parallel to the membrane plane, a second re-entrant loop packing against a broken transmembrane helix then finally a transmembrane helix (Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1: NaCT topology.

Shaded regions highlight the pseudo inverse repeat. Red: transmembrane helix; Orange: re-entrant loop; Blue: broken helix; Green: amphipathic helix; Grey: extra-membrane helix.

#### 6.3.3 Oca2 has a pseudo inverse repeat topology

Examination of the Oca2 AlphaFold2 model (Figure 6.2) reveals a more complex topology compared to the currently accepted model of 12 transmembrane helices with two luminal loops and an N-terminal disordered cytoplasmic loop (6.4).

The AlphaFold2 model shares topological features with NaCT: a pseudo inverse repeat, each possessing a broken transmembrane helix, an amphipathic helix and a re-entrant loop packing against a broken transmembrane helix. Extrapolating functional annotations from homologues of Oca2 that have an experimental structure identified from the HHpred PDB screen indicates that each repeat unit of Oca2 possesses a transport domain made up of a re-entrant loop packed with



Figure 6.2: AlphaFold2 Oca2 model a) Red: transmembrane helix; Orange: re-entrant loop; Blue: broken helix; Green: amphipathic helix; Purple: 'N-terminal luminal loop'- putative GOLD domain; Grey: extra-membrane helix. b) Coloured by AlphaFold2 per-residue confidence score (pLDDT) between 0 and 100. pLDDT>90 (blue) to pLDDT<50 (red).

transmembrane helix, where the transmembrane helix is broken in the centre. The amphipathic helices of each unit link the transport domain to a scaffold domain formed by the other helices of the conserved CitMHS domain. It has been shown in the experimental homologues that during the transport cycle, the two amphipathic helices are fixed in space with respect to the scaffold domain and cradle the transport domain during the conformational transition between the outward- and inward-facing states [232, 237]. The rigidity of the Oca2 amphipathic helices could be achieved by salt bridges, between Glu403 with His668 as well as Asp408 with Lys614. Indeed, mutations of the equivalent residues (Arg102 – Asp398 and Lys107 – Glu305), in NaCT results in the abolition of substrate transport [236]. The distances between the potential salt bridge forming residues in the Oca2 model are beyond the 4Å threshold distance for salt bridge formation although in both cases the residues

are located adjacent to flexible disordered loops which may facilitate the potential interaction for the residues forming a salt bridge (Figure 6.3).



Figure 6.3: Oca2 Possible Salt Bridges Presence of possible salt bridges stabilising the scaffold domain. Magenta: NaCT salt bridges; Left: Lys107 – Glu305, Right: Arg102 – Asp398. Green: Oca2 possible salt bridges; Left: Asp408 - Lys614, Right: Glu403 with His668.

Further inspection of the model identified additional structural features outside of the repeating units; a 171 residue long cytosolic N-terminal disordered region, a luminal 130 residue forming an eight stranded beta sandwich and a 95-residue cytosolic helical region separating the two inverse repeats (Figure 6.4).

# 6.3.4 Oca2 dileucine motifs responsible for melanosome localisation are located on the disordered cytosolic N-terminal region

The model of Oca2 has an N-terminal disordered loop. AlphaFold2 models this loop packed with transmembrane helices and when placed into a membrane bi-layer using the OMP server the 170 residue long cytosolic N-terminal disordered region crosses the membrane which is an obvious error. AlphaFold2 models this loop with





Top: Current consensus view of Oca2 topology [225]. Bottom: Proposed Oca2 Topology. Shaded regions are the pseudo inverse repeat. Red: transmembrane helix; Orange: re-entrant loop; Blue: broken helix; Green: amphipathic helix; Purple: 'N-terminal luminal loop'; Grey: extra-membrane helix.

very low confidence (pLDDT < 50) and packs it against the transmembrane helices. As a result, when placed into a membrane bi-layer using the OMP server, the 170 residue long cytosolic N-terminal disordered region crosses the membrane which is not energetically favourable. Packing of intrinsically disordered regions against the main domain has been seen previously in models produced by AlphaFold2 [238]. Indeed, the quality metrics for the AlphaFold2 Oca2 structure within the TMAlphaFold database highlight residues that are present in the membrane that should not be.

An AF2 remodeling exercise was performed in order to attempt to obtain a model where the N-terminal disordered region does not transverse the membrane boundaries as defined by the OPM server [48]. The output provided 5 new models. The highest-ranking model with a pLDDT score of 72.9 showed the disordered loop mostly on the cytosolic side of the membrane with the exception of a 5-residue region (60-65) dipping into the membrane bi-layer (Figure 6.5).

Previous experimental studies have identified this loop to be cytoplasmic and possesses three dileucine motifs that required for human Oca2 function. These motifs have been shown to be essential for the targeting and localisation of Oca2 to the melanosome membranes by interacting with members of the clathrin-associated heterotetrameric adaptor protein family, AP-1 and/or AP-3 [225].

#### 6.3.5 Oca2 possesses a GOLD-like domain

The AlphaFold2 model predicts that the first luminal 130 residue loop forms an eight stranded beta sandwich. Examination of experimental PDB structures of other members of the IT superfamily revealed that Oca2 is the only member of the superfamily to possess this beta sandwich structure. Screening the 130-residue sequence of the beta sandwich against the PDB using HHpred did not yield any significant hits. In order to identify proteins possessing structurally similar regions, the 130-residue beta sandwich region was extracted from the AlphaFold2 model of Oca2 and screened, using Dali, against the full PDB. The results (Table 6.5) gave a top hit with a Z-score of 10.3 for the central domain of tripeptidyl-peptidase 2 (TPP2) which is involved in the oligomerisation of TPP2 [239]. The other top hits from the screen are for proteins possessing the Golgi Dynamics (GOLD) domain and have Z-scores above 9. Although this region shows no sequence similarity to known GOLD domains, the identification of homology through structural information, independent of sequence similarity, agrees with previous studies that indicate that GOLD domains have low sequence identity even between family members [240]. The functions of the GOLD domain are largely unknown although there are

indications that it is involved in the trafficking of proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum to other subcellular compartments [240]. Oca2 is known to become terminally glycosylated when it transits to a post-ER compartment to the Golgi [225]. Human Oca2 has three evolutionary conserved consensus N-glycosylation sites (Asn 214, 218, and 273) [225] within the putative GOLD domain [225] and it has been demonstrated that some ER-resident proteins undergo GOLD domain N-glycosylation which is important for their trafficking between the ER and Golgi [241]. All of this suggests that the region previously termed the N-terminal luminal loop in fact encodes a GOLD domain involved in the trafficking of Oca2 from the ER to the Golgi prior to localisation at melanosomal membranes.

PDB code	Z-Score	Name
3lxu-X	10.3	Tripeptidyl-peptidase 2;
6q69-C	9.6	Peripherial benzodiazepine receptor associated pr
5azw-B	9.4	Transmembrane emp24 domain-containing protein 2;
4uyb-A	9.3	Sec14-like protein 3;
51z3-A	9.2	Golgi resident protein gcp60
106u-C	9.2	Sec14-like protein 2;
10lm-A	9.1	Sec14-like protein 2;

Table 6.5: Dali results for structural screen of beta sandwich region against PDB

# 6.3.6 Mutations in the Oca2 putative pore region results in severe albinism

The pseudo inverse repeat - made up of a broken transmembrane helix, an amphipathic helix and a re-entrant loop packing against the broken transmembrane helix - forms a substrate-binding chamber possessing two flanking re-entrant loops with the N-terminal half of the re-entrant loop containing highly conserved residues. Consurf [108] analysis highlights this region as highly conserved. Mutations in Oca2 disrupt melanin production within the melanosome. The hindered melanin synthesis has been linked to altered melanosome luminal pH which is correlated with reduced chloride conductance across the melanosome membrane [223].

Positions of mutations that are characterised in vitro or in vivo were mapped onto the AlphaFold2 model in order to provide a structural context. Mutations at

positions V443 and K614 are known to result in oculocutaneous albinism type II as well as inhibiting in vitro melanosome melanin content. Mapping these mutations onto the Alphafold2 model reveals that V443 is present on the N-terminal re-entrant loop of the first repeat unit and has a critical impact on chloride conductance across the melanosome membrane. The position of this functionally critical residue on a re-entrant loop is in accordance with other transporters where the re-entrant loop has a role in channel specificity [9]. K614 is present on the predicted cytoplasmic loop between the two inverse repeat units that would not contribute to any transport functionality of the protein; this is in agreement with the fact that in vitro studies show that K614 mutations have little effect on chloride conductance. K614 mutations present in albino patients also possess additional Oca2 mutations [242], so that the K614 change may itself not be of critical phenotypic importance. Furthermore, mapping the 5-point mutation from Bellono et al (5mut: V443I, M446V, I473S, N476D, N489D) shows that they are all present on the N-terminal re-entrant loop/transmembrane helix structural motif of the first repeat. Again, these mutations result in inhibition of chloride conductance and are present in the putative pore region of the protein. Mapping of other known mutations that result in severe albinism (F385, M395, N489, N679) [242, 243, 244] show that these critical residues are present in either the N- or C-terminal transport domain region; F385 and M395 in the first transmembrane helix of the N-terminal transport domain region, N489 in the second transmembrane helix of the N-terminal transport domain region that packs with the re-entrant loop and W679 in the first transmembrane helix of the C-terminal transport domain region (Figure 6.5). The mapping of known Oca2 mutations show that those present in the inverted repeat that forms the putative pore are more likely to result in the severe oculocutanous albinism type 2 phenotype. Similarly, mutation of Oca2 in regions important for melanosome localisation also results in the severe phenotype of oculocutanous albinism type 2. However, in contrast, mutations localised relatively distant to the putative pore region do not result in the severe phenotypes of oculocutanous albinism type 2.



(a) Oca2 topology with trafficking and example mutation sites mapped.



(b) Oca2 model with example mutation sites mapped (Na<sup>+</sup> ions shown as purple spheres)

Figure 6.5: Oca2 Mutation Sites.

## 6.3.7 Citrate docks at the putative binding site

Bellono et al speculate that Oca2 might be an accessory subunit of a Cl<sup>-</sup> transporter or form a Cl<sup>-</sup> channel or carrier protein itself like the bacterial homologue ArsB. The pseudo inverted repeat topology that includes re-entrant loops facing each other in the membrane packed against transmembrane helices has been seen previously in other chloride transporters such as CLC transporters [9, 134]. Attempts were made to perform Oca2 docking a chloride ion. Docking of chloride was not successful; chloride did not dock at the putative binding site and was placed outside of the transport domain. Consequently, as Oca2 has strong HHpred hits with SLC13 transporters, docking of the SLC13 substrate was considered.

SLC13 transporters are members of the larger divalent-anion sodium symporter (DASS) family [245, 246, 247, 248]. Most DASS transporters are sodium-coupled symporters that transport one substrate for each 2–4 sodium ions. However, some DASS members are antiporters [249]. Sequence analysis and examination of experimental models show that DASS symporters and antiporters share the same fold [250]. The DASS antiporters possess surrogate residues (K,R or H) to compensate for the absence of sodium ions. Examination of Oca2 at the surrogate residue equivalent positions shows that the surrogate residues (K,R or H) that are present in the experimental structure of the DASS antiporter 6wu1 (LaINDY) are not present in Oca2. Furthermore, the substrate binding residues where the side chain is involved in the binding of two sodium ions identified in the DASS symporter experimental structure of 7jsk (NaCT) (Asn141 and Asn465) are present at the equivalent positions in the Oca2 model (Asn442 and Asn741). Indeed, visualization of the electrostatic surface view of Oca2 highlights a negatively charged region corresponding to the putative Na<sup>+</sup> binding site (Figure 6.6a).



(a) APBS electrostatic mapping surface view of Oca2 (transport domain only).



(b) APBS (Adaptive Poisson-Boltzmann Solver) electrostatic mapping surface view of NaCT. Spectrum: Red (negative) to blue (positive)

Figure 6.6: Oca2 Electrostatics

In the human NaCT experimental structure [236] a density which appears to be citrate is observed. There, in addition to Asn141 and Asn465, the authors propose additional substrate binding residues that form a substrate binding motif for citrate (Ser140-Asn141-Thr142 and Ser464-Asn465-Val466). The Oca2 model only possesses the Asn equivalents. Webina [226] was subsequently employed in an attempt to dock citrate at the equivalent position in Oca2 as seen in NaCT. The citrate does indeed dock on Oca2 at the equivalent position as observed in NaCT (Figure 6.6). Furthermore, docking of citrate to the AlphaFold2 model of NaCT results in docking again at the equivalent position with similar scores ( $\Delta G$  -6.3 kcal/mol and -5.1 kcal/mol for NaCT and Oca2 respectively). To confirm this, a re-scoring exercise using Prodigy [228] was performed for both Oca2 and NaCT; again, both NaCT and Oca2 obtained similar scores of  $\Delta G$  -5.4 kcal/mol and -5.5 kcal/mol respectively, supporting the Webina binding affinity energy scores. Attempting to dock citrate on to ArsB, however, does not result in docking of citrate at the putative binding site. Indeed, conservation mapping using ConSurf highlights the putative ligand binding residues as highly conserved.

These results suggest that citrate is a plausible substrate for Oca2, but this does not align with the experimental observation that Oca2 is involved with chloride conductance across the melanosome membrane. Dicarboxylates are known to have a role in metabolic signaling. It is plausible that the movement of citrate (or another dicarboxylate) in and out of the melanosome could modulate chloride conductance across the melanosomal membrane downstream. Indeed, it has been shown that citrate inhibits melanin synthesis via the GSK3 $\beta/\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway which involves the regulation of tyrosinase transcription factors[251]; citrate may be involved in the regulation of melanin synthesis at other key points in synthesis pathway.



Figure 6.7: Webina Oca2 docking of citrate Yellow are the conserved Asn442/Asn741 and adjacent residues.

# 6.3.8 AlphaFold2 multimeric modelling protocol in combination with traditional homology modelling was able to model Oca2 in alternative conformations

Given that DASS proteins operate via an elevator-type transport mechanism [237] and the obvious homology that Oca2 shares with DASS transporters it can be confidently predicted that the Oca2 transport mechanism is also of the elevator type. The elevator-type transport mechanism involves the sliding of the transport domain through the bilayer as a rigid body while the scaffold domain remains fixed in order to achieve the transitions between the outward- and inward-facing states [252]. During the transport cycle it has been demonstrated that DASS symporters cotransport by binding sodium first and then their substrate, with the reverse occurring during the release [253, 254, 255, 256, 257]. During the course of transition between the outward and inward facing states the angle between the amphipathic helices and the re-entrant loops change by approximately 30° allowing the movement of the transport domain (Figure 6.8); the presence of flexible hinge loops between the amphipathic helices and the re-entrant loops facilitate transport domain movement [236].



#### Figure 6.8: Elevator Mechanism

Blue: scaffold domain; Green: amphipathic helix; Orange: N- terminal of re-entrant loop. Between the inward and outward states, the angles at amphipathic (green)/re-entrant loop (only N-terminal side showing - orange) hinges (dark blue) change by around 30° resulting in the movement of the transport domain (not shown) relative to the scaffold domain.

Examination of the AlphaFold2 model showed that it was in the inward facing state where the angle between the N-terminal half of the re-entrant loop and the amphipathic helix is approximately 30° for the N-terminal side and approximately 55° for the C-terminal side. As observed for the DASS transporters VcINDY and LaINDY; the N-terminal angle increases by around 30° and the C-terminal angle decreases by around 30° when the transporter switches to the outward facing state [236]. Attempts were made to model Oca2 in an outward facing conformation; building Oca2 locally using ColabFold resulted in 5 models all in the inward-facing conformation. Application of strategies that have previously been successful in the sampling of the conformational space of transporters were also employed; feeding ColabFold with shallow multiple sequence alignments [258]. Implementing this strategy also failed to generate models outside of the inward-facing conformational state. Further attempts were made to model Oca2 in an outward facing conformation by a combination of utilizing the VcINDY outward-facing structure as a template for AlphaFold2 [?] and by providing AlphaFold2 with reduced depth MSAs. However, again, AlphaFold2 was only able to generate the inward-facing conformation. The

inability to obtain the outward facing conformation may be due to there being only one outward facing entry in the PDB with all others being a single DASS symporter in a substrate-bound, inward-facing state; resulting in modeling to converge on the inward facing state. Indeed, the AlphaFold2 prediction neural networks were trained on all structures deposited in the PDB on or before April 30, 2018 [79] and many DASS homologues in the inward facing state were deposited before this date with the few outward facing examples being deposited in 2021 [236]. The failure to generate Oca2 in an alternative by using previously known methods resulted in the employment of a novel strategy. A homology model of Oca2 was built using the VcINDY outward facing structure (6wtw) as a template for Modeller [101]. The output structure had a Dali alignment Z score with 6wtw of 54.8, however, the Oca2 structural features that are not present in VcINDY such as the putative GOLD domain were obviously not modelled. In order to rectify this, the Modeller model was then used in ColabFold in conjunction with various custom MSAs of varying depths to build a series of Oca2 structures (Table 6.6).

The output models displayed the characteristic inverse repeat architectures of the scaffold and transport domains as seen in DASS transporters as well as the putative GOLD domain as predicted in the earlier modelling of the inward facing state of Oca2. Reducing the MSA depth did negatively influence the quality scores of the output models but at the same time improved the Dali alignment Z score with respect to the outward facing DASS transporter 6wtw thereby indicating more outward-facing structures. Additionally, the measurement of the N-terminal amphipathic/re-entrant hinge angle and C-terminal amphipathic/re-entrant hinge angle showed the characteristic angle combinations of the outward facing state; N-terminal angle being larger than the C-terminal angle (Figure 6.9).

AlphaFold2 is able to construct a plausible Oca2 homodimer in both conformations when used in combination with traditional homology modelling. The close homologues of Oca2 have experimental structures that form homodimers [236, 259]. Therefore attempts were made to model Oca2 as a homodimer. First,

			Dali Z Score vs 6wtw	Angle (°) between amphipathic helix and N- terminal side of re-entrant loop (N-terminal)	Angle (°) between amphipathic helix and N- terminal side of re-entrant loop (C-terminal)	Mean pLDDT
	Inward facing model	Inward-facing AlphaFold2 model of Oca2	7.8	32	52	73.3
	Outward- facing templates	Outward-facing template (6wtw)	-	64	15	-
		Modeller homology model (based on 6wtw) of outward-				
		facing conformation	54.8	64	15	-
	ColabFold	200 sequences	25.0	37	36	82.9
	models at various MSA depths	60 sequences	30.9	51	28	73.0
		30 sequences	30.0	57	20	72.8
		15 sequences	32.9	59	22	70.0
		10 sequences	28.3	59	24	66.4
		5 sequences	14.0	43	23	57.7

Table 6.6: Z-scores, angles and quality scores for the Oca2 models Scores and measures for: Row 1 AlphaFoldDB model of Oca2 in the inward facing state; Row 2 6wtw experimental structure of the Oca2 homologue VcINDY in the outward facing conformation; Row 3 homology model of Oca2 when VcINDY in the outward facing conformation is used as a template; ColabFold constructed models using the homology model as a template at various MSA depths.

ColabFold was employed to build a homodimer without using a template and utilizing the full MSA. This produced five models each of which were in the inward facing conformation (Figure 6.10). Next the Modeller template and reduced MSA (15 sequences) were used to build a homodimer; this produced five models in the outward facing conformation (Figure 6.10).

Pisa [260] was employed to determine the area of the interface which was calculated as 55111.2Å<sup>2</sup> for both models. This interface area is much larger than NaCT; 21035.3 Å<sup>2</sup>. The presence of the putative GOLD domains in Oca2 contribute to this dimerisation surface area resulting in this unusually large interface. To our knowledge, dimerised GOLD domains have not been reported previously. Further analysis of the homodimer interfaces of Oca2 revealed the presence of an interaction between Trp679 of both monomers which could contribute to the stabilisation of the



Figure 6.9: Alternative Conformations Yellow: N-terminal amphipathic/re-entrant hinge; Orange: C-terminal amphipathic/re-entrant hinge.



Figure 6.10: Alternative Dimer Conformations Yellow: N-terminal amphipathic/re-entrant hinge; Orange: C-terminal amphipathic/re-entrant hinge.

interface formed from the two scaffold domains resulting in a stable rigid structure in the membrane (Figure 6.11); this same interaction can be seen in the dimer interface of NaCT; Pi–Pi interaction between Trp408 and Trp408' from the neighbouring protomers stabilizing the two scaffold domains together into a rigid framework [236].



Figure 6.11: Homodimer interface Pi-Pi interaction Potential Pi-Pi interaction between Trp679 and Trp679' stabilising the Oca2 homodimer interface.

# 6.4 Conclusions

Oca2 shows structural similarities to SLC13 proteins. The AlphaFold2 model has provided the opportunity to revise the current consensus view of its topology. The AlphaFold2 model of Oca2 strongly suggests that it shares the DASS family topology and possesses a GOLD-like domain. The DASS family contains both symporters and antiporters; Oca2 possesses symporter features. Although the molecular specificity of Oca2 remains unclear, Oca2 possesses key citrate-binding residues as seen in NaCT and citrate docks to Oca2 at the putative binding site as observed in NaCT. When clinically relevant and in vitro mutations are mapped on to the model it is seen that they cluster on the transport domain of the structure. AlphaFold2 modelling of Oca2 has demonstrated that, like DAS transporters, Oca2 can exist in two plausible conformations: inward- and outward-facing, supporting an elevator-type transport mechanism.

# 7 | Discussions and Conclusions

### 7.1 Discussion

The most obvious area where further work may be performed, especially for the research covered in chapters 3 and 4, is the utilisation of models generated from the latest methods. The field of protein structure prediction is developing at an incredible pace with new methods becoming available on an almost daily basis. In terms of the DedA fold, we believe we have captured this accurately and the topology has since been experimentally verified [162, 168]. The question still remains, however, whether the DedA models are stable within a membrane. It is clear that having the re-entrant loop exposed to lipid bi-layer would not be stable. Experimental evidence is available that these proteins exist as homodimers [162]. The homodimers could plausibly shield the re-entrant loops from the hydrophobic environment of the membrane. It is now possible using AlphaFold2 or specialist oligomerisation software such as AlphaPulldown [261] to build potential homodimers. The stability of these homodimer models when placed in a lipid bilayer could be tested using molecular dynamic simulations. Additionally, further work needs to be carried out to determine what the substrate is for both DedA proteins and Atg9 as well as to provide validation that Oca2 transports a dicarboxylate such as citrate. Bioinformatic methods for making ligand predictions based on deep learning methods are beginning to emerge [262] and these could shed light on what these putative transporters are actually translocating. Finally, the methodology for mining databases for specific membrane protein sub-structures could have been made more

efficient through the inclusion of additional structural attributes. For example, identifying the re-entrant/transmembrane helix motifs could have been made more efficient and sensitive if the transmembrane subset of the AlphaFold database had first been processed with PDBTM's TMDET [47] algorithm. TMDET would have provided re-entrant loop annotation to the library of the transmembrane structures. This would have eliminated the need to manually place structures into the membrane using OPM [48] and visually inspect the membrane placed structures to identify hits. An annotated transmembrane AlphaFold database could also be used to perform a full census of proteins that possess re-entrant loops as well as investigate other attributes of these regions such as residue composition or fold patterns that re-entrant loops form with adjacent structures in three dimensional space.

This study employed searches of structural databases for specific re-entrant structural motifs. Another key structural feature of the target proteins studied in Chapters 3 and 4 is the tandem repeat. Additional work could be carried out to mine for this interesting feature. Repeat proteins are commonly found across all domains of life and harbour a wide range of functions [263]. The origin of these repeats derives from gene duplication events [264] resulting from slipped-strand mispairing during DNA replication [265] or through replication arising during the repairing of double strand DNA breaks [265]. The length of the repeating sequence unit varies considerably [264, 266] and can be used in conjunction with their tertiary structure to group repeat proteins into five classes [267] a classification also adopted by the RepeatsDB; crystalline aggregates, fibrous repeat, elongated repeat, closed repeat, beads-on-a-string [268]. Many families of repeat proteins remain structurally uncharacterised by experimental methods, yet they are particularly favourable subjects for modelling: there is an expectation that each sequence repeat should adopt the same structural configuration, a rule that provides a form of internal validation.

## 7.2 Conclusions

The past three years has seen an exponential improvement in protein structure prediction owing to the implementation of deep learning methods into the model building algorithms. Indeed, high accuracy protein modelling has historically been associated with template based modelling where back in CASP2 [269], if a template was available, the best models were obtaining GDT\_TS scores of above 80%; without a template the output models were considered random. Over the years some small improvements were made to the accuracy of free modelling methods, especially for smaller proteins, where fragments assembly algorithms such as Rosetta [33] were implemented. By CASP11 [270] some further improvements in ab initio modelling were observed where contact predictions had been incorporated into the model building process. It wasn't until CASP13 [271], with the use of deep learning for distance predictions by Deepmind's AlphaFold [272], that models without a templates were scoring as well as template-based models. Furthermore, with the introduction of AlphaFold2 [79] in CASP14, targets with or without available templates, were achieving GDT\_TS scores of above 90%; AlphaFold2 had been re-engineered. Along side other significant modifications there was the introduction of a key mechanism (attention algorithm) to reverse the tendency of the neural network to prefer models with more secondary structure [79].

This PhD demonstrated how contacts could be used to aid the model building process to output an accurate biologically relevant fold. Subsequently, the evolution of utilising MSAs for the prediction of contacts to the prediction of distances has been invaluable for highly accurate protein prediction. Historically contact prediction and model construction were performed as independent stages in the model generation process. The new generation of model building algorithms combine these steps, predicting distances rather than binary contacts. These distances are used as constraints which are refined as decoy models are built. The availability of highly accurate protein models will be useful in the directing of experimental investigations

where experimental structures are not available. Indeed our models of the DedA fold were utilised in this way [162, 273, 274, 275]. Our work over the course of this PhD has introduced novel tools that can be utilised in prediction data analysis (ConPlot) as well as novel methods that can be employed to enhance protein model building protocols (utilisation of homology models to sample conformations). The availability of highly accurate models may also be used, bioinformatically coupled with mining of curated sequence and structure databases, for inference of function and molecular mechanism, as demonstrated with our work on Oca2. We have also demonstrated that contact analysis still has a role to play in modern structural bioinformatics; in model validation and conformation deciphering. Molecular dynamic simulations were not taken advantage of during this PhD; great strides have also been made in this area as a result of increased computing power utilising GPUs as well as improved energy functions. In terms of studying membrane proteins specifically, all of these developments give rise to the opportunity to understand how they interact with other proteins, substrates, and membranes of various types. Deep learning methods have brought about a new era in protein modelling with the outlook for membrane protein modelling in the immediate future looking very bright indeed.

# References

- C. B. Anfinsen, "Principles That Govern The Folding Of Protein Chains," Science, vol. 181, no. 4096, pp. 223–230, 1973.
- [2] C. B. Anfinsen, S. Moore, and W. H. Stein, "The Nobel Prize In Chemistry 1972," 1972.
- [3] D. J. Rigden, I. A. Cymerman, and J. M. Bujnicki, "Prediction Of Protein Function From Theoretical Models," in *From Protein Structure to Function with Bioinformatics: Second Edition*. Springer Netherlands, apr 2017, pp. 467–498.
- [4] D. J. Rigden, I. A. Cymerman, and J. M. Bujnicki, "Prediction Of Protein Function From Theoretical Models," *From Protein Structure To Function With Bioinformatics*, pp. 467–498, 2017.
- [5] D. Bandyopadhyay, J. Huan, J. Liu, J. Prins, J. Snoeyink, W. Wang, and A. Tropsha, "Structure-based Function Inference Using Protein Family-Specific Fingerprints," *Protein Science*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1537–1543, 2006.
- [6] M. M. da Fonsêca, A. Zaha, E. R. Caffarena, and A. T. R. Vasconcelos, "Structure-based Functional Inference Of Hypothetical Proteins From Mycoplasma Hyopneumoniae," *Journal Of Molecular Modeling*, vol. 18, pp. 1917–1925, 2012.
- [7] D. T. Jones, "Protein Secondary Structure Prediction Based On Position-Specific Scoring Matrices," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 292, no. 2, pp. 195–202, 1999.

- [8] A. J. Simpkin, F. Sanchez Rodriguez, S. Mesdaghi, A. Kryshtafovych, and D. J. Rigden, "Evaluation Of Model Refinement In CASP14," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 89, no. 12, pp. 1852–1869, 2021.
- [9] S. Mesdaghi, D. L. Murphy, F. S. Rodríguez, J. J. Burgos-Mármol, and D. J. Rigden, "In Silico Prediction Of Structure And Function For A Large Family Of Transmembrane Proteins That Includes Human Tmem41b," *F1000Research*, vol. 9, 2020.
- [10] J. P. Overington, B. Al-Lazikani, and A. L. Hopkins, "How Many Drug Targets Are There?" *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 993–996, 2006.
- [11] O. Vögler, J. M. Barceló, C. Ribas, and P. V. Escribá, "Membrane Interactions Of G Proteins And Other Related Proteins," *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-*Biomembranes*, vol. 1778, no. 7-8, pp. 1640–1652, 2008.
- [12] D. S. Cafiso, "Structure And Interactions Of C2 Domains At Membrane Surfaces," *Protein–lipid Interactions: From Membrane Domains To Cellular Networks*, pp. 403–422, 2005.
- [13] S. Takida and P. B. Wedegaertner, "Exocytic Pathway-Independent Plasma Membrane Targeting Of Heterotrimeric G Proteins," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 567, no. 2-3, pp. 209–213, 2004.
- [14] J. E. Johnson and R. B. Cornell, "Amphitropic Proteins: Regulation By Reversible Membrane Interactions," *Molecular Membrane Biology*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 217–235, 1999.
- [15] J. Selkrig, D. L. Leyton, C. T. Webb, and T. Lithgow, "Assembly Of -Barrel Proteins Into Bacterial Outer Membranes," *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-Molecular Cell Research, vol. 1843, no. 8, pp. 1542–1550, 2014.
- [16] J. A. Baker, W.-C. Wong, B. Eisenhaber, J. Warwicker, and F. Eisenhaber,"Charged Residues Next To Transmembrane Regions revisited:"Positive-inside
Rule" Is Complemented By The "Negative Inside Depletion/Outside Enrichment Rule"," *BMC Biology*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 1–29, 2017.

- [17] W. C. Wimley, T. P. Creamer, and S. H. White, "Solvation Energies Of Amino Acid Side Chains And Backbone In A Family Of Host- Guest Pentapeptides," *Biochemistry*, vol. 35, no. 16, pp. 5109–5124, 1996.
- [18] A. Lesk, *Protein Science*. Oxford University Press, 2021.
- [19] B. Alberts, A. Johnson, J. Lewis, M. Raff, K. Roberts, and P. Walter, "Principles Of Membrane Transport," in *Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th edition*. Garland Science, 2002.
- [20] F. Ashcroft, D. Gadsby, and C. Miller, "Introduction. The Blurred Boundary Between Channels And Transporters: We Dedicate This Volume To The Memory Of Peter Läuger, A Pioneer Of The Link Between Channels And Pumps." pp. 145–147, 2009.
- [21] C. Miller and W. Nguitragool, "A Provisional Transport Mechanism For A Chloride Channel-Type Cl-/H+ Exchanger," *Philosophical Transactions Of The Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 364, no. 1514, pp. 175–180, 2009.
- [22] D. C. Gadsby, A. Takeuchi, P. Artigas, and N. Reyes, "Peering Into An ATPase Ion Pump With Single-Channel Recordings," *Philosophical Transactions Of The Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 364, no. 1514, pp. 229–238, 2009.
- [23] K. Khafizov, C. Madrid-Aliste, S. C. Almo, and A. Fiser, "Trends In Structural Coverage Of The Protein Universe And The Impact Of The Protein Structure Initiative," *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, vol. 111, no. 10, p. 3733, 2014.
- [24] M. S. Almén, K. J. Nordström, R. Fredriksson, and H. B. Schiöth, "Mapping The Human Membrane Proteome: A Majority Of The Human Membrane Proteins

Can Be Classified According To Function And Evolutionary Origin," *BMC Biology*, vol. 7, p. 50, 2009.

- [25] R. Grisshammer and C. G. Tateu, "Overexpression Of Integral Membrane Proteins For Structural Studies," *Quarterly Reviews Of Biophysics*, vol. 28, no. 03, p. 315, aug 1995.
- [26] J. K. Leman, B. D. Weitzner, S. M. Lewis, J. Adolf-Bryfogle, N. Alam, R. F. Alford, M. Aprahamian, D. Baker, K. A. Barlow, P. Barth *et al.*,
  "Macromolecular Modeling And Design In Rosetta: Recent Methods And Frameworks," *Nature Methods*, vol. 17, no. 7, pp. 665–680, 2020.
- [27] I. G. Denisov and S. G. Sligar, "Nanodiscs For Structural And Functional Studies Of Membrane Proteins," *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 481–486, 2016.
- [28] T. H. Bayburt and S. G. Sligar, "Membrane Protein Assembly Into Nanodiscs," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 584, no. 9, pp. 1721–1727, 2010.
- [29] D. M. Rosenbaum, V. Cherezov, M. A. Hanson, S. G. Rasmussen, F. S. Thian, T. S. Kobilka, H.-J. Choi, X.-J. Yao, W. I. Weis, R. C. Stevens *et al.*, "GPCR Engineering Yields High-Resolution Structural Insights Into 2-Adrenergic Receptor Function," *Science*, vol. 318, no. 5854, pp. 1266–1273, 2007.
- [30] B. Vögeli, "The Nuclear Overhauser Effect From A Quantitative Perspective," Progress In Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy, vol. 78, pp. 1–46, 2014.
- [31] L. Kaltschnee, K. Knoll, V. Schmidts, R. W. Adams, M. Nilsson, G. A. Morris, and C. M. Thiele, "Extraction Of Distance Restraints From Pure Shift NOE Experiments," *Journal Of Magnetic Resonance*, vol. 271, pp. 99–109, 2016.
- [32] V. Sojo, C. Dessimoz, A. Pomiankowski, and N. Lane, "Membrane Proteins Are Dramatically Less Conserved Than Water-Soluble Proteins Across The Tree Of Life," *Molecular Biology And Evolution*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 2874–2884, nov 2016.

- [33] D. Baker and A. Sali, "Protein Structure Prediction And Structural Genomics," *Science*, vol. 294, no. 5540, pp. 93–96, 2001.
- [34] B. Webb and A. Sali, "Comparative Protein Structure Modeling Using MODELLER," *Current Protocols In Bioinformatics*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 5–6, 2016.
- [35] A. Tabassum, T. Rajeshwari, N. Soni, D. Raju, M. Yadav, A. Nayarisseri, and P. Jahan, "Structural Characterization And Mutational Assessment Of Podocin—A Novel Drug Target To Nephrotic Syndrome—An In Silico Approach," *Interdisciplinary Sciences: Computational Life Sciences*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 32–39, 2014.
- [36] J. Yang, R. Yan, A. Roy, D. Xu, J. Poisson, and Y. Zhang, "The I-TASSER Suite: Protein Structure And Function Prediction," *Nature Methods*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 7–8, 2015.
- [37] T. Hansson, C. Oostenbrink, and W. van Gunsteren, "Molecular Dynamics Simulations," *Current Opinion In Structural Biology*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 190–196, 2002.
- [38] T. J. Lane, D. Shukla, K. A. Beauchamp, and V. S. Pande, "To Milliseconds And Beyond: Challenges In The Simulation Of Protein Folding," *Current Opinion In Structural Biology*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 58–65, 2013.
- [39] C. A. Bonito, P. Leandro, F. V. Ventura, and R. C. Guedes, "Insights Into Medium-Chain acyl-CoA Dehydrogenase Structure By Molecular Dynamics Simulations," *Chemical Biology & Drug Design*, vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 281–292, 2016.
- [40] J. Koehler Leman, M. B. Ulmschneider, and J. J. Gray, "Computational Modeling Of Membrane Proteins," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 1–24, 2015.
- [41] A. Krogh, B. Larsson, G. Von Heijne, and E. L. Sonnhammer, "Predicting Transmembrane Protein Topology With A Hidden Markov Model: Application

To Complete Genomes," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 305, no. 3, pp. 567–580, 2001.

- [42] J. Koehler, N. Woetzel, R. Staritzbichler, C. R. Sanders, and J. Meiler, "A Unified Hydrophobicity Scale For Multispan Membrane Proteins," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 76, no. 1, pp. 13–29, 2009.
- [43] H. Viklund, E. Granseth, and A. Elofsson, "Structural Classification And Prediction Of Reentrant Regions In -Helical Transmembrane Proteins: Application To Complete Genomes," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 361, no. 3, pp. 591–603, 2006.
- [44] K. D. Tsirigos, C. Peters, N. Shu, L. Käll, and A. Elofsson, "The TOPCONS Web Server For Consensus Prediction Of Membrane Protein Topology And Signal Peptides." *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 43, no. W1, pp. W401–7, jul 2015.
- [45] M. M. Gromiha, S. Ahmad, and M. Suwa, "TMBETA-NET: Discrimination And Prediction Of Membrane Spanning -Strands In Outer Membrane Proteins," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 33, no. suppl\_2, pp. W164–W167, 2005.
- [46] N. K. Singh, A. Goodman, P. Walter, V. Helms, and S. Hayat, "TMBHMM: A Frequency Profile Based HMM For Predicting The Topology Of Transmembrane Beta Barrel Proteins And The Exposure Status Of Transmembrane Residues," *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins And Proteomics*, vol. 1814, no. 5, pp. 664–670, 2011.
- [47] D. Kozma, I. Simon, and G. E. Tusnády, "PDBTM: Protein Data Bank Of Transmembrane Proteins After 8 Years," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 41, no. D1, pp. D524–D529, nov 2012.
- [48] M. A. Lomize, I. D. Pogozheva, H. Joo, H. I. Mosberg, and A. L. Lomize, "OPM Database And PPM Web Server: Resources For Positioning Of Proteins In Membranes," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 40, no. D1, jan 2012.

- [49] B. Rost and C. Sander, "Third Generation Prediction Of Secondary Structures," in *Protein structure prediction*. Springer, 2000, pp. 71–95.
- [50] D. W. Buchan and D. T. Jones, "The PSIPRED Protein Analysis Workbench: 20 Years On," Nucleic Acids Research, vol. 47, no. W1, pp. W402–W407, 2019.
- [51] E. A. Ponomarenko, E. V. Poverennaya, E. V. Ilgisonis, M. A. Pyatnitskiy, A. T. Kopylov, V. G. Zgoda, A. V. Lisitsa, and A. I. Archakov, "The Size Of The Human Proteome: The Width And Depth," *International Journal Of Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 2016, 2016.
- [52] P. Craveur, A. P. Joseph, P. Poulain, A. G. de Brevern, and J. Rebehmed,
   "Cis-trans Isomerization Of Omega Dihedrals In Proteins," *Amino Acids*,
   vol. 45, pp. 279–289, 2013.
- [53] C. Hardin, T. V. Pogorelov, and Z. Luthey-Schulten, "Ab Initio Protein Structure Prediction," *Current Opinion In Structural Biology*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 176–181, 2002.
- [54] J. E. Jones, "On The Determination Of Molecular fields.—I. From The Variation Of The Viscosity Of A Gas With Temperature," *Proceedings Of The Royal Society Of London. Series A, Containing Papers Of A Mathematical And Physical Character*, vol. 106, no. 738, pp. 441–462, 1924.
- [55] P. Barth, J. Schonbrun, and D. Baker, "Toward High-Resolution Prediction And Design Of Transmembrane Helical Protein Structures," *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, vol. 104, no. 40, pp. 15682–15687, 2007.
- [56] J. Yang, I. Anishchenko, H. Park, Z. Peng, S. Ovchinnikov, and D. Baker, "Improved Protein Structure Prediction Using Predicted Interresidue Orientations." *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, vol. 117, no. 3, pp. 1496–1503, jan 2020.

- [57] T. A. Hopf, L. J. Colwell, R. Sheridan, B. Rost, C. Sander, and D. S. Marks, "Three-dimensional Structures Of Membrane Proteins From Genomic Sequencing." *Cell*, vol. 149, no. 7, pp. 1607–21, jun 2012.
- [58] D. S. Marks, L. J. Colwell, R. Sheridan, T. A. Hopf, A. Pagnani, R. Zecchina, and C. Sander, "Protein 3D Structure Computed From Evolutionary Sequence Variation," *PloS One*, vol. 6, no. 12, p. e28766, 2011.
- [59] T. A. Hopf, L. J. Colwell, R. Sheridan, B. Rost, C. Sander, and D. S. Marks, "Three-dimensional Structures Of Membrane Proteins From Genomic Sequencing," *Cell*, vol. 149, no. 7, pp. 1607–1621, 2012.
- [60] J.-Y. Lee, L. N. Kinch, D. M. Borek, J. Wang, J. Wang, I. L. Urbatsch, X.-S. Xie, N. V. Grishin, J. C. Cohen, Z. Otwinowski, H. H. Hobbs, and D. M. Rosenbaum, "Crystal Structure Of The Human Sterol Transporter ABCG5/ABCG8." *Nature*, vol. 533, no. 7604, pp. 561–4, 2016.
- [61] T. Braun, J. Koehler Leman, and O. F. Lange, "Combining Evolutionary Information And An Iterative Sampling Strategy For Accurate Protein Structure Prediction," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 11, no. 12, p. e1004661, 2015.
- [62] A. Lapedes, B. Giraud, L. Liu, G. S. L. Notes-Monograph, and undefined 1999, "Correlated Mutations In Models Of Protein Sequences: Phylogenetic And Structural Effects," JSTOR.
- [63] F. Simkovic, S. Ovchinnikov, D. Baker, and D. J. Rigden, "Applications Of Contact Predictions To Structural Biology," pp. 291–300, may 2017.
- [64] F. Morcos, A. Pagnani, B. Lunt, A. Bertolino, D. S. Marks, C. Sander,
  R. Zecchina, J. N. Onuchic, T. Hwa, and M. Weigt, "Direct-coupling Analysis Of Residue Coevolution Captures Native Contacts Across Many Protein Families." *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, vol. 108, no. 49, pp. E1293–301, dec 2011.

- [65] D. T. Jones, D. W. Buchan, D. Cozzetto, and M. Pontil, "PSICOV: Precise Structural Contact Prediction Using Sparse Inverse Covariance Estimation On Large Multiple Sequence Alignments," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 184–190, 2012.
- [66] A. T. Brünger, P. D. Adams, G. M. Clore, W. L. DeLano, P. Gros, R. W. Grosse-Kunstleve, J.-S. Jiang, J. Kuszewski, M. Nilges, N. S. Pannu *et al.*,
  "Crystallography & NMR System: A New Software Suite For Macromolecular Structure Determination," *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 905–921, 1998.
- [67] T. Wu, J. Hou, B. Adhikari, and J. Cheng, "Analysis Of Several Key Factors Influencing Deep Learning-Based Inter-Residue Contact Prediction," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 1091–1098, feb 2020.
- [68] T. Kosciolek and D. T. Jones, "Accurate Contact Predictions Using Covariation Techniques And Machine Learning," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 84, pp. 145–151, 2016.
- [69] S. Wang, S. Sun, and J. Xu, "Analysis Of Deep Learning Methods For Blind Protein Contact Prediction In CASP12," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 86, pp. 67–77, 2018.
- [70] S. Albawi, T. A. Mohammed, and S. Al-Zawi, "Understanding Of A Convolutional Neural Network," in 2017 international conference on engineering and technology (ICET). Ieee, 2017, pp. 1–6.
- [71] Y. Li, C. Zhang, E. W. Bell, W. Zheng, X. Zhou, D.-J. Yu, and Y. Zhang, "Deducing High-Accuracy Protein Contact-Maps From A Triplet Of Coevolutionary Matrices Through Deep Residual Convolutional Networks," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 17, no. 3, p. e1008865, 2021.
- [72] S. Li, J. Jiao, Y. Han, and T. Weissman, "Demystifying Resnet," arXiv Preprint arXiv:1611.01186, 2016.

- [73] D. J. Rigden, "Use Of Covariance Analysis For The Prediction Of Structural Domain Boundaries From Multiple Protein Sequence Alignments," *Protein Engineering, Design And Selection*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 65–77, feb 2002.
- [74] S. H. P. de Oliveira, J. Shi, and C. M. Deane, "Comparing Co-Evolution Methods And Their Application To Template-Free Protein Structure Prediction," *Bioinformatics*, p. btw618, sep 2016.
- [75] F. Sánchez Rodríguez, S. Mesdaghi, A. J. Simpkin, J. J. Burgos-Mármol, D. L. Murphy, V. Uski, R. M. Keegan, and D. J. Rigden, "ConPlot: Web-Based Application For The Visualization Of Protein Contact Maps Integrated With Other Data," *Bioinformatics*, 2021.
- [76] Z. Du, H. Su, W. Wang, L. Ye, H. Wei, Z. Peng, I. Anishchenko, D. Baker, and
   J. Yang, "The trRosetta Server For Fast And Accurate Protein Structure
   Prediction," *Nature Protocols*, vol. 16, no. 12, pp. 5634–5651, 2021.
- [77] J. G. Greener, S. M. Kandathil, and D. T. Jones, "Deep Learning Extends De Novo Protein Modelling Coverage Of Genomes Using Iteratively Predicted Structural Constraints," *Nature Communications*, vol. 10, no. 1, dec 2019.
- [78] T. F. Havel, "An Evaluation Of Computational Strategies For Use In The Determination Of Protein Structure From Distance Constraints Obtained By Nuclear Magnetic Resonance," *Progress In Biophysics And Molecular Biology*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 43–78, 1991.
- [79] J. Jumper, R. Evans, A. Pritzel, T. Green, M. Figurnov, O. Ronneberger,
  K. Tunyasuvunakool, R. Bates, A. Žídek, A. Potapenko, A. Bridgland, C. Meyer,
  S. A. A. Kohl, A. J. Ballard, A. Cowie, B. Romera-Paredes, S. Nikolov, R. Jain,
  J. Adler, T. Back, S. Petersen, D. Reiman, E. Clancy, M. Zielinski, M. Steinegger,
  M. Pacholska, T. Berghammer, S. Bodenstein, D. Silver, O. Vinyals, A. W. Senior,
  K. Kavukcuoglu, P. Kohli, and D. Hassabis, "Highly Accurate Protein Structure
  Prediction With AlphaFold," *Nature*, vol. 596, no. 7873, pp. 583–589, aug 2021.

- [80] Y. Yan and S.-Y. Huang, "Accurate Prediction Of Inter-Protein Residue–Residue Contacts For Homo-Oligomeric Protein Complexes," *Briefings In Bioinformatics*, 2021.
- [81] T. Hegedűs, M. Geisler, G. Lukács, and B. Farkas, "AlphaFold2 Transmembrane Protein Structure Prediction Shines," *bioRxiv*, 2021.
- [82] A. David, S. Islam, E. Tankhilevich, and M. J. Sternberg, "The AlphaFold Database Of Protein Structures: A Biologist's Guide," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 434, no. 2, p. 167336, 2022.
- [83] S. Ovchinnikov, L. Kinch, H. Park, Y. Liao, J. Pei, D. E. Kim, H. Kamisetty, N. V. Grishin, and D. Baker, "Large-scale Determination Of Previously Unsolved Protein Structures Using Evolutionary Information," *Elife*, vol. 4, p. e09248, 2015.
- [84] S. Ovchinnikov, H. Park, N. Varghese, P.-S. Huang, G. A. Pavlopoulos, D. E. Kim, H. Kamisetty, N. C. Kyrpides, and D. Baker, "Protein Structure Determination Using Metagenome Sequence Data." *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 355, no. 6322, pp. 294–298, jan 2017.
- [85] S. El-Gebali, J. Mistry, A. Bateman, S. R. Eddy, A. Luciani, S. C. Potter,
  M. Qureshi, L. J. Richardson, G. A. Salazar, A. Smart, E. L. Sonnhammer,
  L. Hirsh, L. Paladin, D. Piovesan, S. C. Tosatto, and R. D. Finn, "The Pfam
  Protein Families Database In 2019," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 47, no. D1, pp.
  D427–D432, jan 2019.
- [86] L. Zimmermann, A. Stephens, S.-Z. Nam, D. Rau, J. Kübler, M. Lozajic,
  F. Gabler, J. Söding, A. N. Lupas, and V. Alva, "A Completely Reimplemented MPI Bioinformatics Toolkit With A New HHpred Server At Its Core," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 430, no. 15, pp. 2237–2243, jul 2018.
- [87] M. Remmert, A. Biegert, A. Hauser, and J. Söding, "Hhblits: Lightning-Fast

Iterative Protein Sequence Searching By Hmm-Hmm Alignment," vol. 9, no. 2, 2012.

- [88] L. S. Johnson, S. R. Eddy, and E. Portugaly, "Hidden Markov Model Speed Heuristic And Iterative HMM Search Procedure," *BMC Bioinformatics* 2010 11:1, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–8, aug 2010.
- [89] C. Aurrecoechea, A. Barreto, E. Y. Basenko, J. Brestelli, B. P. Brunk, S. Cade, K. Crouch, R. Doherty, D. Falke, S. Fischer, B. Gajria, O. S. Harb, M. Heiges, C. Hertz-Fowler, S. Hu, J. Iodice, J. C. Kissinger, C. Lawrence, W. Li, D. F. Pinney, J. A. Pulman, D. S. Roos, A. Shanmugasundram, F. Silva-Franco, S. Steinbiss, C. J. Stoeckert, D. Spruill, H. Wang, S. Warrenfeltz, J. Zheng, and J. Zheng, "EuPathDB: The Eukaryotic Pathogen Genomics Database Resource." *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 45, no. D1, pp. D581–D591, 2017.
- [90] R. Apweiler, A. Bairoch, C. H. Wu, W. C. Barker, B. Boeckmann, S. Ferro,
  E. Gasteiger, H. Huang, R. Lopez, M. Magrane, M. J. Martin, D. A. Natale,
  C. O'Donovan, N. Redaschi, and L.-S. L. Yeh, "UniProt: The Universal Protein Knowledgebase," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 32, no. 90001, pp. 115D–119, jan 2004.
- [91] M. Steinegger, M. Mirdita, and J. Söding, "Protein-level Assembly Increases Protein Sequence Recovery From Metagenomic Samples Manyfold," *bioRxiv*, p. 386110, aug 2018.
- [92] A. L. Mitchell, A. Almeida, M. Beracochea, M. Boland, J. Burgin, G. Cochrane, M. R. Crusoe, V. Kale, S. C. Potter, L. J. Richardson, E. Sakharova, M. Scheremetjew, A. Korobeynikov, A. Shlemov, O. Kunyavskaya, A. Lapidus, and R. D. Finn, "MGnify: The Microbiome Analysis Resource In 2020," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 48, no. D1, pp. D570–D578, nov 2019.
- [93] S. Kandathil, J. Greener, and D. Jones, "Prediction Of Inter-Residue Contacts With DeepMetaPSICOV In CASP13," *bioRxiv*, p. 586800, 2019.

- [94] Y. Li, J. Hu, C. Zhang, D. Yu, Y. Z. Bioinformatics, and undefined 2019,
   "ResPRE: High-Accuracy Protein Contact Prediction By Coupling Precision Matrix With Deep Residual Neural Networks," *Academic.Oup.Com*.
- [95] F. Simkovic, J. M. H. Thomas, and D. J. Rigden, "ConKit: A Python Interface To Contact Predictions," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 33, no. 14, pp. 2209–2211, jul 2017.
- [96] S. Raman, R. Vernon, J. Thompson, M. Tyka, R. Sadreyev, J. Pei, D. Kim, E. Kellogg, F. DiMaio, O. Lange *et al.*, "Structure Prediction For CASP8 With All-Atom Refinement Using Rosetta," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 77, no. S9, pp. 89–99, 2009.
- [97] L. J. McGuffin, K. Bryson, and D. T. Jones, "The PSIPRED Protein Structure Prediction Server," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 404–405, apr 2000.
- [98] V. Yarov-Yarovoy, J. Schonbrun, and D. Baker, "Multipass Membrane Protein Structure Prediction Using Rosetta," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 1010–1025, 2006.
- [99] H. Viklund and A. Elofsson, "OCTOPUS: Improving Topology Prediction By Two-Track ANN-based Preference Scores And An Extended Topological Grammar," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 24, no. 15, pp. 1662–1668, aug 2008.
- [100] Y. Zhang and J. Skolnick, "SPICKER: A Clustering Approach To Identify Near-Native Protein Folds," Tech. Rep., 2004.
- [101] N. Eswar, B. Webb, M. A. Marti-Renom, M. Madhusudhan, D. Eramian, M.-y. Shen, U. Pieper, and A. Sali, "Comparative Protein Structure Modeling Using Modeller," *Current Protocols In Bioinformatics*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 5–6, 2006.
- [102] H. Viklund and A. Elofsson, "OCTOPUS: Improving Topology Prediction By Two-Track ANN-based Preference Scores And An Extended Topological Grammar," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 24, no. 15, pp. 1662–1668, 2008.

- [103] P. L. Teixeira, J. L. Mendenhall, S. Heinze, B. Weiner, M. J. Skwark, and J. Meiler, "Membrane Protein Contact And Structure Prediction Using Co-Evolution In Conjunction With Machine Learning," *Plos One*, vol. 12, no. 5, p. e0177866, 2017.
- [104] S. M. Reynolds, L. Käll, M. E. Riffle, J. A. Bilmes, and W. S. Noble,
  "Transmembrane Topology And Signal Peptide Prediction Using Dynamic Bayesian Networks," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 4, no. 11, p. e1000213, 2008.
- [105] D. T. Jones, "Improving The Accuracy Of Transmembrane Protein Topology Prediction Using Evolutionary Information," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 538–544, 2007.
- [106] J. Reeb, E. Kloppmann, M. Bernhofer, and B. Rost, "Evaluation Of Transmembrane Helix Predictions In 2014," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 473–484, 2015.
- [107] S. F. Altschul and E. V. Koonin, "Iterated Profile Searches With PSI-BLAST—a Tool For Discovery In Protein Databases," *Trends In Biochemical Sciences*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 444–447, 1998.
- [108] H. Ashkenazy, S. Abadi, E. Martz, O. Chay, I. Mayrose, T. Pupko, and N. Ben-Tal, "ConSurf 2016: An Improved Methodology To Estimate And Visualize Evolutionary Conservation In Macromolecules," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 44, no. W1, pp. W344–W350, jul 2016.
- [109] W. DeLano, "The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System. DeLano Scientific, San Carlos, California, USA," 2002.
- [110] E. H. Baugh, S. Lyskov, B. D. Weitzner, and J. J. Gray, "Real-time PyMOL Visualization For Rosetta And PyRosetta," *PloS One*, vol. 6, no. 8, p. e21931, 2011.

- [111] L. Holm and L. M. Laakso, "Dali Server Update," Nucleic Acids Research, vol. 44, no. W1, pp. W351–W355, jul 2016.
- [112] C. A. Orengo and W. R. Taylor, "[36] SSAP: Sequential Structure Alignment Program For Protein Structure Comparison," in *Methods in enzymology*. Elsevier, 1996, vol. 266, pp. 617–635.
- [113] A. Falicov and F. E. Cohen, "A Surface Of Minimum Area Metric For The Structural Comparison Of Proteins," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 258, no. 5, pp. 871–892, 1996.
- [114] E. Krissinel and K. Henrick, "Secondary-structure Matching (SSM), A New Tool For Fast Protein Structure Alignment In Three Dimensions," Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 2256–2268, 2004.
- [115] D. Yusuf, A. M. Davis, G. J. Kleywegt, and S. Schmitt, "An Alternative Method For The Evaluation Of Docking Performance: RSR Vs RMSD," *Journal Of Chemical Information And Modeling*, vol. 48, no. 7, pp. 1411–1422, 2008.
- [116] R. Gautier, D. Douguet, B. Antonny, and G. Drin, "HELIQUEST: A Web Server To Screen Sequences With Specific -Helical Properties," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 24, no. 18, pp. 2101–2102, sep 2008.
- [117] P. W. Fowler and P. V. Coveney, "A Computational Protocol For The Integration Of The Monotopic Protein Prostaglandin H2 Synthase Into A Phospholipid Bilayer." *Biophysical Journal*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 401–10, jul 2006.
- [118] M. D. Resh, "Lipid Modification Of Proteins," *Biochemistry Of Lipids*, *Lipoproteins And Membranes*, pp. 391–414, jan 2016.
- [119] C. M. Guardia, X.-F. Tan, T. Lian, M. S. Rana, W. Zhou, E. T. Christenson, A. J. Lowry, J. D. Faraldo-Gómez, J. S. Bonifacino, J. Jiang *et al.*, "Structure Of

Human ATG9A, The Only Transmembrane Protein Of The Core Autophagy Machinery," *Cell Reports*, vol. 31, no. 13, p. 107837, 2020.

- [120] K. Morita, Y. Hama, and N. Mizushima, "TMEM41B Functions With VMP1 In Autophagosome Formation," *Autophagy*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 922–923, may 2019.
- [121] F. Moretti, P. Bergman, S. Dodgson, D. Marcellin, I. Claerr, J. M. Goodwin,
  R. DeJesus, Z. Kang, C. Antczak, D. Begue, D. Bonenfant, A. Graff, C. Genoud,
  J. S. Reece-Hoyes, C. Russ, Z. Yang, G. R. Hoffman, M. Mueller, L. O. Murphy,
  R. J. Xavier, and B. Nyfeler, "TMEM41B Is A Novel Regulator Of Autophagy
  And Lipid Mobilization." *EMBO Reports*, vol. 19, no. 9, p. e45889, sep 2018.
- [122] F. Lotti, W. Imlach, L. Saieva, E. Beck, L. Hao, D. Li, W. Jiao, G. Mentis,
  C. Beattie, B. McCabe, and L. Pellizzoni, "An SMN-Dependent U12 Splicing Event Essential For Motor Circuit Function," *Cell*, vol. 151, no. 2, pp. 440–454, oct 2012.
- [123] P. Scaturro, A. Stukalov, D. A. Haas, M. Cortese, K. Draganova, A. Płaszczyca,
  R. Bartenschlager, M. Götz, and A. Pichlmair, "An Orthogonal Proteomic
  Survey Uncovers Novel Zika Virus Host Factors," *Nature*, vol. 561, no. 7722, pp. 253–257, sep 2018.
- [124] W. M. Schneider, J. M. Luna, H.-H. Hoffmann, F. J. Sánchez-Rivera, A. A. Leal, A. W. Ashbrook, J. Le Pen, E. Michailidis, I. Ricardo-Lax, A. Peace, A. F. Stenzel, S. W. Lowe, M. R. MacDonald, C. M. Rice, and J. T. Poirier, "Genome-scale Identification Of SARS-CoV-2 And Pan-Coronavirus Host Factor Networks." *bioRxiv : The Preprint Server For Biology*, p. 2020.10.07.326462, oct 2020.
- [125] H. H. Hoffmann, W. M. Schneider, K. Rozen-Gagnon, L. A. Miles, F. Schuster,
  B. Razooky, E. Jacobson, X. Wu, S. Yi, C. M. Rudin, M. R. MacDonald, L. K.
  McMullan, J. T. Poirier, and C. M. Rice, "TMEM41B Is A Pan-flavivirus Host Factor," *Cell*, vol. 184, no. 1, pp. 133–148.e20, jan 2021.

- [126] M. Van Alstyne, F. Lotti, A. Dal Mas, E. Area-Gomez, and L. Pellizzoni,
   "Stasimon/Tmem41b Localizes To Mitochondria-Associated ER Membranes And Is Essential For Mouse Embryonic Development," *Biochemical And Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 506, no. 3, pp. 463–470, nov 2018.
- [127] L.-C. Tábara, O. Vincent, and R. Escalante, "Evidence For An Evolutionary Relationship Between Vmp1 And Bacterial DedA Proteins," *The International Journal Of Developmental Biology*, vol. 63, no. 1-2, pp. 67–71, feb 2019.
- [128] R. Keller and D. Schneider, "Homologs Of The Yeast Tvp38 Vesicle-Associated Protein Are Conserved In Chloroplasts And Cyanobacteria," *Frontiers In Plant Science*, vol. 4, no. NOV, nov 2013.
- [129] H. Inadome, Y. Noda, Y. Kamimura, H. Adachi, and K. Yoda, "Tvp38, Tvp23, Tvp18 And Tvp15: Novel Membrane Proteins In The Tlg2-containing Golgi/endosome Compartments Of Saccharomyces Cerevisiae," *Experimental Cell Research*, vol. 313, no. 4, pp. 688–697, feb 2007.
- [130] W. T. Doerrler, R. Sikdar, S. Kumar, and L. A. Boughner, "New Functions For The Ancient DedA Membrane Protein Family," *Journal Of Bacteriology*, vol. 195, no. 1, pp. 3–11, jan 2013.
- [131] M. L. Nonet, C. Marvel, and D. Tolan, "The hisT-purF Region Of The Escherichia Coli K-12 Chromosome. Identification Of Additional Genes Of The hisT And purF Operons." *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 262, no. 25, pp. 12 209–12 217, 1987.
- [132] R. Keller, C. Ziegler, and D. Schneider, "When Two Turn Into One: Evolution Of Membrane Transporters From Half Modules," *Biological Chemistry*, vol. 395, no. 12, pp. 1379–88, jan 2014.
- [133] K. Thompkins, B. Chattopadhyay, Y. Xiao, M. C. Henk, and W. T. Doerrler, "Temperature Sensitivity And Cell Division Defects In An Escherichia Coli Strain With Mutations In yghB And yqjA, Encoding Related And Conserved

Inner Membrane Proteins." *Journal Of Bacteriology*, vol. 190, no. 13, pp. 4489–500, jul 2008.

- [134] L. Feng, E. B. Campbell, Y. Hsiung, and R. MacKinnon, "Structure Of A Eukaryotic CLC Transporter Defines An Intermediate State In The Transport Cycle." *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, vol. 330, no. 6004, pp. 635–41, oct 2010.
- [135] P. R. Panta, S. Kumar, C. F. Stafford, C. E. Billiot, M. V. Douglass, C. M. Herrera, M. S. Trent, and W. T. Doerrler, "A DedA Family Membrane Protein Is Required For Burkholderia Thailandensis Colistin Resistance," *Frontiers In Microbiology*, vol. 10, p. 2532, nov 2019.
- [136] C. Yan and J. Luo, "An Analysis Of Reentrant Loops," *The Protein Journal*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 350–354, jul 2010.
- [137] T. Frickey and A. Lupas, "CLANS: A Java Application For Visualizing Protein Families Based On Pairwise Similarity," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 20, no. 18, pp. 3702–3704, dec 2004.
- [138] S. Altschul, T. L. Madden, A. A. Schäffer, J. Zhang, Z. Zhang, W. Miller, and
   D. J. Lipman, "Gapped BLAST And PSI-BLAST: A New Generation Of Protein
   Database Search Programs," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 25, no. 17, pp.
   3389–3402, sep 1997.
- [139] M. I. Sadowski, "Prediction Of Protein Domain Boundaries From Inverse Covariances." *Proteins*, vol. 81, no. 2, pp. 253–60, feb 2013.
- [140] A. M. Waterhouse, J. B. Procter, D. M. A. Martin, M. Clamp, and G. J. Barton,
   "Jalview Version 2–A Multiple Sequence Alignment Editor And Analysis
   Workbench," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1189–1191, may 2009.
- [141] F. Jeanmougin, J. D. Thompson, M. Gouy, D. G. Higgins, and T. J. Gibson,
  "Multiple Sequence Alignment With Clustal X," *Trends In Biochemical Sciences*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 403–405, 1998.

- [142] J. Soding, "Protein Homology Detection By HMM-HMM Comparison," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 951–960, apr 2005.
- [143] Y. Liu, P. Palmedo, Q. Ye, B. Berger, and J. Peng, "Enhancing Evolutionary Couplings With Deep Convolutional Neural Networks," *Cell Systems*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 65–74.e3, jan 2018.
- [144] Q. Wu, Z. Peng, I. Anishchenko, Q. Cong, D. Baker, and J. Yang, "Protein Contact Prediction Using Metagenome Sequence Data And Residual Neural Networks," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 41–48, 2020.
- [145] S. H. P. de Oliveira, J. Shi, and C. M. Deane, "Comparing Co-Evolution Methods And Their Application To Template-Free Protein Structure Prediction," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 373–381, 2017.
- [146] R. F. Alford, J. Koehler Leman, B. D. Weitzner, A. M. Duran, D. C. Tilley,
  A. Elazar, and J. J. Gray, "An Integrated Framework Advancing Membrane Protein Modeling And Design," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 11, no. 9, p. e1004398, 2015.
- [147] S. Pichoff, S. Du, and J. Lutkenhaus, "Roles Of FtsEX In Cell Division," Research In Microbiology, vol. 170, no. 8, pp. 374–380, 2019.
- [148] A. Godzik, J. Skolnick, and A. Kolinski, "Regularities In Interaction Patterns Of Globular Proteins," *Protein Engineering, Design And Selection*, vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 801–810, 1993.
- [149] W. R. Taylor, "An Algorithm To Parse Segment Packing In Predicted Protein Contact Maps," Algorithms For Molecular Biology, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2016.
- [150] E. C. Law, H. R. Wilman, S. Kelm, J. Shi, and C. M. Deane, "Examining The Conservation Of Kinks In Alpha Helices," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 11, no. 6, 2016.
- [151] Y. Zhang and J. Skolnick, "TM-align: A Protein Structure Alignment Algorithm

Based On The TM-score," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 2302–2309, 2005.

- [152] T. Iwamoto, T. Y. Nakamura, Y. Pan, A. Uehara, I. Imanaga, and M. Shigekawa,
   "Unique Topology Of The Internal Repeats In The Cardiac Na+/Ca2+
   Exchanger," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 446, no. 2-3, pp. 264–268, 1999.
- [153] B. L. de Groot, A. Engel, and H. Grubmüller, "A Refined Structure Of Human Aquaporin-1," *Febs Letters*, vol. 504, no. 3, pp. 206–211, 2001.
- [154] Y. Zhou, J. H. Morais-Cabral, A. Kaufman, and R. MacKinnon, "Chemistry Of Ion Coordination And Hydration Revealed By A K+ channel–Fab Complex At 2.0 Å Resolution," *Nature*, vol. 414, no. 6859, pp. 43–48, 2001.
- [155] R. Dutzler, E. B. Campbell, M. Cadene, B. T. Chait, and R. MacKinnon, "X-ray Structure Of A ClC Chloride Channel At 3.0 Å Reveals The Molecular Basis Of Anion Selectivity," *Nature*, vol. 415, no. 6869, pp. 287–294, 2002.
- [156] J. Kyte and R. F. Doolittle, "A Simple Method For Displaying The Hydropathic Character Of A Protein," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 157, no. 1, pp. 105–132, may 1982.
- [157] M. H. Saier, V. S. Reddy, B. V. Tsu, M. S. Ahmed, C. Li, and
   G. Moreno-Hagelsieb, "The Transporter Classification Database (TCDB): Recent Advances," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 44, no. D1, pp. D372–D379, jan 2016.
- [158] A. M. Duran and J. Meiler, "INVERTED TOPOLOGIES IN MEMBRANE PROTEINS: A MINI-REVIEW," Computational And Structural Biotechnology Journal, vol. 8, no. 11, p. e201308004, aug 2013.
- [159] S. D. Workman, L. J. Worrall, and N. C. Strynadka, "Crystal Structure Of An Intramembranal Phosphatase Central To Bacterial Cell-Wall Peptidoglycan

Biosynthesis And Lipid Recycling," *Nature Communications*, vol. 9, no. 1, dec 2018.

- [160] J. Heng, Y. Zhao, M. Liu, Y. Liu, J. Fan, X. Wang, Y. Zhao, and X. C. Zhang,
   "Substrate-bound Structure Of The E. Coli Multidrug Resistance Transporter MdfA." *Cell Research*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1060–73, sep 2015.
- [161] R. Keller, N. Schleppi, J. Weikum, and D. Schneider, "Mutational Analyses Of YqjA, A Tvp38/DedA Protein Of E. Coli," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 589, no. 7, pp. 842–848, mar 2015.
- [162] H. L. Scarsbrook, R. Urban, B. R. Streather, A. Moores, and C. Mulligan,
   "Topological Analysis Of A Bacterial DedA Protein Associated With Alkaline Tolerance And Antimicrobial Resistance," *Microbiology*, vol. 167, no. 12, p. 001125, 2021.
- [163] N. Mizushima, T. Yoshimori, and Y. Ohsumi, "The Role Of Atg Proteins In Autophagosome Formation," *Annual Review Of Cell And Developmental Biology*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 107–132, nov 2011.
- [164] K. Morita, Y. Hama, T. Izume, N. Tamura, T. Ueno, Y. Yamashita, Y. Sakamaki,
  K. Mimura, H. Morishita, W. Shihoya *et al.*, "Genome-wide CRISPR Screen Identifies TMEM41B As A Gene Required For Autophagosome Formation," *Journal Of Cell Biology*, vol. 217, no. 11, pp. 3817–3828, 2018.
- [165] B. Mészáros, G. Erdős, and Z. Dosztányi, "IUPred2A: Context-Dependent Prediction Of Protein Disorder As A Function Of Redox State And Protein Binding," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 46, no. W1, pp. W329–W337, jul 2018.
- [166] S. Zhang, Y. Hama, and N. Mizushima, "The Evolution Of Autophagy Proteins–Diversification In Eukaryotes And Potential Ancestors In Prokaryotes," *Journal Of Cell Science*, vol. 134, no. 13, p. jcs233742, 2021.

- [167] G. Sudha, C. Bassot, J. Lamb, N. Shu, Y. Huang, and A. Elofsson, "The Evolutionary History Of Topological Variations In The CPA/AT Transporters," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 17, no. 8, p. e1009278, 2021.
- [168] F. Okawa, Y. Hama, S. Zhang, H. Morishita, H. Yamamoto, T. P. Levine, and N. Mizushima, "Evolution And Insights Into The Structure And Function Of The DedA Superfamily Containing TMEM41B And VMP1," *Journal Of Cell Science*, vol. 134, no. 8, p. jcs255877, 2021.
- [169] S. Kumar and W. T. Doerrler, "Members Of The Conserved DedA Family Are Likely Membrane Transporters And Are Required For Drug Resistance In Escherichia Coli." Antimicrobial Agents And Chemotherapy, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 923–30, 2014.
- [170] S. Kumar, C. L. Bradley, P. Mukashyaka, and W. T. Doerrler, "Identification Of Essential Arginine Residues Of <i>Escherichia Coli</I> DedA/Tvp38 Family Membrane Proteins YqjA And YghB," *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, vol. 363, no. 13, p. fnw133, jul 2016.
- [171] X. Zhuang, K. P. Chung, Y. Cui, W. Lin, C. Gao, B.-H. Kang, and L. Jiang,
   "ATG9 Regulates Autophagosome Progression From The Endoplasmic Reticulum In Arabidopsis." *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America*, vol. 114, no. 3, pp. E426–E435, jan 2017.
- [172] J. Sawa-Makarska, V. Baumann, N. Coudevylle, S. von Bülow, V. Nogellova,
  C. Abert, M. Schuschnig, M. Graef, G. Hummer, and S. Martens,
  "Reconstitution Of Autophagosome Nucleation Defines Atg9 Vesicles As Seeds For Membrane Formation," *Science*, vol. 369, no. 6508, p. eaaz7714, 2020.
- [173] H. Yamamoto, S. Kakuta, T. M. Watanabe, A. Kitamura, T. Sekito,
   C. Kondo-Kakuta, R. Ichikawa, M. Kinjo, and Y. Ohsumi, "Atg9 Vesicles Are An Important Membrane Source During Early Steps Of Autophagosome Formation," *Journal Of Cell Biology*, vol. 198, no. 2, pp. 219–233, 2012.

- [174] X. Zhuang, K. P. Chung, Y. Cui, W. Lin, C. Gao, B.-H. Kang, and L. Jiang,
   "ATG9 Regulates Autophagosome Progression From The Endoplasmic Reticulum In Arabidopsis," *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, vol. 114, no. 3, pp. E426–E435, 2017.
- [175] S. M. Tung, C. Ünal, A. Ley, C. Peña, B. Tunggal, A. A. Noegel, O. Krut, M. Steinert, and L. Eichinger, "Loss Of Dictyostelium ATG9 Results In A Pleiotropic Phenotype Affecting Growth, Development, Phagocytosis And Clearance And Replication Of Legionella Pneumophila," *Cellular Microbiology*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 765–780, 2010.
- [176] E. Aslan, N. Küçükoğlu, and M. Arslanyolu, "A Comparative In-Silico Analysis Of Autophagy Proteins In Ciliates," *PeerJ*, vol. 5, p. e2878, 2017.
- [177] D. J. Rigden, P. Michels, and M. L. Ginger, "Autophagy In Protists: Examples Of Secondary Loss, Lineage-Specific Innovations, And The Conundrum Of Remodeling A Single Mitochondrion," *Autophagy*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 784–794, 2009.
- [178] Y. Kusama, K. Sato, N. Kimura, J. Mitamura, H. Ohdaira, and K. Yoshida,
  "Comprehensive Analysis Of Expression Pattern And Promoter Regulation Of Human Autophagy-Related Genes," *Apoptosis*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1165–1175, 2009.
- [179] Z. Ma, Z. Qi, Z. Shan, J. Li, J. Yang, and Z. Xu, "The Role Of CRP And ATG9B Expression In Clear Cell Renal Cell Carcinoma," *Bioscience Reports*, vol. 37, no. 6, 2017.
- [180] E.-J. Yun, S. Kim, J.-T. Hsieh, and S. T. Baek, "Wnt/β-catenin Signaling Pathway Induces Autophagy-Mediated Temozolomide-Resistance In Human Glioblastoma," *Cell Death & Disease*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 1–10, 2020.
- [181] T. Imanishi, M. Unno, W. Kobayashi, N. Yoneda, S. Matsuda, K. Ikeda,T. Hoshii, A. Hirao, K. Miyake, G. N. Barber *et al.*, "Reciprocal Regulation Of

STING And TCR Signaling By mTORC1 For T-cell Activation And Function," *Life Science Alliance*, vol. 2, no. 1, 2019.

- [182] A. R. J. Young, E. Y. W. Chan, X. W. Hu, R. Köchl, S. G. Crawshaw, S. High,
  D. W. Hailey, J. Lippincott-Schwartz, and S. A. Tooze, "Starvation And
  ULK1-dependent Cycling Of Mammalian Atg9 Between The TGN And
  Endosomes," *Journal Of Cell Science*, vol. 119, no. 18, pp. 3888–3900, aug 2006.
- [183] Q. Yang, S. Yi, M. Li, B. Xie, J. Luo, J. Wang, X. Rong, Q. Zhang, Z. Qin, L. Hang et al., "Genetic Analyses Of Oculocutaneous Albinism Types 1 And 2 With Four Novel Mutations," *BMC Medical Genetics*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2019.
- [184] S. Wilkens, "Structure And Mechanism Of ABC Transporters," F1000prime Reports, vol. 7, 2015.
- [185] S. K. Burley, H. M. Berman, C. Christie, J. M. Duarte, Z. Feng, J. Westbrook,
   J. Young, and C. Zardecki, "RCSB Protein Data Bank: Sustaining A Living
   Digital Data Resource That Enables Breakthroughs In Scientific Research And
   Biomedical Education," *Protein Science*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 316–330, jan 2018.
- [186] D. C. Rees, E. Johnson, and O. Lewinson, "ABC Transporters: The Power To Change," Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 218–227, 2009.
- [187] H. Cheng, R. D. Schaeffer, Y. Liao, L. N. Kinch, J. Pei, S. Shi, B.-H. Kim, and N. V. Grishin, "ECOD: An Evolutionary Classification Of Protein Domains," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 10, no. 12, p. e1003926, dec 2014.
- [188] N. S. Kadaba, J. T. Kaiser, E. Johnson, A. Lee, and D. C. Rees, "The High-Affinity E. Coli Methionine ABC Transporter: Structure And Allosteric Regulation," *Science*, vol. 321, no. 5886, pp. 250–253, 2008.
- [189] J. D. Thompson, T. J. Gibson, and D. G. Higgins, "Multiple Sequence Alignment Using ClustalW And ClustalX," *Current Protocols In Bioinformatics*, no. 1, pp. 2–3, 2003.

- [190] Z. Zhang, F. Liu, and J. Chen, "Conformational Changes Of CFTR Upon Phosphorylation And ATP Binding," *Cell*, vol. 170, no. 3, pp. 483–491, 2017.
- [191] M. Hohl, L. M. Hürlimann, S. Böhm, J. Schöppe, M. G. Grütter, E. Bordignon, and M. A. Seeger, "Structural Basis For Allosteric Cross-Talk Between The Asymmetric Nucleotide Binding Sites Of A Heterodimeric ABC Exporter," *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, vol. 111, no. 30, pp. 11025–11030, 2014.
- [192] L. T. F. Lai, C. Yu, J. S. K. Wong, H. S. Lo, S. Benlekbir, L. Jiang, and W. C. Y. Lau, "Subnanometer Resolution cryo-EM Structure Of <i>Arabidopsis Thaliana</I> ATG9," *Autophagy*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 575–583, mar 2020.
- [193] J. Ma, S. Wang, Z. Wang, and J. Xu, "Protein Contact Prediction By Integrating Joint Evolutionary Coupling Analysis And Supervised Learning," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 31, no. 21, pp. 3506–3513, nov 2015.
- [194] S. Srikant, "Evolutionary History Of ATP-binding Cassette Proteins," FEBS Letters, vol. 594, no. 23, pp. 3882–3897, 2020.
- [195] Y. Maruyama, T. Itoh, A. Kaneko, Y. Nishitani, B. Mikami, W. Hashimoto, and K. Murata, "Structure Of A Bacterial ABC Transporter Involved In The Import Of An Acidic Polysaccharide Alginate," *Structure*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 1643–1654, 2015.
- [196] S. Maeda, H. Yamamoto, L. N. Kinch, C. M. Garza, S. Takahashi, C. Otomo, N. V. Grishin, S. Forli, N. Mizushima, and T. Otomo, "Structure, Lipid Scrambling Activity And Role In Autophagosome Formation Of ATG9A," *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 1194–1201, 2020.
- [197] S. Maeda, C. Otomo, and T. Otomo, "The Autophagic Membrane Tether ATG2A Transfers Lipids Between Membranes," *Elife*, vol. 8, p. e45777, 2019.

- [198] Y. Li, S. J. James, D. H. Wyllie, C. Wynne, A. Czibula, A. Bukhari, K. Pye, S. M. Bte Mustafah, R. Fajka-Boja, E. Szabo *et al.*, "TMEM203 Is A Binding Partner And Regulator Of STING-mediated Inflammatory Signaling In Macrophages," *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, vol. 116, no. 33, pp. 16479–16488, 2019.
- [199] S. Törnroth-Horsefield, K. Hedfalk, G. Fischer, K. Lindkvist-Petersson, and
   R. Neutze, "Structural Insights Into Eukaryotic Aquaporin Regulation," *FEBS Letters*, vol. 584, no. 12, pp. 2580–2588, 2010.
- [200] L. R. Forrest, "Structural Symmetry In Membrane Proteins," Annual Review Of Biophysics, vol. 44, pp. 311–337, 2015.
- [201] M. El Ghachi, N. Howe, C.-Y. Huang, V. Olieric, R. Warshamanage, T. Touzé,
   D. Weichert, P. J. Stansfeld, M. Wang, F. Kerff *et al.*, "Crystal Structure Of
   Undecaprenyl-Pyrophosphate Phosphatase And Its Role In Peptidoglycan
   Biosynthesis," *Nature Communications*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2018.
- [202] L. Käll, A. Krogh, and E. L. Sonnhammer, "Advantages Of Combined Transmembrane Topology And Signal Peptide Prediction—The Phobius Web Server," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 35, no. suppl\_2, pp. W429–W432, 2007.
- [203] G. Postic, Y. Ghouzam, R. Chebrek, and J.-C. Gelly, "An Ambiguity Principle For Assigning Protein Structural Domains," *Science Advances*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. e1600552, 2017.
- [204] A. J. Simpkin, J. M. Thomas, R. M. Keegan, and D. J. Rigden, "Exploiting New Generation Ab Initio And Homology Models From Databases For MR," Acta Cryst, vol. 77, p. C688, 2021.
- [205] D. N. Woolfson and D. H. Williams, "The Influence Of Proline Residues On -Helical Structure," FEBS Letters, vol. 277, no. 1-2, pp. 185–188, 1990.

- [206] S. Yohannan, S. Faham, D. Yang, J. P. Whitelegge, and J. U. Bowie, "The Evolution Of Transmembrane Helix Kinks And The Structural Diversity Of G Protein-Coupled Receptors," *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences*, vol. 101, no. 4, pp. 959–963, 2004.
- [207] W. C. Wigley, M. J. Corboy, T. D. Cutler, P. H. Thibodeau, J. Oldan, M. G. Lee, J. Rizo, J. F. Hunt, and P. J. Thomas, "A Protein Sequence That Can Encode Native Structure By Disfavoring Alternate Conformations," *Nature Structural Biology*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 381–388, 2002.
- [208] M. Kumeta, H. A. Konishi, W. Zhang, S. Sakagami, and S. H. Yoshimura, "Prolines In The -Helix Confer The Structural Flexibility And Functional Integrity Of Importin-," 2018.
- [209] J. A. Williamson, S. H. Cho, J. Ye, J. F. Collet, J. R. Beckwith, and J. J. Chou, "Structure And Multistate Function Of The Transmembrane Electron Transporter CcdA," *Nature Structural And Molecular Biology*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 809–814, oct 2015.
- [210] P. D. Stenson, E. V. Ball, M. Mort, A. D. Phillips, J. A. Shiel, N. S. Thomas,
   S. Abeysinghe, M. Krawczak, and D. N. Cooper, "Human Gene Mutation Database (HGMD®): 2003 Update," *Human Mutation*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 577–581, 2003.
- [211] A. W. Partridge, A. G. Therien, and C. M. Deber, "Missense Mutations In Transmembrane Domains Of Proteins: Phenotypic Propensity Of Polar Residues For Human Disease," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 648–656, 2004.
- [212] T. Schmidt, A. J. Situ, and T. S. Ulmer, "Structural And Thermodynamic Basis Of Proline-Induced Transmembrane Complex Stabilization," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2016.

- [213] A. Refaat, M. Owis, S. Abdelhamed, I. Saiki, and H. Sakurai, "Retrospective Screening Of Microarray Data To Identify Candidate IFN-inducible Genes In A HTLV-1 Transformed Model," *Oncology Letters*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 4753–4758, 2018.
- [214] R.-S. Chen, T.-C. Deng, T. Garcia, Z. M. Sellers, and P. M. Best, "Calcium Channel Γ Subunits: A Functionally Diverse Protein Family," *Cell Biochemistry And Biophysics*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 178–186, 2007.
- [215] M. B. C. Moncrief and M. E. Maguire, "Magnesium Transport In Prokaryotes," *JBIC Journal Of Biological Inorganic Chemistry*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 523–527, 1999.
- [216] J. A. Bennett, M. A. Mastrangelo, S. K. Ture, C. O. Smith, S. G. Loelius, R. A. Berg, X. Shi, R. M. Burke, S. L. Spinelli, S. J. Cameron *et al.*, "The Choline Transporter Slc44a2 Controls Platelet Activation And Thrombosis By Regulating Mitochondrial Function," *Nature Communications*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2020.
- [217] B. Arveiler, E. Lasseaux, and F. Morice-Picard, "Clinical And Genetic Aspects Of Albinism," *Presse Medicale (Paris, France: 1983)*, vol. 46, no. 7-8 Pt 1, pp. 648–654, 2017.
- [218] O. Lao, J. De Gruijter, K. Van Duijn, A. Navarro, and M. Kayser, "Signatures Of Positive Selection In Genes Associated With Human Skin Pigmentation As Revealed From Analyses Of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms," *Annals Of Human Genetics*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 354–369, 2007.
- [219] H. Eiberg, J. Troelsen, M. Nielsen, A. Mikkelsen, J. Mengel-From, K. W. Kjaer, and L. Hansen, "Blue Eye Color In Humans May Be Caused By A Perfectly Associated Founder Mutation In A Regulatory Element Located Within The HERC2 Gene Inhibiting OCA2 Expression," *Human Genetics*, vol. 123, no. 2, pp. 177–187, 2008.

- [220] G. Griffiths, "What's Special About Secretory Lysosomes?" in Seminars in cell & developmental biology, vol. 13, no. 4. Elsevier, 2002, pp. 279–284.
- [221] G. Raposo, M. S. Marks, and D. F. Cutler, "Lysosome-related Organelles: Driving post-Golgi Compartments Into Specialisation," *Current Opinion In Cell Biology*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 394–401, 2007.
- [222] G. Raposo and M. S. Marks, "Melanosomes—dark Organelles Enlighten Endosomal Membrane Transport," *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. 786–797, 2007.
- [223] N. W. Bellono, I. E. Escobar, A. J. Lefkovith, M. S. Marks, and E. Oancea, "An Intracellular Anion Channel Critical For Pigmentation," *Elife*, vol. 3, p. e04543, 2014.
- [224] J. M. Gardner, Y. Nakatsu, Y. Gondo, S. Lee, M. F. Lyon, R. A. King, and M. H. Brilliant, "The Mouse Pink-Eyed Dilution Gene: Association With Human Prader-Willi And Angelman Syndromes," *Science*, vol. 257, no. 5073, pp. 1121–1124, 1992.
- [225] A. Sitaram, R. Piccirillo, I. Palmisano, D. C. Harper, E. C. Dell'Angelica, M. V. Schiaffino, and M. S. Marks, "Localization To Mature Melanosomes By Virtue Of Cytoplasmic Dileucine Motifs Is Required For Human OCA2 Function," *Molecular Biology Of The Cell*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1464–1477, 2009.
- [226] Y. Kochnev, E. Hellemann, K. C. Cassidy, and J. D. Durrant, "Webina: An Open-Source Library And Web App That Runs AutoDock Vina Entirely In The Web Browser," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 36, no. 16, pp. 4513–4515, 2020.
- [227] O. Trott and A. J. Olson, "AutoDock Vina: Improving The Speed And Accuracy Of Docking With A New Scoring Function, Efficient Optimization, And Multithreading," *Journal Of Computational Chemistry*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 455–461, 2010.

- [228] L. C. Xue, J. P. Rodrigues, P. L. Kastritis, A. M. Bonvin, and A. Vangone,
   "PRODIGY: A Web Server For Predicting The Binding Affinity Of Protein–Protein Complexes," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 32, no. 23, pp. 3676–3678, 2016.
- [229] B. P. Rosen, "Families Of Arsenic Transporters," *Trends In Microbiology*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 207–212, 1999.
- [230] S. Dey and B. P. Rosen, "Dual Mode Of Energy Coupling By The Oxyanion-Translocating ArsB Protein," *Journal Of Bacteriology*, vol. 177, no. 2, pp. 385–389, 1995.
- [231] G. Ji and S. Silver, "Regulation And Expression Of The Arsenic Resistance Operon From Staphylococcus Aureus Plasmid pI258," *Journal Of Bacteriology*, vol. 174, no. 11, pp. 3684–3694, 1992.
- [232] D. B. Sauer, N. Trebesch, J. J. Marden, N. Cocco, J. Song, A. Koide, S. Koide,
   E. Tajkhorshid, and D.-N. Wang, "Structural Basis For The Reaction Cycle Of
   DASS Dicarboxylate Transporters," *Elife*, vol. 9, p. e61350, 2020.
- [233] M. A. Hediger, M. F. Romero, J.-B. Peng, A. Rolfs, H. Takanaga, and E. A. Bruford, "The ABCs Of Solute Carriers: Physiological, Pathological And Therapeutic Implications Of Human Membrane Transport Proteins," *Pflügers Archiv*, vol. 447, no. 5, pp. 465–468, 2004.
- [234] E. Perland and R. Fredriksson, "Classification Systems Of Secondary Active Transporters," *Trends In Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 305–315, 2017.
- [235] P. J. Höglund, K. J. Nordström, H. B. Schiöth, and R. Fredriksson, "The Solute Carrier Families Have A Remarkably Long Evolutionary History With The Majority Of The Human Families Present Before Divergence Of Bilaterian Species," *Molecular Biology And Evolution*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 1531–1541, 2011.

- [236] D. B. Sauer, J. Song, B. Wang, J. K. Hilton, N. K. Karpowich, J. A. Mindell, W. J. Rice, and D.-N. Wang, "Structure And Inhibition Mechanism Of The Human Citrate Transporter NaCT," *Nature*, vol. 591, no. 7848, pp. 157–161, 2021.
- [237] D. Drew and O. Boudker, "Shared Molecular Mechanisms Of Membrane Transporters," Annual Review Of Biochemistry, vol. 85, pp. 543–572, 2016.
- [238] K. M. Ruff and R. V. Pappu, "AlphaFold And Implications For Intrinsically Disordered Proteins," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 433, no. 20, p. 167208, 2021.
- [239] A.-M. Schönegge, E. Villa, F. Förster, R. Hegerl, J. Peters, W. Baumeister, and
   B. Rockel, "The Structure Of Human Tripeptidyl Peptidase II As Determined
   By A Hybrid Approach," *Structure*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 593–603, 2012.
- [240] M. Nagae, T. Hirata, K. Morita-Matsumoto, R. Theiler, M. Fujita, T. Kinoshita, and Y. Yamaguchi, "3D Structure And Interaction Of P24 And P24∆ Golgi Dynamics Domains: Implication For P24 Complex Formation And Cargo Transport," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 428, no. 20, pp. 4087–4099, 2016.
- [241] N. Pastor-Cantizano, M. J. García-Murria, C. Bernat-Silvestre, M. J. Marcote,
   I. Mingarro, and F. Aniento, "N-linked Glycosylation Of The P24 Family
   Protein P24Δ5 Modulates Retrograde Golgi-to-ER Transport Of K/HDEL
   Ligands In Arabidopsis," *Molecular Plant*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 1095–1106, 2017.
- [242] L. Passmore, B. Kaesmann-Kellner, and B. Weber, "Novel And Recurrent Mutations In The Tyrosinase Gene And The P Gene In The German Albino Population," *Human Genetics*, vol. 105, no. 3, pp. 200–210, 1999.
- [243] R. A. King, R. K. Willaert, R. M. Schmidt, J. Pietsch, S. Savage, M. J. Brott, J. P. Fryer, C. G. Summers, and W. S. Oetting, "MC1R Mutations Modify The Classic Phenotype Of Oculocutaneous Albinism Type 2 (OCA2)," *The American Journal Of Human Genetics*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 638–645, 2003.

- [244] D. R. Simeonov, X. Wang, C. Wang, Y. Sergeev, M. Dolinska, M. Bower,
  R. Fischer, D. Winer, G. Dubrovsky, J. Z. Balog *et al.*, "DNA Variations In
  Oculocutaneous Albinism: An Updated Mutation List And Current
  Outstanding Issues In Molecular Diagnostics," *Human Mutation*, vol. 34, no. 6,
  pp. 827–835, 2013.
- [245] M. Bergeron, B. Clemençon, M. Hediger, and D. Markovich, "SLC13 Family Of Na+-coupled Di-And Tri-Carboxylate/Sulfate Transporters," *Molecular Aspects Of Medicine*, vol. 34, no. 2-3, pp. 299–312, 2013.
- [246] D. Markovich and H. Murer, "The SLC13 Gene Family Of Sodium Sulphate/Carboxylate Cotransporters," *Pflügers Archiv*, vol. 447, no. 5, pp. 594–602, 2004.
- [247] A. M. Pajor, "Sodium-coupled Dicarboxylate And Citrate Transporters From The SLC13 Family," *Pflügers Archiv-European Journal Of Physiology*, vol. 466, no. 1, pp. 119–130, 2014.
- [248] S. Prakash, G. Cooper, S. Singhi, and M. H. Saier Jr, "The Ion Transporter Superfamily," *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, vol. 1618, no. 1, pp. 79–92, 2003.
- [249] K. M. Pos, P. Dimroth, and M. Bott, "The Escherichia Coli Citrate Carrier CitT: A Member Of A Novel Eubacterial Transporter Family Related To The 2-Oxoglutarate/Malate Translocator From Spinach Chloroplasts," *Journal Of Bacteriology*, vol. 180, no. 16, pp. 4160–4165, 1998.
- [250] J. S. Lolkema and D.-J. Slotboom, "Hydropathy Profile Alignment: A Tool To Search For Structural Homologues Of Membrane Proteins," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 305–322, 1998.
- [251] S. Zhou and K. Sakamoto, "Citric Acid Promoted Melanin Synthesis In B16F10 Mouse Melanoma Cells, But Inhibited It In Human Epidermal Melanocytes

And HMV-II Melanoma Cells Via The GSK3 $\beta$ / $\beta$ -catenin Signaling Pathway," *PloS One*, vol. 15, no. 12, p. e0243565, 2020.

- [252] A. A. Garaeva and D. J. Slotboom, "Elevator-type Mechanisms Of Membrane Transport," *Biochemical Society Transactions*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 1227–1241, 2020.
- [253] J. A. Hall and A. M. Pajor, "Functional Characterization Of A Na+-coupled Dicarboxylate Carrier Protein From Staphylococcus Aureus," *Journal Of Bacteriology*, vol. 187, no. 15, pp. 5189–5194, 2005.
- [254] C. Mulligan, G. A. Fitzgerald, D.-N. Wang, and J. A. Mindell, "Functional Characterization Of A Na+-dependent Dicarboxylate Transporter From Vibrio Cholerae," *Journal Of General Physiology*, vol. 143, no. 6, pp. 745–759, 2014.
- [255] A. M. Pajor, N. N. Sun, and A. Leung, "Functional Characterization Of SdcF From Bacillus Licheniformis, A Homolog Of The SLC13 Na+/dicarboxylate Transporters," *The Journal Of Membrane Biology*, vol. 246, no. 9, pp. 705–715, 2013.
- [256] S. Wright, B. Hirayama, J. Kaunitz, I. Kippen, and E. Wright, "Kinetics Of Sodium Succinate Cotransport Across Renal Brush-Border Membranes." *Journal Of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 258, no. 9, pp. 5456–5462, 1983.
- [257] X. Yao and A. M. Pajor, "The Transport Properties Of The Human Renal Na+-dicarboxylate Cotransporter Under Voltage-Clamp Conditions," American Journal Of Physiology-Renal Physiology, vol. 279, no. 1, pp. F54–F64, 2000.
- [258] D. Del Alamo, D. Sala, H. S. Mchaourab, and J. Meiler, "Sampling Alternative Conformational States Of Transporters And Receptors With AlphaFold2," *Elife*, vol. 11, p. e75751, 2022.
- [259] R. Nie, S. Stark, J. Symersky, R. S. Kaplan, and M. Lu, "Structure And Function Of The Divalent anion/Na+ Symporter From Vibrio Cholerae And A Humanized Variant," *Nature Communications*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2017.

- [260] E. Krissinel and K. Henrick, "Inference Of Macromolecular Assemblies From Crystalline State," *Journal Of Molecular Biology*, vol. 372, no. 3, pp. 774–797, 2007.
- [261] D. Yu, G. Chojnowski, M. Rosenthal, and J. Kosinski, "AlphaPulldown—a Python Package For Protein–Protein Interaction Screens Using AlphaFold-Multimer," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 39, no. 1, p. btac749, 2023.
- [262] J. Kandel, H. Tayara, and K. T. Chong, "PUResNet: Prediction Of Protein-Ligand Binding Sites Using Deep Residual Neural Network," *Journal Of Cheminformatics*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2021.
- [263] M. A. Andrade, C. Perez-Iratxeta, and C. P. Ponting, "Protein Repeats: Structures, Functions, And Evolution," *Journal Of Structural Biology*, vol. 134, no. 2-3, pp. 117–131, 2001.
- [264] J. Heringa, "Detection Of Internal Repeats: How Common Are They?" Current Opinion In Structural Biology, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 338–345, 1998.
- [265] F. Pâques, W.-Y. Leung, and J. E. Haber, "Expansions And Contractions In A Tandem Repeat Induced By Double-Strand Break Repair," *Molecular And Cellular Biology*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 2045–2054, 1998.
- [266] P. Tompa, "Intrinsically Unstructured Proteins Evolve By Repeat Expansion," *Bioessays*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 847–855, 2003.
- [267] A. V. Kajava and A. C. Steven, "-Rolls, -Helices, And Other -Solenoid Proteins," *Advances In Protein Chemistry*, vol. 73, pp. 55–96, 2006.
- [268] T. Di Domenico, E. Potenza, I. Walsh, R. Gonzalo Parra, M. Giollo,
  G. Minervini, D. Piovesan, A. Ihsan, C. Ferrari, A. V. Kajava *et al.*, "RepeatsDB:
  A Database Of Tandem Repeat Protein Structures," *Nucleic Acids Research*,
  vol. 42, no. D1, pp. D352–D357, 2014.
- [269] J. S. Dixon, "Evaluation Of The CASP2 Docking Section," Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics, vol. 29, no. S1, pp. 198–204, 1997.

- [270] B. Monastyrskyy, D. D'Andrea, K. Fidelis, A. Tramontano, and
   A. Kryshtafovych, "New Encouraging Developments In Contact Prediction: Assessment Of The CASP 11 Results," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 84, pp. 131–144, 2016.
- [271] J. Cheng, M.-H. Choe, A. Elofsson, K.-S. Han, J. Hou, A. H. Maghrabi, L. J. McGuffin, D. Menéndez-Hurtado, K. Olechnovič, T. Schwede *et al.*, "Estimation Of Model Accuracy In CASP13," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 87, no. 12, pp. 1361–1377, 2019.
- [272] A. W. Senior, R. Evans, J. Jumper, J. Kirkpatrick, L. Sifre, T. Green, C. Qin,
   A. Žídek, A. W. Nelson, A. Bridgland *et al.*, "Protein Structure Prediction Using Multiple Deep Neural Networks In The 13Th Critical Assessment Of Protein Structure Prediction (CASP13)," *Proteins: Structure, Function, And Bioinformatics*, vol. 87, no. 12, pp. 1141–1148, 2019.
- [273] V. Tiwari, P. R. Panta, C. E. Billiot, M. V. Douglass, C. M. Herrera, M. S. Trent, and W. T. Doerrler, "A Klebsiella Pneumoniae DedA Family Membrane Protein Is Required For Colistin Resistance And For Virulence In Wax Moth Larvae," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–13, 2021.
- [274] A. Chen, W.-X. Ding, and H.-M. Ni, "Scramblases As Regulators Of Autophagy And Lipid Homeostasis: Implications For NAFLD," *Autophagy Reports*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 143–160, 2022.
- [275] Y. Hama, H. Morishita, and N. Mizushima, "Regulation Of ER-derived Membrane Dynamics By The DedA Domain-Containing Proteins VMP1 And TMEM41B," EMBO Reports, vol. 23, no. 2, p. e53894, 2022.